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PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

ADTRAN, Inc. designs, manufactures, markets andises network access solutions for communicatiate/arks. Our solutions a
widely deployed by providers of communications g=s (serviced by our Carrier Networks Divisionjydasmall and midized
enterprises (SMEs) (serviced by our Enterprise Mete/Division), and enable voice, data, video awmdrhet communications acrc
wireline and wireless networks. Many of these sohg are currently in use by every major Unitedt&aand many global servi
providers, as well as by many public, private andegnmental organizations worldwide.

We were incorporated under the laws of DelawareNovember 1985, and commenced operations in Jari®®s§. We ar
headquartered in Cummings Research Park in HulgsWlabama. The mailing address at our headqualieero01 Explore
Boulevard, Huntsville, Alabama, 35806. The teleghaomber at that location is (256) 963-8000.

Products and Service

We maintain two operating divisions based on owdpct and service offerings: the Carrier Networkgidlon and the Enterpris
Networks Division. These divisions serve two distimarkets and support sales globally, operatingvasreportable segments.
2010, sales of Carrier Networks products accourited78.6% of total revenue, while sales of EntegriNetworks produc
accounted for 21.4%. Sales to countries outsidthefUnited States are included in these aggregaisiahal figures, but whe
accounted for separately, comprise 5.3% of totadmae. For more financial information about thesgstbns and geographic arei
see Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statemeciisded in this report.

Our Carrier Networks Division provides products amavices used by service providers to deliverejoétata and video services
their customerspremises and to mobile network cell sites. Thesduymts are located in central exchange officegmote terminals
serving area interconnect locations and cell sitations for mobile networks. Our Enterprise Netwgobivision provides produc
and services used by enterprise customers to cehswice, data and video networks within the comds site or among distribute
sites. Our combined product portfolio for both diehs consists of approximately 1,800 higpgeed network access &
communication devices. Our products typically carirtero ends of a circuit and serve to transmittep@and/or switch the dai
voice, and/or video traffic traveling across thatuit. The bandwidth requirements of the circaipng with the type of technolog
being used, determine the type of equipment needed.

Both of our divisions are positioned with productdaservice offerings that compete in many segmaeitsthe globa
telecommunications industry and, specifically,hie ireas of Ethernet and Internet Protocol (IP¢dastworks. As networks migre
to IP-based architectures to deliver and utilizghbr bandwidth services, ADTRARas strengthened its technologies in its prin
growth areas: Broadband Access, Optical Accesdraathetworking.

For a discussion of risks associated with our praduseeRisk Factors —We must continue to update and improve our proc
and develop new products in order to compete anketp pace with improvements in telecommunicatiecisnology”, and ‘Risk
Factors— If our products do not interoperate with our @mters’networks, installations may be delayed or cancelgich coulc
harm our business”, in Item 1A of this report.

Network Access Infrastructure for Advanced Servic

Networks are continuing to undergo a fundamentil 8bm circuit-based technologies to packetsed technologies, and conver
networks are being implemented to address voideovand data requirements in an effort to become @ificient. When voice we
the dominant type of traffic in the network, net®rwere engineered to carry voice, integrating data the architecture ¢
necessary. Today, data is the dominant traffic ,tymel networks are evolving to increase bandwidith eansport data, voice a
video in an integrated architecture. As networkgrate toward integrated communications and entertant services, servis
providers and businesses alike are transitionied tetworks to packdiased technologies, such as Ethernet and IP. Wevelh
positioned to support both existing services andeneadvanced services in the all integrated woklEtbernet and IP.

We develop, market, and support higpeed network access solutions for use acrossd¥ichronous Transfer Mode (ATM), a
Time Division Multiplexed (TDM) architectures in tiowireline and wireless network applications. ®alutions, including service
and support, are used to deploy new broadband nietwand to upgrade slower, established networksgusopper, fiber, an
wireless technologies both in the United Statesabrdad.
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Our three major product categories are Carrieredyst Business Networking and Loop Access.

Carrier Systems products are used by communications service prowitte provide last mile access in support of datdce an
video services to consumers and enterprises. Th&e€8ystems category includes our broadband aquesiucts comprised of Ta
Access® 5000 multi-service access and aggregation platioroaducts, Total Access 1100/1200 Series Fiber-TeNbde (FTTN
products, and Digital Subscriber Line Access Midtqer (DSLAM) products. Our broadband access prtedace used by servi
providers to deliver higlspeed Internet access, Voice over Internet ProtamlP), IP Television (IPTV), and/or Ethernet segt
from the central office or remote terminal locasoio customer premises. The Carrier Systems cateso includes our optic
access products. These products consist of opticed¢ss multiplexers including our family of OPTlogucts and our Optic
Networking Edge (ONE) products. Optical access petsl are used to deliver higher bandwidth servioesto aggregate lar
numbers of low bandwidth services for transportatiaross fiber optic infrastructure. Total Acce58Q products, 303 concentre
products, M13 multiplexer products, and a humbemabile backhaul products are also included in Glagrier Systems prodt
category.

Business Networkingproducts provide access to telecommunication sesyitacilitating the delivery of converged servicex
Unified Communications to the SME market. The Bass1Networking category includes Internetworkingdoicts and Integrat
Access Device (IAD) products. Internetworking protiuconsist of our Total Access IP Business Gatew&ptical Networ
Terminals (ONTs), and NetVanta product lines. Nedaproducts include multervice routers, managed Ethernet switche
Private Branch Exchange (PBX) products, IP phonedyets, Unified Communications solutions, Unifiethrdat Manageme
(UTM) solutions and Carrier Ethernet Network Terating Equipment (NTE).

Loop Accessproducts are used by carrier and enterprise custofoe access to coppbased telecommunications networks.
Loop Access category includes products such adtaDiata Service (DDS) and Integrated ServicestBligNetwork (Total Reacl
products, High bit-rate Digital Subscriber Line (BD) products including Total Access 3000 HDSL amhd Division Multiplexed-
Symmetrical HDSL (TDMSHDSL) products, T1/E1/T3, Channel Service Unit$éDService Units, and TRACER fixed wirel
products.

In addition, we identify sulsategories of product revenues, which we divide growth products, representing our primary gre
areas, and traditional products. Our growth praglecinsist of Broadband Access and Optical Accesdugats (included in Carri
Systems) and Internetworking products (includedirsiness Networking) and our traditional produetsiide HDSL produc
(included in Loop Access) and other products nduited in the aforementioned growth products.

Carrier Networks

Carrier services continue to evolve to next geiamatetworks, and carrier service providers areegeting additional revenue
connecting greater numbers of customers to th&wstructure by offering broadband digital servid@sir Carrier Networks Divisic
supplies the network access products, servicessapgort that these service providers require tmeontheir customers to ct
transmission and switching networks. Specificalig, deliver fiber and coppdrased solutions that enable these types of sendne
customer base includes all of the Major Servicevidars (which includes United States Incumbent L&eachange Carriers (ILEC:
Competitive Local Exchange Carriers (CLECs), anBl€&SOs), many independent operating companidhtie#t, Municipalities
major international carriers and wireless servicevigers. We have focused on opportunities in Ndktherica, with increasir
emphasis on expanding into the Asia-Pacific regiterjbbean, Latin America, Europe, the Middle East Africa.

Services enabled using our systems include traditivoice services, VolP, IPTV, RF Video, higheed Internet access and !
services based upon Ethernet, frame relay, TDM. A8 networks, connecting the network with user gaments such as switch
routers, gateways, IADs, PBXs, and telephone kejesys. ADTRAN devices, deployed at the business aie enabling carriers
provide Ethernet services to SMEs and distribute@rerises. Our solutions provide a complete eréntb solution for carriers |
supporting both new fibdrased infrastructure and also allowing them to eeheir existing copper infrastructure, loweringit
overall costs to deploy advanced Ethernet sent@&MES and distributed enterprises.

Service Provider Network

Telecommunications networks are transitioning froaditional TDM and circuit-switched technology B and Ethernebase:
packet networks that offer services such as bgged Internet access, VolP, and IPTV. We desidptians that allow servic
providers to leverage existing network assets,rbyiding a migration path to new broadband techgigle and services.

Continued competition from cable and wireless ptews is forcing traditional wireline service proeid to react with pric
incentives, service bundling, and network investthend modifications. ADTRAN products, services augport enable wirelir
providers to offer higher Internet access speedsedisas VolP and IPTV. Our mulservice access and aggregation platform
used to provide multsigabit Ethernet capability, increasing rates witlihe access network. Our optical technologies le
subscriber access solutions for Fiber-To-Hremises and FTTN architectures. To offer higheredpDSL services in support
delivering Internet access and IPTV, carriers ahoftening” copper loop lengths in order to increase bandwatid gain
competitive advantage. Our mu#tervice access and aggregation platform and théNFSEFies of outside plant DSLAM products
used to shorten copper loop lengths so that wigdnoviders can deliver higher-speed network sesvic
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Our products marketed under the Total Accbsand fit the decentralized networking model thafstcarriers are using today b
in the United States and abroad. Currently, theedyzts comprise the flagship product line for @exrier Networks Division ar
offer service providers a single platform that eatommodate demand for a variety of hggleed Internet, voice, data and vi
services from businesses and residential custobese modular, scalable, and geographically digied products offer advanta
such as lower start-up costs, more flexible serdegloyment, greater network interface optionstdased bandwidth, grow-as-you-
go modularity, and centralized network managem@nt. provide Total Access products that connect berfioptic and copp
network backbones, making them suitable for instialh in many parts of the network and enablingl@gpent of a wide range
voice, video and data services around the worl@. Tdtal Acces® products and other ADTRAN products are acceptethbyJSD#
Rural Utilities Service (RUS) as suitable for useRUS{inanced telecommunications systems. Deployed nirakoffices, remot
terminals, or multi-tenant units, the system encassps carrier-class solutions for fiber and coppeadband multservice acces
DSL access, Carrier Ethernet access, and narrowbatidservice access.

Advanced IP Service

For wireline service providers, our broadband asqeeducts provide the ability to increase bandwigid improve the quality
services to customers. These products are useighrdbnsity central office applications, along with Emdensity applications tt
include remote terminals and outside plant deploymeAlso, these products are available in modes are temperature harde
for use in harsh, outsidgant environments and provide support for Ethedaditzery of advanced IP services over fiber orpmpa:
well as legacy TDM and ATM networks.

High-speed Residential Services

Designed with fiber deployment in mind, the ADTRAMNtal Access 5000 provides high-capacity switchang bandwidth for ultra-
broadband services. Optical Line Terminals (OLTe)vjle either a full 2.5 Gbps of dedicated bandwiger Passive Optic
Network (PON) or up to 1 Gbps per end user, engbtime delivery of advanced solutions like IPTV &waan a-Etherne
architecture. ADTRANS Total Access 300 series family of Optical Netwdrrminals (ONTs) provides carriers with differ
delivery options for residential, business and reolbackhaul opportunities. The Total Access 500@rsfthe industrys mos
comprehensive set of broadband solutions from lalBthernet platform.

Our leading Total Acces® DSLAMS allow service providers to realize ulttesadband speeds over their existing co
infrastructure, economically securing the broadbemanection to the home and enabling the delivérgdvanced communicatic
and entertainment services. Capabilities like Meigh-datarate Digital Subscriber Line (VDSL2) and other teclogy
enhancements that are actively being developedhelfp Service Providers overcome the challengesofgutheir existing copp
facilities to compete with service offerings of MI® and higher without the need to invest in or ceene the obstacles associ:
with Fiber-to-the Premises (FTTP) architectures.

The Total Acces® 1100 Series broadband access products providenawdtive approach to the successful deploymentTafiN
architectures. Recognizing the technological andnemic barriers of traditional cabink&sed DSL deployments, ADTR/
designed this product series to eliminate the rfeedexpensive cabinet enclosures, heat exchangetssige construction, whi
account for a large portion of the total cost opldgment. In many cases, Total Acc&s$100 Series DSLAMs can deliver FTTN-
based services for significantly less than tradalocabinethased systems. This allows carriers to more ecardlyiutilize the
capacity of the existing copper network over the taile.

Metro Ethernet Service

Metro Ethernet is growing with the proliferation phcketbased infrastructure in both enterprise and camietworks. Th

implementation of Ethernet throughout the commuivos network provides benefits in equipment andraponal savings. Gigal

speeds are increasingly becoming available throwghtite access network, but they are far from beindespread. Ethernet’
increasing presence throughout the network is mgiviosts down, further increasing availability tsimess customers. We prov

Metro Ethernet Forum (MEF) compliant products ta@éble the delivery of these services.

ADTRAN has a complete portfolio of solutions for r@ar Ethernet services utilizing Fiber (EoF), CepdEoCu) and TDI
(EoTDM). These solutions enable cestective business Ethernet service delivery acalsginds of network infrastructure. T
ADTRAN Total Access 5000 supports standabdsed copper pair bonding of XxXDSL loops for dirEtternet service delivel
Leveraging a complete end-émd solution with the NetVanta 800 and NetVantaO88eries of network termination equipment,
Total Access 5000 also offers an innovative apgrdaadelivering Ethernet services by aggregatingdeal copper, bonded circu
and fiber while supporting multregabit rates for MEF certified carrier Ethernaftceits. This combination allows carriers
ubiquitously offer Ethernet services across th@emetwork, enabling new revenue-generating sesvior businesses.
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Optical Access

Optical Networking Edge (ONE) has been added toppaduct portfolio to enable high performance agtiservices at the edge
the network. The ADTRAN ONE solutions combine rigtited core optical services like Wave Division Nplexing (WDM),
Scalable Carrier Ethernet, Optical Transport N&@&N), and SONET/SDH with high-speed access serviceer the Total Acce$s
5000 multi-service access and aggregation platform.

Our OPTI ® product family includes a multi-service provisiogimplatform, the OPTI-610® , delivering highspeed Ethern
(addressing DS1/E1, DS3/E3, OC-3/STM-1, OC-12/STND€-48, and 10/100/21000Mb) connectivity and transportdllular site
using a variety of fiber optic ring architectur€ur OPTI-3® fiber multiplexer provides OG-capacity in terminal mode and C
range extension applications. The OPTI-6®0@X (medium) chassis consolidates discrete optical multiplexer network elemel
into one, small chassis that addresses DS1/E1, H3$3BTS-1, OC-3/STM- bandwidths, and Ethernet services delivery tc
subscriber. Our OPTI-6108 LMX (large) chassis provides higiensity termination options and utilizes many comnmeodule
from the other OPT® chassis. The OPTI-6100SMX (small) chassis provides a very compact chédssi®ow-density application
with a variety of mounting options to meet uniqustomer requirements. Our solutions provide fofaaptransport in very compe
enclosures for cell site traffic backhaul and featsingle fiber operation for maximum facility igétion and integration with tl
ADTRAN Total Access® family of products and associated multiplexers.

All of these products enable wireless and wirelgggvice providers to more efficiently handle netkaraffic by consolidatin
multiple circuits into a single facility, to upgradheir networks to support negéneration services, and to improve back
efficiency. These devices provide a migration ptim TDM systems to Ethernet/IP networks and algppsrt techniques f
‘bonding’ multiple physical circuits into a singlértual circuit.

Busines-class Services

HDSL is a common technique for delivering bandwidthrates of 1.544 Mbps (known as the DS1 or T&)r&dr infrastructur
support, business customer services, and wirelessork mobile backhaul services. The T1 interfaseuniversally accept
throughout the United States, and HDSL is the neostmon method of delivering the T1 interface inrheavery applicatior
ADTRAN HDSL products are manufactured in a varietyconfigurations for use in every major DS1 deph@nt platform for voic
and data services.

SHDSL products were developed to provide symmadtiscdutions for the transport of high-speed busirgass services. Tl
International Telecommunications Union (ITU), Alliee for Telecommunications Industry Solutions (AT18nd the Europe:
Telecommunications Standards Institute (ETSI) restablished standards for 2-wire and 4-wire SHD&ut®nNs.

We contributed significantly to ITU, ATIS, and ETSHDSL standards. Because of this involvement, @liwered the industrg first
SHDSL customer device. Our SHDSL products, like ynahour products, are standardased, which ensures interoperability \
other standards-based products.

Service and Suppoil

In addition to our product portfolio and standarce-pand possales technical support, the CN division offers aiety o
“professional servicesto provide customers with deployment, maintenamzk rmanagement services. Deployment service offg
include engineering, installation, configuratioarrt-up and test, training, and project managemenvices, as well as pressemble
and wired rack and cabinet assemblies. Maintens@céces are designed to protect custommeesiorks from unnecessary downti
such as managed spares, extended warranty, anteremansite technical support beyond standard warrantg@me. Manageme
services facilitate remote management and mongasfrthe service providers’ networks.

Network Managemen

As communications solutions and networks becomezresomplex, the need for carrielass management systems becomes vi
ensure operational efficiencies. A system levelwis necessary and service awareness is incregdimgbrtant. We develop a
support systems to centralize the configuratiooyigioning, and management of our network accesdumts. These systems
used to configure, monitor, and control ADTRAN qmuent installed in the network. The systems ensoremunication with tr
service provider’s central management system toaetechnician dispatches and operating costs.

We have added the Advanced Operational Environ#dDE) set of products to provide integrated encka-service aware netwi
management tools that enhance network planningicgseactivation, service assurance, and decisippat tools for our customers’
operations. Our Total Acce$sElement Management System is anJaia application that provides configuration, perfance
network assurance, and provisioning functions fBITRAN Total Acces® products.
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Enterprise Networks

Our Enterprise Networks Division encompasses a cehgmsive internetworking solutions portfolio thlativers converged servic
Unified Communications (UC) and Unified Threat Mgament (UTM) to the SME market. Small and mediunsitesses at
geographically dispersed enterprises use theseigpiotbr their voice and data service requiremedts. carrier customers bundle
solutions into their service offerings for their EMustomers. These products are typically instalegquipment rooms and wiri
closets, to connect headquarters, branch officebtelecommuters to the corporate voice and dditasitnucture. A small to meditc
business generally refers to an organization wiveir than 500 employees. These organizations caa bimgle location ¢
geographically dispersed with many locations, idiolg home offices. These businesses and serviceiders use ot
internetworking products to implement a high parfance, reliable network for converged services fieshiCommunications ai
Unified Threat Management.

Marketed under the brand names Total Ac&asd NetVant#® , our solutions are known for their high performanediability anc
high availability making them the preferred solasofor the delivery of converged IP services. TmeeEprise Network solutiol
portfolio provides the infrastructure required 6ME to utilize converged IP services, Unified @aumications and Unified Thre
Management. The solutions portfolio includes msétivice routers, managed Layer 2/3 switches, IHnBas Gateways (IPBG
FTTx ONTSs, Wireless Access Points (WAPs), IP PBIRsphones, UC and security solutions. Our solutemable the SME end u:
to migrate their existing infrastructure — thusgmering their investment; or to replace their lggsgstem with an IBased solutior

We view the development and continued evolutionwfoperating system as critical to our succe$singing to market featurgeh,
highly reliable, highperformance solutions. As such, the ADTRAN OperaBystem (AOS) is common across our internetwol
products, optimizing our product development resesiand minimizing time to market for new produwid features. It also ensu
common configuration practices, policies, protattichemes, and management interfaces for our caustomers providing a To
Cost of Ownership (TCO) advantage.

Our solutions and roadmaps are closely aligned aithcustomersstrategic service offerings. Our solutions enableaustomers i
offer high-performance, feature&sh managed and unmanaged converged IP servigds, (doice, unified communications i
security features) to the SME. Our solutions o#fevide variety of LAN and WAN connectivity optiomanging from analog to fibe
supporting different geographic locations in theirterprise and wide area networks, as well as lacah networks requiril
switching, routing and voice capabilities. Manytlbé products available from the Enterprise Netwdkssion reach the SME el
user through their service provider as these pitsdare typically installed by the service providéthe customer premises as pa
a bundled service package.

Data Solutions

ADTRAN multi-service routers move data between networked comgpater public or private IP, Frame Relay, Multiteenl Labe
Switching leased-line infrastructures or carsepplied Ethernet services. These devices incledéufes to route traffic betwe
multiple destinations, secure the network agaigbec attacks, ensure the privacy of data as itaissported across the Internet,
restore communications in the event of equipmenmeaiwork failure. ADTRAN multiservice routers provide Internet access
interconnect corporate locations and when deplogdtie workgroup environment with our managed La¥emd Layer 3 (L2/L:
Ethernet switches provide connectivity from the W#iNthe end user’s desktop computer and IP Phob&RAN’s managed L2/L
switches range in speeds up to multi-Gigabit actigle Power over Ethernet (PoE) options.

Our NetVanta multi-service router products incluz#h modular and fixedenfiguration solutions. The NetVanta router pditf
offers a wide assortment of businetass features including: Quality of Service (QoBirewall, VPN, Network Performan
Monitoring, Cable Diagnostics and Voice Quality Moning (VQM). These features enable carriers tieothe highest quality -
service with a TCO advantage.

The ADTRAN NetVanta portfolio also includes wiresesolutions for the SME market. With 802.11WiFi ahflities, the NetVan
1335 multiservice access router with integrated WiFi and Metd 150 wireless access device address the imgedamands f
wireless solutions, allowing businesses to stra@néind improve operational efficiencies, expandarusr service offerings, a
increase flexibility for employees.

The NetVanta router portfolio supports 3G data ises; The NetVanta 3G Network Interface Module (NiNovides a wirele:
WAN capability for our NetVanta line of multi-sepg routers and provides a rapid, secure andeaf@ettive connectivity optic
when used in conjunction with one of our modulantess. A 3G data service allows customers to takeamtage of flexibl
deployment options at broadband speeds from aespigtform. The solution is ideal for a number pplications including use a:
primary data service and/or a network failover optior SMEs.




Table of Contents

Voice Solutions

The network infrastructure for voice services,énant years, has undergone a rapid evolution t&-#ased infrastructure, includi
the accelerated adoption of SIP trunking. SIP tinmls a packebased service that dynamically consolidates altes@ind data traff
over a single IP circuit and enables the SIP SerRimvider to carry local, domestic and internatldang distance, and toll free ca
in addition to video, email, Internet, and othetadaAs a result, VoIP as a part of a convergedisesvoffering, represents
important revenue opportunity for service providemseking to add new features, such as cloud apiplsa and unifie
communications in order to retain and expand thebscriber base. ADTRAN Total Access and NetVaRtdBusiness Gatews
(IPBGs) support this strategic direction, and apldyed by the service provider at the demarcatimint on the customer premis
An ADTRAN IPBG combines the functionality of a veigateway with a mulervice router and security features. Our prot
offer a highly integrated, cost-effective platfofan delivering converged services to the SME cusiom

Our Enterprise Networks Division solutions are wvijdesgarded for their innovation, most notably ability to integrate th
functionality of multiple network elements into mgle platform. This “all-in-one’strategy for the delivery of converged voice
data services enables a service provider to offBM& customer converged services without the expenseplacing their curre
infrastructure, enabling the customer to migrata tdosted PBX service based on their timeline fieestment. Supporting a SME’
migration with a single platform provides the seevprovider with operational efficiencies, suchhasvork management, anda T
advantage.

The Enterprise Networks Division portfolio of voiggoducts provides an industlyading TCO advantage. Our voice prod
combine the highest level of feature integratiothwierformance and reliability. This level of pretlinnovation combined with o
industry-leading warranty and product support eesbihe service provider an extended life cycleofarplatforms in their customer’
network.

Unified Communications and IP Telephony

Unified Communications (UC) solutions were addeth® portfolio of ADTRAN Enterprise solutions in @3, with the acquisition «
Objectworld Communications Corporation, a Canadiased company. Marketed under the name NetVantafied
Communications, these solutions enable businesgls/#vto 2,000 employees to realize the benefitd ©. ADTRAN's NetVanti
UC products deliver end-terd unified communications that bridge the gap betwtelephony, desktop communications produc
and business processes. Referred to as Communig&tabled Business Processes (CEBP), ADTRAN NetVal@asolution:
enable businesses with Microsoft Windows platfotmgirive workforce productivity and improve custanservice. ADTRANS
awardwinning NetVanta UC Server enables CEBP while mimg simplicity and value to businesses that wanmake a smoo
transition from simple telephony to a unified commuations solution without sacrificing their PBXdMicrosoft business syste
investments. There are four platforms in the Net’diC solutions portfolio: NetVanta UC Server, NatWa Business Applicatir
Server, NetVanta Enterprise Communications Seara,NetVanta Business Communications System.

The addition of UC solutions is a logical extensadrour Enterprise portfolio enabling our custom@rsontinue to look to ADTRA
as a total solution provider. Additionally, NetVaniC solutions provide the flexibility to be custaed and optimized to address
uniqgue CEBP and customer service needs of a ranggrtical markets such as banking, hospitalityyeadion, healthcare, retail, ¢
real estate.

ADTRAN’s NetVanta 7000 Series is an innovative IP PBX tgmiuwith integration that results in a single bsexiution for sma
business communications needs. Scaling up to 185 uke NetVanta 7000 Series combines the featfras IP PBX with th
functionality of an Ethernet switch, a multi-seeiuter, security features and WAN connectivity.

At the end of 2010, ADTRAN expanded its solutiomtfmio further by entering the security market lvthe NetVanta 2000 Series
Unified Threat Management (UTM) security appliancésis UTM solution is a multiiered, security solution combining intrus
prevention, anti-virus and anti-spyware capabsitigith application intelligence and control. ADTRANUTM product famil
enables end-user customers to combine pigtiermance, internetworking solutions with UTM ¢oeate a solution from, a
supported by, a single vendor.

Configuration and Network Management

We develop and support network productivity toolsd asystems to centralize the configuration and meament of ot
internetworking products. These tools aid in thenaggement of networks powered by ADTRAN internetvimgkproducts ar
includes the nCommand MSP (Managed Service Prgvidanagement platform. nCommand MSP streamlines\ace providers
product life cycle management efforts including oten monitoring and management of ADTRAN NetVantaTatal Acces
solutions. A welbased platform, nCommand MSP simplifies new dedi&gloyment and enables Managed Service Providemace
providers and enterprise IT organizations to deliwe Service Level Agreements, improve customevisemresponse times, redi
network downtimes and proactively monitor and répetwork performance, all while reducing operadilocosts.
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Service and Suppoil

In addition to our product portfolio, we offer texbal support services to help ensure that we @spansive to our customers w
have deployed networking and infrastructure sohgiole provide pre- and postles technical support and a variety of trail
options. We offer installation and maintenance isess designed to protect customengtworks from unnecessary downtir
ADTRAN professional services, “ADTRAN Custom ExteadServices”pranded as ACES, guarantees priority access taitzd|
support engineers and on-site product replacemeat fourhour or next business day basis, depending oneivice plan selecte:
Our service and support offerings are availableustomers in both our Carrier Networks Division &rderprise Networks Division.

Customers

We have a diverse customer base, which we segnaseidbon the markets served, and typically withicheaf our two distinc
divisions.

Customers of ourCarrier Networks Division in the United States include Major Service Prowideindependent telepho
companies, competitive service providers, Intesaetice providers, Utilities, Municipalities, andreless service providers.

The Carrier Networks Division also serves incumhmamtiers and competitive service providers intéamally in various regions.

Major Service Providers and many smaller providergire product approval prior to adopting a vehsl@roducts for use in the
networks. We are involved in a constant processulfmitting new and succeeding generations of ptsdiar approval an
ADTRAN products are widely deployed in these sex\pcovider networks.

Customers of ouEnterprise Networks Division in the United States include Major Service Provddendependent telepho
companies and competitive service providers. Adddlly SME organizations purchase our solutionsubh a twotier distribution
channel. The two-tier distribution channel is coisgd of several large distributor partners andxarsive network of valuaddec
resellers (VARs) as described in “Distribution, &aland Marketing’below. Furthermore, ADTRAN Enterprise solutions
deployed internationally in various regions. Veatienarkets where our solutions are used includailygbod service, healthcar
finance, government, education, manufacturing,tamyi transportation, hospitality, and energy/tili

Single customers comprising more than 10% of owemae in 2010 include Qwest Communications Intéonat, Inc. at 20%
AT&T Inc. at 18%, and Verizon Communications, Iat.11%. The revenues from all of these customerseported in both tt
Carrier Networks and Enterprise Networks segmésother customer accounted for 10% or more ofsales in 2010.

For a discussion of risks associated with customsesvice providers and approval processes, “Risk Factors —The lengthy
approval process required by major and other senpcoviders for new products could result in flittans in our revenue”, Risk
Factors — We depend heavily on sales to certain customess;ldhs of any of these customers would signifigargtiuce ou
revenues and net income”, and “Risk FactorsGensolidation and deterioration in the competitaervice provider market cou
result in a significant decrease in our revenuet liem 1A of this report.

Distribution, Sales and Marketing

We sell ourCarrier Networks products in the United States through a combinatioa direct sales organization and a distribu
network. Our direct sales organization supportsomagcounts and has offices located throughoutUhiged States. Sales to mi
competitive service providers and independent telap companies are fulfilled through a combinatdrdirect sales and maj
technology distribution companies such as KGP Lltags Inc., Walker and Associates, Inc., and Po&efelephone Suppl
Company.

Prior to placing any orders, service providers meglengthy product qualification and standardizatprocesses that can extend
several months or years. Orders, if any, are tylpigdaced under single or mulyjiear supply agreements that are generally
subject to minimum volume commitments. Service fers generally prefer having two or more suppliersmost products,
individual orders are usually subject to competitizased on some combination of total value, senpcee, delivery, and othi
terms.

The majority of Enterprise Networks products are sold in the United States through maxglusive distribution network th
consists, at the top level, of several major tetdgpo distributors, such as Walker and Associates,, lingram Micro, Inc., Jent
Distributors, Inc., Synnex Corporation and Scan8eumc. d/b/a Catalyst Telecom. These organizatiben distribute products
an extensive network of Value-Added Resellers (VARgstem integrators, and service providers.

VARs and system integrators may be affiliated WMl TRAN as channel partners, or they may purchasm fa distributor in a
unaffiliated fashion. Affiliated partners partictpawith us at various program levels based on sabésme and other factors
receive benefits such as product discountspgaadvertising funds, technical support and trginikVe maintain field office
nationwide to support distributors, VARs and sysiategrators. The Enterprise Networks Division ntaiims a channdbased sale
organization to manage our partners.
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A growing portion of our Enterprise Networks prothiare being sold to service providers for provisig of hosted VolP servi
offerings for SME branch office end users.

Outside of the United States, both Carrier and pnitee products are sold through distribution ageanents customized for e:
region. Each region is supported by an ADTRAN fieftice that offers sales and support functionsl Bnsome cases, warehous
and manufacturing support. In some regions, Caprieducts are sold to carriers through our diratgsorganization.

Our field sales organizations, distributors, andvise provider customers receive support from headgrsbased marketing, sal
and customer support groups. Under certain circamests, other headquarters personnel may becomkrédvim sales and otk
activities.

Research and Developme

Rapidly changing technologies, evolving industrgnstards, changing customer requirements, and eomgindevelopments
communications service offerings characterize tlaekets for our products. Our continuing abilityadapt to these changes an
develop new and enhanced products that meet aiate market demand is a significant factor inficiag our competitive positic
and our prospects for growth.

During 2010, 2009, and 2008, product developmepeeditures totaled $90.3 million, $83.3 million da$81.8 million, respectivel
Our product development activities are an imporgaautt of our strategy. Because of rapidly changmchnology and evolvir
industry standards, we expect to sustain, and lpigsscrease, product development levels each year.

We strive to deliver innovative network access sohs that lower the total cost of deploying seegicincrease the level
performance achievable with established infrastmest, reduce operating and capital expense forcostomers, increase netw
bandwidth and functionality, and extend networkcteaOur development process is conducted in acooedavith 1ISO 9001, T
9000, and ISO 14001, which are international stedslfor quality and environmental management system

We develop most of our products internally, altHowge sometimes license intellectual property rightsuse in certain produc
Internal development gives us more control overgiteand manufacturing issues related to our pradaod closer control ov
product costs. Our ability to continually reduceduct costs is an important part of our overallibess strategy. Our prod
development efforts are often centered on entaxingprket with improved technology, allowing us feoproducts at a price po
lower than established market prices. We then ctenfoe market share. We continually eagineer successive generations o
product to improve our gross margin.

Product development activities focus on productsupport both existing and emerging technologiesha telecommunicatio
industry in segments of our markets that we comsi@dble revenue opportunities. We are activelyagggl in developing and refini
technologies to support data, voice, and videcstrart primarily over IP/Ethernet network architeeti Our work involves Etherr
transport, fiber optic transport, DSL transport (M2, ADSL2+, ADSL, SHDSL, and HDSLx), access rogticthernet switchin
integrated access, converged services, VoIP, nktmanagement, and professional services.

A centralized research function supports produsebtipment efforts companyide. This group provides guidance to our var
product design and engineering teams in digitalaigrocessing technologies, computer simulatich mndeling, CAD/CAM toc
sets, custom semiconductor design, industry stasdand technological forecasting.

Many telecommunications issues, processes anddkfiaes are governed by Standards Development Grations (SDOs). The
SDOs consist of representatives from various manufers, service providers, and testing laborasorrking to establis
specifications and compliance guidelines for emmygielecommunications technologies. We are an egtarticipant in sevel
SDOs, and have assisted with the development dfiwate standards in many technologies.

We continue to be involved in the evolution of Etiet technology by participating in the Institute Electrical and Electroni
Engineers 802 LAN/MAN standards committee, the ITWnd the MEF, which are standardizing technologiesh as Carri
Ethernet traffic management, Ethernet Ring Pratec8witching (ERPS), provider networking, Ether@gterations, Administratic
and Management (OAM), and Connectivity Fault Mamaget. In the past year, we have worked in the SE®Obring mor:
interoperability between GPON equipment. Thesereffbave included helping ATIS establish a new sufroittee focusing ¢
optical access networks (NIPP-OAN) and increasumgparticipation in GPON work in the Broadband Foru

We are also involved in other standards developre#forts related to maximizing the bandwidth poi&nof the copper pair
enable new applications. We contributed to the kigmaeent of the VDSL2 ITU-Telecommunications (ITK)-standard. Upc
completion of the various wireline telecommunicatiostandards, the industwiele interoperability and performance tes
requirements become the responsibility of the Bpaad Forum (formerly DSL Forum). We have continoed contributions towa
VDSL2 and ADSL2+ development through our work ie Broadband Forum.
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For a discussion of risks associated with our reskand development activities, <‘Risk Factors —We must continue to updz
and improve our products and develop new produttrder to compete and to keep pace with improvésriartelecommunicatior
technology” and “Risk Factors —We engage in research and development activitieenfwove the application of develop
technologies, and as a consequence may miss cenaiket opportunities enjoyed by larger companiéb wubstantially greate
research and development efforts who may focusara leading edge development”, in Item 1A of tleigart.

Manufacturing and Operations

The principal steps in our manufacturing procesduite the purchase and management of materialemérdg testing, fina
inspection, packing, and shipping. We purchasespamtt components for the assembly of some prodiumts a large number ¢
suppliers through a worldwide sourcing program.atidition, we manage a procetgt identifies the components that are |
purchased directly by contract manufacturers feringhe assembly of our products to achieve mauifimg efficiency, quality, an
cost objectives. Certain key components used irpoasiucts are currently available from a singlersepand other key compone!
are available from only a limited number of sourdaghe past, we have experienced delays in theipeof certain key componen
which has resulted in delays in related produdvdeks. We attempt to manage these risks throegieldping alternative sources,
staging inventories at strategic locations, throagbineering efforts designed to obviate the nétyestcertain components, and
maintaining close contact and building long-teratienships with our suppliers.

We rely on subcontractors in Asia for assembly #asting of certain printed circuit board assemblmsbhassemblies, chass
enclosures and equipment shelves, and to purcloase of the raw materials used in such assembliestyically manufacture ot
low-volume, highmix, or complex product assemblies at our manufadsite in Huntsville, Alabama. We continue taldwand tes
all new product prototypes and initial productiamits for our products in Huntsville, and later tséar the production of highelume,
low-mix assemblies to our subcontractors. Subcontigg#rably operations can lengthen fulfillment cyaheess, but we believe w
can respond more rapidly to uncertainties in incgmbrder rates by selecting assembly subcontrattaving significant resen
capacity and flexibility. We have consolidated puoduction to two subcontractors who have provebedlexible and able to me
our quality requirements. We conduct the majorftalbtransactions with our foreign suppliers initda States currency.

Most shipments of products to customers occur foamfacilities in Huntsville, Alabama. Our facib are certified pursuant to t
most current releases of 1ISO 9001, TL 9000, 1ISO014@&nd are CustomBade Partnership Against Terrorism certified. !
products are also certified to certain other teteyghcompany standards, including those relatingnbdssion of electromagnet
energy and safety specifications.

For a discussion of risks associated with manufd@eguactivities, se¢‘Risk Factors —Our strategy of outsourcing a portion of ¢
manufacturing requirements to subcontractors lodabe Asia may result in us not meeting our costality or performance
standards” and “Risk Factors -Our dependence on a limited number of suppliers prayent us from delivering our products o
timely basis, which could have a material adverf§ecé on customer relations and operating resulte’ltem 1A of this report.

Competition

We compete in markets for networking and commuiaoatequipment for service providers, businessegemment agencies, a
other organizations worldwide. Our products andises support the transfer of data, voice and valgoss service providerber,
copper, and wireless infrastructures, and acrode aiea networks, local area networks, and thenete

The markets for our products are intensely competitNumerous competitors exist in each of our pmbdsegments. Inten:
competitive conditions and recent declines in eowmnoactivity have resulted in competitor consolidas, bankruptcies ar
liquidations. Consumer acceptance of alternativarnanications technologies such as coaxial cablecatidlarbased services th
compete with our products has grown in recent y&aosnpetition might further increase if new teclogiés emerge, new compan
enter the market, or existing competitors expaed hroduct lines.

For ourCarrier Networks Division , factors influencing the markets in which we cathg compete or may compete in the fut
include the ability to:

. Help the customer solve networking problems withim confines of restrained capital budg
. Offer globally competitive solutions against a diffint set of competitors than in the United St
. Deliver solutions that fit the distributed netwargimodel being deployed by most service provic

. Deliver solutions for service provider networksthey increasingly focus on network transformatioonvergence, ai
integration of service:

. Deliver solutions at attractive price poin

. Deliver reliability and redundancy, especially Fagher bandwidth product
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e Adapt to new network technologies as they evc

. Compete effectively against large firms with greaésources

. Deliver products when needed by the custol

. Deliver responsive customer service, technical sttppnd training; an

e Assist customers requiring jrassembled, turnkey systems and professional ser

Competitors of our Carrier Networks Division inckuthrge, established firms such as Alcatetent, Cisco Systems, Fujitsu Limite
Huawei, ZTE, Ericsson, Tellabs, and NolS&mens. There are also a number of smaller, digecidirms with which we compet
such as Actelis, Hatteras, Zhone Technologies, @ddatworks, Calix Networks, and other privatelychms.

For ourEnterprise Networks Division, factors influencing the markets in which we cothg compete or may compete in the fut
include the ability to:

. Satisfy the custom’s need for a cc-efficient alternative to established internetwogksuppliers

. Satisfy the customer's need to utilize the mossteffective combination of transmission technologtesconnec
geographically dispersed locatiol

. Increase network performance and lower the cust's cost for communications services and equipn

e Add capacity and migrate to new or different tedbg@s without a major system upgra

. Continue to develop and support established plati¢

. Offer products to address new networking technel®gi a timely manne

. Deliver reliability and system backup, especiatly fiigher bandwidth product

e Adapt to new network technologies as they evc

. Deliver products when needed by the custol

. Deliver responsive customer service, technical sttpgnd training; an

»  Assist customers requiring har-on installation and maintenanc
Competitors of our Enterprise Networks Division limte Cisco Systems, Juniper Networks, Avaya, Hewkeickard, Enteras
Networks, Extreme Networks, Allied Telesyn, andestemaller companies. Some of these companies ¢enmpea single produc
segment, while others compete across multiple miihes.
For further discussion of risks associated with @ompetition, se“Risk Factors —We must continue to update and improve
products and develop new products in order to cdmpad to keep pace with improvements in telecoruations technolo¢” and

“Risk Factors —We compete in markets that have become increasioghpetitive, which may result in reduced grosdipmargins
and market share”, in Item 1A of this report.

Backlog and Inventory

A substantial portion of our shipments in any flsseriod relate to orders received and shippedat fiscal period for custome
under agreements containing noinding purchase commitments. Further, a signitigearcentage of orders require delivery withi
few days. These factors normally result in verylditorder backlog or order flow visibility. We belie that because we fill
substantial portion of customer orders within tised! quarter of receipt, backlog is not a meanihgfdicator of actual sales for a
succeeding period.

To meet this type of demand, we have implementeracked supply chain management systems to managadduction proces
We maintain a substantial finished goods invent@ur practice of maintaining sufficient inventogwels to assure prompt delive
of our products increases the amount of inventbag may become obsolete. The obsolescence ofnhémtory may require us
write down the value of the obsolete inventory, athinay have an adverse effect on our operatindtsesu
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Government Regulation

In the United States, our products must comply wislious regulations and standards defined by #mgefal Communicatior
Commission and Underwriters Laboratories. Prodaotd internationally may be required to comply widgulations or standar
established by telecommunications authorities inous countries, as well as those of certain irggomal bodies. For instanc
environmental legislation within the European Un{&@WU) may increase our cost of doing business nationally as we amend o
products to comply with these requirements. TheidSed a Directive on the restriction of certaimdrdous substances in electrc
and electrical equipment (RoHS), enacted the Wakdetrical and Electronic Equipment (WEEE) Direetito mandate the fundin
collection, treatment, recycling and recovery of B#Eby producers of electrical or electronic equiptriato Europe, and enactec
regulation concerning the Registration, Evaluatidathorization and Restriction of Chemicals (REACMJe continue to impleme
measures to comply with the RoHS Directive, the \EHBrective and the REACH Regulation as individaalntries issue the
implementation guidance.

For further discussion of risks associated with ggovnent regulation, se“Risk Factors —Our products may not continue to com
with the regulations governing their sale, whichyntearm our business” and “Risk Factors Regulatory and potential physic
impacts of climate change may affect our custoraeis our production operations, resulting in adveeféects on our operatin
results”, in Iltem 1A of this report.

Employees

As of December 31, 2010, we had 1,663 fiie employees in the United States and in oumnatonal subsidiaries located
Canada, Mexico, the Asi@acific region and Europe. None of our employeesrapresented by a collective bargaining agreer
nor have we ever experienced any work stoppagebélieve that our relationship with our employeegadsd.

We also utilize significant numbers of contract@msd temporary employees in various manufacturingyineering and sale
capacities, domestically and internationally, asdesl.

Intellectual Property

The ADTRAN corporate logo is a registered traden@RDTRAN. The name “ADTRAN"is a registered trademark of ADTRA
A number of our product identifiers and names alsoregistered. We also claim rights to a numbemoégistered trademarks.

We have ownership of at least 264 patents relatedit products and have approximately 126 additipatent applications pendin
of which at least 5 have been approved and areeiptocess of being issued by the U.S. Patent aakmark Office. The avera
remaining duration of our patents as of Decembe2810 was approximately 12.7 years. We will camtiio seek additional patel
from time to time related to our research and dgwaknt activities. We do not derive any materiabant of revenue from tt
licensing of our patents.

We protect our intellectual property and proprigtaghts in accordance with good legal and busimpeastices. We believe, howev
that our competitive success will not depend on dlership of intellectual property, but insteadl wiepend primarily on th
innovative skills, technical competence, and mamnkeabilities of our personnel.

The communications industry is characterized by @kistence of an evéncreasing volume of patent litigation and licemg
activities. From time to time we receive and magttwe to receive notices of claims alleging thatave infringing upon patents
other intellectual property. We cannot predict vieetwe will prevail in any claims or litigation ovelleged infringements, «
whether we will be able to license any valid anfimged patents, or other intellectual property,commercially reasonable terms
is possible that litigation may result in signifitdegal costs and judgments. Any intellectual propinfringement claims, or relat
litigation against or by us, could have a matealerse effect on our business and operating sesult

For a discussion of risks associated with our ietlal and proprietary rights, se‘Risk Factors —Our failure to maintain rights t
intellectual property used in our business couldsexdely affect the development, functionality, aodnmercial value of ot
product?, in Iltem 1A of this report.

Available Information

A copy of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, as wadlour Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Regm Form & and any
amendments to these reports, are available fre¥hanrfge on the Internet at our web site, www.adt@n., as soon as reasonal
practicable (generally, within one day) after weatdonically file these reports with, or furnistesie reports to, the Securities
Exchange Commission (SEC). The reference to oursiteladdress does not constitute incorporatiorefgrence of the informatic
contained on the web site, which information showndd be considered part of this document. You miag aead and copy at
materials we file with the SEC at the SE@ublic Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Wggin, D.C. 20549. The public m.
obtain information on the operation of the Publieféence Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SB30. The SEC maintains
Internet site (www.sec.gov) that contains our régoproxy and information statements, and otheorinftion that we have file
electronically with the SEC.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 338 ovides a safe harbor for forwatdeking statements made by or on beha
ADTRAN. ADTRAN and its representatives may frone tiontime make written or oral forwalooking statements, includir
statements contained in this report and our otlilergs with the SEC and other communications with stockholders. Generally, tl
words, “believe,” “expect,” “intend,” “estimate,” “anticipate,” “will,” “may,” “could” and similar exp ressions identify forward-
looking statements. We caution you that any forwaoking statements made by or on our behalf argestitio uncertainties an
other factors that could cause these statemertte torong. Some of these uncertainties and othéorfaare listed below. Though \
have attempted to list comprehensively these impbfactors, we caution investors that other fastoray prove to be important
the future in affecting our operating results. Niawtors emerge from time to time, and it is notsiuas for us to predict all of the:

factors, nor can we assess the impact each factoombination of factors may have on our busin

” o« ” o« ” ow ” o« ” o«

You are further cautioned not to place undue ret@mon those forwaréboking statements because they speak only ofiews\as o
the date the statements were made. We underta&bligation to publicly update or revise any forwdmbking statements, wheth
as a result of new information, future events dreotvise, except as required by law.

The following are some of the risks that couldcftaur financial performance or could cause actredults to differ materially fror
those expressed or implied in our forward-lookitafements:

Our operating results may fluctuate in future perds, which may adversely affect our stock price.

Our operating results have been and will contirubé subject to quarterly and annual fluctuatiohis aesult of numerous facto
These factors include, but are not limited to:

. Fluctuations in demand for our products and sesyiespecially with respect to significant netwolpansion projec
undertaken by telecommunications service provic

. Continued growth of communications network trafficd the adoption of communication services andiegtns b
enterprise and consumer end us

. Changes in sales and implementation cycles fopmducts and reduced visibility into our custogiepending plans al
associated revenu

. Reductions in demand for our traditional produst®ew technologies gain acceptar
. Our ability to maintain appropriate inventory lev@nd purchase commitmer

. Price and product competition in the communicati@amsl networking industries, which can change rgpidilie tc
technological innovatior

*  The overall movement toward industry consolidagomong both our competitors and our custon

. Our dependence on sales of our products by charariers, the timing of their replenishment ordéns, potential fc
conflicts and competition involving our channel tpars and large end use customers and the potémtiabnsolidatio
among our channel partne

*  Variations in sales channels, product cost or mproducts sold

. Delays in receiving product acceptance from certaistomers as defined under contract, for shipmeeds the end of
reporting period

. Our ability to maintain high levels of product siopip

. Manufacturing and customer order lead tin

. Fluctuations in our gross margin, and the factas tontribute to this as described bel

. Our ability to achieve cost reductiot

e The ability of our customers, channel partners, sugpliers to obtain financing or to fund capitabenditures
. Our ability to execute on our strategy and opegagilans;

. Benefits anticipated from our investments in engiirey, sales and marketing activiti

»  The effects of climate change; a



The effects of political or economic conditiongreeist attacks, acts of war, or other unrest inae international market
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As a result, operating results for a particulaufatperiod are difficult to predict, and prior réstare not necessarily indicative
results to be expected in future periods. Any ef afbove mentioned factors, or other factors digtligésewhere in this docume
could have a material adverse effect on our busjesults of operations and financial conditicat ttould adversely affect our stc
price.

Our revenue for a particular period can be difficuto predict, and a shortfall in revenue may harnuiooperating results.

As a result of the many factors discussed in thport, our revenue for a particular quarter isiclift to predict and will fluctuat
from quarter to quarter. Our typical pattern oftouser orders requests product delivery within artsperiod following receipt of a
order. Consequently, we do not typically carry gndicant order backlog, and are dependent upoaiiog orders and completit
delivery in accordance with shipping terms thatmedominantly within each quarter to achieve augéted revenues. Our net s¢
may grow at a slower rate than in previous quadersay decline. Our ability to meet financial egfadions could also be affectec
the variable sales patterns seen in prior quartecsr in future quarters. We have experienced geriof time during whicl
manufacturing issues have delayed shipments, lgadinvariable shipping patterns. In addition, te #xtent that manufacturit
issues and any related component shortages rasidiayed shipments in the future, and particularlguarters in which we and o
subcontractors are operating at higher levels paciy, it is possible that revenue for a quartarld be adversely affected, and
may not be able to remediate the conditions withehsame quarter.

In the past, long manufacturing lead times havesedwur customers to place the same order muttipkes. This multiple ordering
along with other factors, may cause difficulty iregicting our sales and, as a result, could impair ability to manage par
inventory effectively.

We plan our operating expense levels based priynaril forecasted revenue levels. These expenseshaniinpact of longerm
commitments are relatively fixed in the short tednshortfall in revenue could lead to operatinguitssbeing below expectatiol
because we may not be able to quickly reduce tlivestk expenses in response to short-term busirtessges.

General economic conditions may reduce our revenaes harm our operating results.

Economic conditions in the latter part of 2008 amach of 2009 contributed to a slowdown in telecomiations industry spendin
including specific market segments in which we aperThe potential reoccurrence of these trendstaid duration and depth &
difficult to predict. Capital spending for netwoikfrastructure projects of our largest customenrsid¢doe delayed or cancelled
response to reduced consumer spending, tight tapatkets or declining liquidity trends. Sustairieshds of this nature could hav
material adverse affect on our revenues, resulbpefations and financial condition.

Our exposure to the credit risks of our customensdadistributors may make it difficult to collect @ounts receivable an
could adversely affect our operating results anddincial condition.

Most of our sales are on an open credit basisuéetly with payment terms of 30 to 45 days in thetéd States and typically long
in many geographic markets outside the United Staie our business in international regions expaA@sTRAN’s total account
receivable balance will likely increase. Our dagfes outstanding could also increase as a resgiteater mix of international sale
Additionally, international laws may not provideetisame degree of protection against defaults oouats receivable as provid
under United States laws governing domestic traises; therefore, as our international businessvgrave may be subject to higt
bad debt expense compared to historical trendsrayvee monitor individual customer payment cagissbin granting such ope
credit arrangements, seek to limit such open ctedimounts we believe the customers can pay, aidtam reserves we believe
adequate to cover exposure for doubtful accountshé course of our sales to customers, we mayueeo difficulty collecting
accounts receivable and could be exposed to ris&scated with uncollectible accounts receivable. May be exposed to simil
credit risks relating to collections from distribus of our products, and we apply similar procedseasionitor and reserve for a
exposures. The recent turmoil in the financial retskcould impact certain of our customeability to maintain adequate cre
facilities with financial institutions, thereby pottially impacting their ability to pay their deb#hile we attempt to monitor the
situations carefully and attempt to take appropriaeasures to collect accounts receivable balattta® are no assurances we
avoid accounts receivable write downs or write affloubtful accounts. Such write-downs or wiitiss could negatively affect o
operating results for the period in which they aceand could potentially have a material adver$ecefon our results of operatio
and financial condition.
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We expect gross margin to vary over time, and awdl of product gross margin may not be sustainable
Our level of gross margins may not be sustainafderaay continue to be adversely affected by nunsefactors, including:

. Changes in customer, geographic, or product miduding the mix of configurations and professiorafvices revent
within each product grou

. Introduction of new products by competitors, inchgdproducts with pric-performance advantage
. Our ability to reduce product co:

. Increases in material or labor cc

. Expediting costs incurred to meet customer deliveguirements

. Excess inventory and inventory holding char¢

. Obsolescence charge

. Changes in shipment volurr

. Loss of cost savings due to changes in componécingror charges incurred due to inventory holdpegiods if part
ordering does not correctly anticipate product deatp

. Lower than expected benefits from value enginee

. Increased price competition, including competifoasn Asia, especially Chini
. Changes in distribution channe

* Increased warranty cos

. Liquidated damages costs relating to customer aotutal terms; an

. Our ability to manage the impact of foreign curnemxchange rate fluctuations relating to pricingotar internations
customers

We must continue to update and improve our produatsd develop new products in order to compete amdeep pace wit
improvements in telecommunications technology.

The markets for our products are characterized dpidly changing technology, evolving industry stamt$, and continuin
improvements in the telecommunications servicerifs of common service providers. If technologiestandards applicable to ¢
products, or common service provider offerings dase our products, become obsolete or fail to geidespread commerci
acceptance, our existing products or products uddeelopment may become obsolete or unmarketatbeeder, the introductio
of products embodying new technologies, the emegefi new industry standards, or changes in comseovice provider offering
could adversely affect our ability to sell our puats. For instance, we offer a large number of petsithat apply primarily to tr
delivery of highspeed digital communications over the local lodpzirtg copper wire. We compete favorably with @ompetitors
by developing a higlperformance line of these products. We market prizdihat apply to fiber optic transport in the lolcap. We
expect, however, that use of coaxial cable and matireless access in place of local loop accefisnerease. Also, notraditional
providers, such as cable television companiesinareasing their presence in the local loop. To tntlee requirements of these n
delivery systems and to maintain our market pasitwee may have to develop new products or modifgtiesg products.

Our sales and profitability in the past have, teignificant extent, resulted from our ability totiaipate changes in technolog
industry standards and common service provideriofis, and to develop and introduce new and entibpoeducts. Our continue
ability to adapt will be a significant factor in mtaining or improving our competitive position andr prospects for growth. W
cannot assure that we will be able to respond #ffdg to changes in technology, industry standamtsnmon service providi
offerings or new product announcements by our ctitopse. We also cannot assure that we will be ablsuccessfully develop ai
market new products or product enhancements, orthieae products or enhancements will achieve marmeptance. Should t
rate of decline in sales of certain traditional TOMdsed products exceed the rate of market acceptard growth in sales of o
newer IP-based products, our revenues may be adyeffected. Any failure by us to continue to aigtate or respond in a cost-
effective and timely manner to changes in techngldgdustry standards, common service provider roffgs, or new produc
announcements by our competitors, or any significktays in product development or introductionjldochave a material adver
effect on our ability to competitively market oumogucts and on our revenues, results of operatindginancial condition.
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Our products may not continue to comply with thegrdations governing their sale, which may harm obusiness.

As discussed above under “Business — GovernmenulR&on”, in the United States, our products must comply widinious
regulations and standards defined by the Federahn@mications Commission and Underwriters LaboratoriProducts sol
internationally may be required to comply with rigions or standards established by telecommumpitstauthorities in variot
countries, as well as those of certain internatibodies. Although we believe our products are ently in compliance with domest
and international standards and regulations in t@sin which we currently sell, there can be ssumance that we will be able
design our products to comply with evolving stawidaand regulations in the future. Further, the obsbmplying with the evolvin
standards and regulations, or the failure to oltieiely domestic or foreign regulatory approvalsertification such that we may r
be able to sell our products where these standardsgulations apply, may adversely affect our ltesof operations and financi
condition.

Our failure or the failure of our contract manufaatrers to comply with applicable environmental regtions could adversel
impact our results of operations.

The manufacture, assembly and testing of our pitsdwey require the use of hazardous materialsatteasubject to environment
health and safety regulations. Our failure or thdufe of our contract manufacturers to comply wathy of these applicab
requirements could result in regulatory penaltiegal claims or disruption of production. In adalitj our failure or the failure of ol
contract manufacturers to properly manage the tuaesportation, emission, discharge, storage, fiegyor disposal of hazardol
materials could subject us to increased costsbilities. Existing and future environmental redidas may restrict our use of cert:
materials to manufacture, assemble and test predfoly of these consequences could adversely inacatesults of operations |
increasing our expenses and/or requiring us to altemanufacturing processes.

If our products do not interoperate with our cust@rs’ networks, installations may be delayed or cancelledich could
harm our business.

Our products must interface with existing networkach of which may have different specificationslize multiple protoco
standards and incorporate products from other wanddany of our customersietworks contain multiple generations of prodi
that have been added over time as these netwovksgnawn and evolved. Our products may be requoedteroperate with many
all of the products within these networks as wslfature products in order to meet our customesguirements. If we find errors
the existing software or defects in the hardwaesus our customersietworks, we may have to modify our software odhgre tc
fix or overcome these errors so that our produdisnteroperate with the existing software anddware. Such issues may affect
ability to obtain product acceptance from othertaors. Implementation of product corrections inumj interoperability issue
could increase our costs and adversely affectesults of operations.

The lengthy approval process required by major amither service providers for new products could rida fluctuations in
our revenue.

In the industry in which we compete, a supplier trfirst obtain product approval from a major or @tlservice provider to sell i
products to them. This process can last from sik&anonths, or longer, depending on the technoltwy service provider, and t
demand for the product from the service provisistibscribers. Consequently, we are involved ionstant process of submitting 1
approval succeeding generations of products, asasgiroducts that deploy new technology or resgoniew technology deman
from a major or other service provider. We havenbgsgccessful in the past in obtaining these appsovowever, we cannot |
certain that we will obtain these approvals in fileire or that sales of these products will corgino occur. Any attempt by a ma,
or other service provider to seek out additionahlternative suppliers, or to undertake, as peeahitinder applicable regulations,
production of these products internally, could havwmaterial adverse effect on our operating reshlisthermore, the delay in sa
until the completion of the approval process, tegth of which is difficult to predict, could resuh fluctuations of revenue ai
uneven operating results from quarter to quartgear to year.

We engage in research and development activitieriprove the application of developed technologiasd as a consequent
may miss certain market opportunities enjoyed byger companies with substantially greater researahd developmer
efforts who may focus on more leading edge develeptn

A portion of our research and development actisiiee focused on the refinement and redefinitioaatfess technologies that
currently accepted and commonly practiced, whicly malude emerging technologies not yet widely ritistted across all network
These research and development efforts result jmawed applications of technologies for which dethafready exists or is latel
We rarely engage in research projects that represeast departure from the current business pex®f our key customers. Ti
includes pioneering new services and participaitinggading edge field trials or demonstration petgefor new technologies. Whi
we believe our strategy provides a higher likelith@d producing nearer term revenue streams, trasesty could reduce our ability
influence industry standards and share in the ksitaent of intellectual property rights associaigth new technologies, and cot
result in lost revenue opportunities should a nesthology achieve rapid and widespread market sacep.
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We depend heavily on sales to certain customers; Ithss of any of these customers would significgnduce our revenue
and net income.

Historically, a large percentage of our sales Hasen made to major service providers and largezpiaddent telecommunicatio
companies. In 2010, these customers continued rtgpise over half of our revenue. As long as theamajpd larger independe
telecommunications companies represent such aasuladtpercentage of our total sales, our futuieesss will significantly deper
upon certain factors which are not within our cohtincluding:

»  the timing and size of future purchase ordersnyf, &rom these customei
» the product requirements of these custorr

» the financial and operational success of thesemests;

» the impact of legislative and regulatory changeth@se customer

»  the success of these custor’ services deployed using our products;

« the impact of work stoppages at these custor

Sales to our large customers have, in the pastutited and may fluctuate significantly from quettequarter and year to year. T
loss of, or a significant reduction or delay inlesato any such customer or the occurrence of $aletsiations could have a mater
adverse effect on our business and results of tipesa Further, any attempt by a major or othewiser provider to seek ol
additional or alternative suppliers or to undertaie permitted under applicable regulations, thedypetion of these produc
internally, could have a material adverse effecbonoperating results.

There has been a trend toward industry consolidatiaur markets for several years. We expectttBisd to continue as compan
attempt to strengthen or hold their market pos#tiand as companies are acquired or are unablentsge operations. This cou
lead to variability in our operating results andilcohave a material adverse effect on our busingssrating results, and financ
condition. In addition, particularly in the servipeovider market, rapid consolidation will leadféaver customers, with the effect tt
a loss of a major customer could have a materiphithon our results that we would not have antteigégn a marketplace compos
of more numerous participants.

Our strategy of outsourcing a portion of our manufturing requirements to subcontractors located irsid@ may result in ut
not meeting our cost, quality or performance stamda.

We are heavily dependent on two subcontractorstlier assembly and testing of certain printed cirdagard assemblie
subassemblies, chassis, enclosures and equipmaaeshand the purchase of raw materials useddh agsemblies. This relian
involves several risks, including the unavailagiliff, or interruptions in, access to certain precezhnologies and reduced con
over product quality, delivery schedules, transgarh, manufacturing yields and costs. We may reotable to provide produ
volumes to our subcontractors that are high endagichieve sufficient cost savings. If shipments Balow forecasted levels, v
may incur increased costs or be required to takeeoship of excess inventory. Changes in internatidariff structures coul
adversely impact our product costs. In additiorsigmificant component of maintaining cost compegitiess is the ability of o
subcontractors to adjust their own costs to comgten$or possible adverse exchange rate movementshd extent that tr
subcontractors are unable to do so, and we arelaimalprocure alternative product supplies, then @un competitiveness ai
results of operations could be adversely impaifdtese risks may be exacerbated by economic origadliincertainties, terrori:
actions, the effects of climate change, naturaders or pandemics in the foreign countries irctviour subcontractors are located.

To date, we believe that we have successfully meshdge risks of our dependence on these subcamtsatttrough a variety ¢
efforts, which include seeking and developing ali¢ive subcontractors while maintaining existinigtienships; however, we canr
assure you that delays in product deliveries will accur in the future because of shortages reguftom this limited number ¢
subcontractors or from the financial or other diffties of these parties. Our inability to develdfernative subcontractors if and
required in the future, or the need to undertakgiired retraining and other activities related stablishing and developing a ni
subcontractor relationship, could result in delayseductions in product shipments which, in tumyld have a negative effect on «
customer relationships and operating results.
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Our dependence on a limited number of suppliers npagvent us from delivering our products on a tingddasis, which coul
have a material adverse effect on customer relai@nd operating results.

Certain raw materials and key components used ripiaducts are currently available from only onarse, and others are availa
from only a limited number of sources. The avaligbiof these raw materials and supplies is subjeainarket forces beyond o
control. From time to time, there may not be siéfi¢ quantities of raw materials and supplies & tharketplace to meet custon
demand. Many companies utilize the same raw mégeaiad supplies that we do in the production ofrtheoducts. Companies wi
more resources than our own may have a competitivantage in obtaining raw materials and suppliesstd greater buying powe
These factors can result in reduced supply, highiees of raw materials, and delays in the recgifgtertain of our key componen
which in turn may generate increased costs, lowargins, and delays in product delivery, with a esponding adverse effect
sales, customer relationships, and revenue. Funtrer, due to general economic conditions in thetddnStates and globally, o
suppliers may experience financial difficulties, igfh could result in increased delays, additionatgoor loss of a supplier. V
attempt to manage these risks through developtegnaltive sources, by staging inventories at siratecations, through engineeri
efforts designed to obviate the necessity of aeitamponents, and by building lotgrm relationships and close contact with eac
our suppliers; however, we cannot assure you thlatyd in or failures of deliveries of key comporsemither to us or to our contr:
manufacturers, and consequent delays in produietediels, will not occur in the future.

The Security and Exchange Commission has propoisetbsure requirements regarding the use of “conftiinerals”’mined from
the Democratic Republic of Congo and adjoining ¢oes and procedures regarding a manufactsirefforts to prevent the sourci
of such minerals and metals produced from thoseerais. The implementation of these requirementddcafiect the sourcing ar
availability of metals used in the manufacture dindited number of raw material parts containedir products. This may redu
the number of suppliers who provide conflict freetais, and may affect our ability to obtain produict sufficient quantities or
competitive prices. Our material sourcing is brbaded and multiered, and we may not be able to conclusivelyfydhie origins
for all metals used in our products.

We compete in markets that have become increasiragignpetitive, which may result in reduced gross fironargins and
market share.

The markets for our products are intensely comipetitAdditional manufacturers have entered the miarkn recent years to off
products in competition with us. Additionally, cairt companies have, in recent years, developealiity to deliver competini
products using coaxial cable and cellular transimissespecially in higltensity metropolitan areas. Competition would far
increase if new companies enter the market oriegistompetitors expand their product lines. Som¢hete potential competitc
may have greater financial, technological, manufidat), sales and marketing, and personnel resodhzswe have. As a rest
these competitors may be able to respond more lyapideffectively to new or emerging technologiesdachanges in custom
requirements, withstand significant price decreaseslevote greater resources to the developmeamagtion, and sale of the
products than we can.

In addition, our present and future competitors rbayable to enter our existing or future marketthvpiroducts or technologis
comparable or superior to those that we offer. Aaréase in competition could cause us to reduceqridecrease our market sh
require increased spending by us on product demedop and sales and marketing, or cause delaysmmeltations in custome
orders, any one of which could reduce our grostpmargins and adversely affect our business asdlts of operations.

Our estimates regarding future warranty obligatiomsay change due to product failure rates, shipmeotumes, field servic
obligations and other rework costs incurred in ceating product failures. If our estimates changdet liability for warranty
obligations may be increased or decreased, impagfurture cost of goods sold.

Our products are highly complex, and we cannotrasgou that our extensive product development, feanturing and integratio
testing will be adequate to detect all defectsyrerrfailures and quality issues. Quality or paerfance problems for products cove
under warranty could adversely impact our reputattmd negatively affect our operating results aimércial position. Th
development and production of new products withhh@pmplexity often involves problems with softwamgmponents an
manufacturing methods. If significant warranty ghlions arise due to reliability or quality isswessing from defects in softwar
faulty components, or manufacturing methods, o@rating results and financial position could beairgly impacted by:

. costs associated with fixing software or hardwareds;

. high service and warranty expens

. high inventory obsolescence exper
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. delays in collecting accounts receival

. payment of liquidated damages for performance riadipanc

. a decline in sales to existing custom:

Managing our inventory is complex and may includeite-downs of excess or obsolete inventory.

Managing our inventory of components and finisheabtlpcts is complicated by a number of factors,uditlg the need to maintair
significant inventory of certain components that gr short supply, that must be purchased in buldtain favorable pricing or th
require long lead times. These issues may reswoitiirpurchasing and maintaining significant amowftsventory, which if not use
or expected to be used based on anticipated pioductquirements, may become excess or obsoletg. ekuess or obsole
inventory could also result in sales price reduddi@nd/or inventory writdowns, which could adversely affect our business
results of operations.

We may pursue acquisitions, which may expose ua tmmber of risks. If we are unable to mitigate terisks, our busines
may be negatively impacted.

We may acquire or invest in other businesses @rénio joint ventures to expand our product pdidfcacquire intellectual propert
or extend our presence in certain markets. Any sucfuisition may require the use of cash, the issugssumption of debt, or t
issue of equity, and may result in significantlgri@ased financing costs or result in the dilutibexisting shareholder interests. 1
acquisition process and subsequent integratioreof investments may divert managemsrattention from normal daily operatic
of the business and cause harm to our existingatipas. These investments may result in impairnwmatrges and other cc
amortizations. We cannot assure that revenues &oauired investments will offset additional costsurred. If we are unable
successfully address the potential risks associatitdthese transactions, they may result in a tieg@mpact on our business, rest
of operations and financial condition.

Increased sales volume in international markets d¢dwesult in increased costs or loss of revenue dadactors inherent ir
these markets.

We are in the process of expanding into internafionarkets, which represented 5.3% of our net dale2010, and we anticipa
increased sales from these markets. We currentlgtaia regional sales offices in each of the folilogvlocations: Melbourne ar
Sydney, Australia; Montreal, Ottawa, and Torontan@da; Mexico, D.F., Mexico; Hong Kong and Beiji@hina; Singapore; ar
Theale, United Kingdom. A number of factors inherenthese markets expose us to significantly mistethan domestic busine:
including:

. local economic and market conditiol
. exposure to unknown customs and practi
. potential economic or political unrest, terroristians, the effects of climate change, naturalsesa or pandemic
»  foreign currency exchange rate expos
. unexpected changes in, or impositions of, legigatir requlatory requirement
. less regulation of patents or other safeguardstefiéctual property; an
. difficulties in collecting accounts receivable dadal governmer's inability to enforce lawful business practic
Any of these factors, or others of which we areqwtently aware, could result in increased coktsperation or loss of revenue.
We may be adversely affected by fluctuations inremcy exchange rates.

Historically our sales to international customensl gurchases from international suppliers have hemrsacted in United Stat
currency; therefore, we have not entered into épreiurrency forward contracts or other hedgingrimeents. As our internation
sales increase or as utilization of internationgipdiers expands, we may transact additional bssiire currencies other than Unit
States currency. As a result, we will be subjecth possibility of greater effects of foreign @mcy exchange translation on «
financial statements. Sales contract commitmentisameounts receivable balances based on foreigermyr expose us to potent
risk of loss as the value of the United Statesaddluctuates over time. In addition, for those rmivies outside the United Sta
where we have significant sales or significant pases of supplies, devaluation in the local cuyamuld make our products mc
expensive for customers to purchase or increasemanating costs, thereby adversely affecting oungetitiveness. In the future, \
may enter into foreign currency forward contraatether hedging instruments to protect againstetduos in value and the volatili
of future cash flows caused by changes in foreignency exchange rates. If used, the contracto#ret hedging instruments will |
intended to reduce, but not eliminate, the impddbreign currency exchange rate movements; thezefwe generally would ni
anticipate hedging all outstanding foreign currenisk. There can be no assurance that exchangédluateations in the future wi
not have a material adverse effect on our reverm fnternational sales, manufacturing costs, tesafl operations and financi



condition.
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Our success depends on our ability to reduce thérggprices of succeeding generations of our proats.

Our strategy is to attempt to increase unit satdgmes and market share each year by introduciocegding generations of produ
having lower selling prices and increased functibhas compared to prior generations of produdits.maintain or increase o
revenues and margins while continuing this strate@gy must continue, in some combination, to in@esales volumes of existil
products, introduce and sell new products, or redua per unit costs at rates sufficient to compnfor the reduced revenue eff
of continuing reductions in the average sales prafeour products. We cannot assure you that web@ihble to maintain or increa
revenues or margins by increasing unit sales votuofie@ur products, introducing and selling new picd, or reducing unit costs
our products.

Our failure to maintain rights to intellectual proprty used in our business could adversely affece tdevelopmen
functionality, and commercial value of our products

Our future success depends in part upon our pitapyieechnology. Although we attempt to protect puwprietary technology t
contract, trademark, copyright and patent registnatand internal security, these protections metylre adequate. Furthermore,
competitors can develop similar technology indegertigt without violating our proprietary rights. Fnotime to time we receive al
may continue to receive notices of claims alledimgt we are infringing upon patents or other iegllal property. Any of thes
claims, whether with or without merit, could resimtsignificant legal fees; divert our managemeiime, attention and resourc
delay our product shipments; or require us to einterroyalty or licensing agreements. We cannetlmt whether we will prevail i
any claims or litigation over alleged infringements whether we will be able to license any valii anfringed patents, or oth
intellectual property, on commercially reasonalglaris. If a claim of intellectual property infringent against us is successful ¢
we fail to obtain a license or develop or licensm-infringing technology, our business, financial citioth, and operating resul
could be affected adversely.

Software under license from third parties for use certain of our products may not continue to beaiable to us or
commercially reasonable terms.

We integrate thirgsarty software into certain of our products. Licemgor this technology may not be available or iow# to be
available to us on commercially reasonable ternifficDities with third party technology licensorswld result in termination of suc
licenses, which may result in increased costs guire us to purchase or develop a substitute tdobyoDifficulty obtaining anc
maintaining thirdparty technology licenses may disrupt developmérduo products and increase our costs, which cbalen out
business.

We may incur liabilities or become subject to ligition that would have a material effect on our busiss.

In the ordinary course of business, we accept @mselorders, and enter into sales and other retatgdacts, for the marketing, sa
manufacture, distribution, or use of our produatsl @ervices. We may incur liabilities relating tar goerformance under su
agreements, or which result from damage claimsnarifom certain events as outlined within the jgafar contract. While w
attempt to structure all agreements to include mbmnotection clauses, such agreements may notyalwantain, or be subject 1
maximum loss clauses, and liabilities arising frdtam may result in significant adverse changesutoresults of operations al
financial condition.

In the ordinary course of business, we may be subgevarious legal proceedings and claims, inecigdgmployment disputes, pat:
claims, disputes over contract agreements and othremercial disputes. In some cases, claimantsda®mlages, or other relief, su
as royalty payments related to patents, whichrahted, could require significant expenditures. Angh disputes may be resoh
before trial, or if litigated, may be resolved iardavor; however, the cost of claims sustainetitigation, and costs associated w
the litigation process, may not be covered by asuiance. Such costs, and the demands on managémermiuring such an evel
could harm our business and have a material adefieset on our liquidity, results of operations didhncial condition.
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Consolidation and deterioration in the competitivaervice provider market could result in a significa decrease in ou
revenue.

We sell a moderate volume of products directly ratiriectly to competitive service providers who catgpwith the establishe
ILECs. The competitive service provider marketipariencing a process of consolidation. Many of campetitive service provid
customers do not have a strong financial positith lzave limited ability to access the public finahenarkets for additional fundir
for growth and operations. If one or more of thesmpetitive service providers fail, we could facless in revenue and an increa
bad debt expense, due to their inability to patauding invoices, as well as the correspondingedese in customer base and fut
revenue. Furthermore, significant portions of oalles to competitive service providers are madeutiiiandependent distributol
The failure of one or more competitive service fdevs could also negatively affect the financiasifon of a distributor to the poil
that the distributor could also experience busitfieiisre and/or default on payments to us.

We depend on distributors who maintain inventorie$ our products. If the distributors reduce theinventories of thes
products, our sales could be adversely affected.

We work closely with our distributors to monitorasinel inventory levels and ensure that approplétels of product are availak
to resellers and end users. If our distributorsicedheir levels of inventory of our products, safes would be negatively impac
during the period of change.

If we are unable to successfully develop relatiofshwith system integrators, service providers, aerprise value adde
resellers, our sales may be negatively affected.

As part of our sales strategy, we are targetingesysntegrators (Sls), service providers (SPs), emérprise value added resell
(VARs). In addition to specialized technical expat SIs, SPs and VARSs typically offer sophistidaservice capabilities that €
frequently desired by enterprise customers. Inrotdexpand our distribution channel to includeetiess with such capabilities, v
must be able to provide effective support to thesellers. If our sales, marketing or service cipials are not sufficient to provid
effective support to such Sls, SPs and VARSs, olgssmay be negatively affected, and current Sl,a88 VAR partners ma
terminate their relationships with us, which woalidl/ersely impact our sales and overall resultgefations.

If we fail to manage our exposure to worldwide fineial and securities markets successfully, our ogtng results anc
financial statements could be materially impacted.

We are exposed to financial market risks, includatgnges in interest rates and prices of marketagpléty and fixedncome
securities. The primary objective of the large migjoof our investment activities is to preservénpipal while at the same tin
achieving appropriate yields without significanihgreasing risk. To achieve this objective, a majaf our marketable securities ¢
investment grade corporate and municipal fixet bonds, municipal variable rate demand notek rannicipal money marki
instruments denominated in United States dollars.Have held no municipal auction rate securitissesFebruary 7, 2008.

We have significant investments in corporate ancdhinipal fixedrate bonds and municipal variable rate demand ndtesough
December 31, 2010, we have not been required taiinapy of these investments; however, we may éapee a reduction in valt
or loss of liquidity in these investments, whichymaave an adverse effect on our results of operstiiquidity and financie
condition. Fixed rate interest securities may hidnedr fair value adversely impacted due to a nisenterest rates, while variable ri
securities may produce less income than expectatkifest rates fall. Our investments are subjecfeneral credit, liquidity, marke
and interest rate risks, which may be exacerbateccdnditions in the financial markets and relateédd liquidity issues
Consequently, our future investment income maysfadirt of expectations due to changes in inteegesr or we may suffer losses
principal if we are forced to sell securities tdatline in fair value due to changes in interestsa

Our longterm investments include $48.0 million of marketalquity securities. Because of the strained creditkets an
deteriorating equity market conditions that contidwuring the first quarter of 2009, we recorddtepthan temporary impairme
charges of $2.0 million related to our marketabtpiity securities, $0.4 million related to the fixécome bond fund, ar
$0.5 million related to the deferred compensatitam @ssets during the year ended December 31, 2d@ecember 31, 2010, o
total marketable equity securities, which includadre than 415 individual securities, had net urzedl gains of $36.5 millior
which includes an unrealized gain of $33.7 milli@hated to a single security. If market conditiateteriorate in 2011, we may
required to record additional impairment chargéstee to our marketable equity securities.

See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Fiirs@ondition and Results of Operations —Liquidityd Capital Resources’

Item 7, Part Il of this report and “Quantitativeda@ualitative Disclosures about Market Rigk”ltem 7A, Part Il of this report fc
more information about our investments.
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Changes in our effective tax rate or assessmentsiag from tax audits may have an adverse impactaur results.

We are subject to taxation in various jurisdictiobsth domestically and internationally, in whicte wonduct business. Significe
judgment is required in the determination of ounyision for income taxes and this determinationuness the interpretation ar
application of complex and sometimes uncertain léaxs and regulations. Our effective tax rate mayaleersely impacted
changes in the mix of earnings between jurisdigtintith different statutory tax rates, in the valoatof our deferred tax assets, ¢
by changes in tax rules and regulations. For itgathe availability and timing of lapses in theitdd States research a
development tax credit, tax implications of thec&t@€ompensation Topic of the Financial Accountinigrdlards Board Accountir
Standards Codification (FASB ASC), the accountifiguacertain tax positions and the amount of ouimested tax deduction fc
manufacturels domestic production activities under Internal &ae Code Section 199 may add more variability uo fature
effective tax rates. We currently receive corporatmme tax credits under a program administerethbyAlabama State Industr
Development Authority in connection with revenuentle issued to provide funding for expansion of coporate facilities. W
cannot be certain that the state of Alabama wititicme to make these corporate income tax cred#gable; therefore, we may n
realize the full benefit of these incentives, whigbuld increase our effective tax rate. In additime are subject to examination
our income tax returns by the Internal Revenue iSerand various other jurisdictions in which we doat business. We regula
assess the likelihood of adverse outcomes resuitong these examinations to determine the adequéiour provision for incom
taxes. There can be no assurance that the outdoomeshese continuous examinations will not havedwerse affect on our resu
of operations and financial condition.

Our success depends on attracting and retaining keysonnel.

Our business has grown significantly since its jmice. Our success is dependent in large part erctéimtinued employment of o
executive officers, including Thomas R. Stantor, Ghief Executive Officer, and other key managenparsonnel. The unplann
departure of one or more of these individuals coaddersely affect our business. In addition, for TRAN to continue as

successful entity we must also be able to attract @etain key engineers and technicians whose #ggp@ehnelps us mainta
competitive advantages. We do not have employmemiracts or norcompete agreements with any of our employees. Wievi
that our future success will depend, in large papbn our ability to continue to attract, retairgii, and motivate highlgkilled
employees who are in great demand. Stock optiontgr@e designed to reward employees for their-teng contributions and 1
provide incentives for them to remain with us. Pievisions of the Stock Compensation Topic of th&B ASC require us to reco
significantly increased compensation costs as coapt prior accounting rules, which may causeousestrict the availability an
amount of equity incentives provided to employe@hanges to our overall compensation program, imetpdur stock optiol
incentive program, may also adversely affect oulitplto retain key employees. Properly managing continued growth, avoidin
the problems often resulting from such growth axypb@sion, and continuing to operate in the manrgchvhas proven successful
us to date will be critical to the future succebewr business.

Regulatory and potential physical impacts of clirmathange may affect our customers and our produntioperations.
resulting in adverse affects on our operating retul

There is a growing political and scientific congagenghat emissions of greenhouse gases continuttetotlae composition of th
atmosphere, affecting largeale weather patterns and the global climateppears that some form of U.S. federal regulatidaited
to greenhouse gas emissions may occur, and anyregalation could result in the creation of addiibcosts in the form of taxes
emission allowances. The impact of any future lafian, regulations or product specification requients on our products a
business operations is dependent on the desigmedfirtal mandate or standard, so we are unabledadiqi its significance at th
time.

The potential physical impacts of climate changeoncustomers, suppliers, and on our operatioa$ighly uncertain, and will k
particular to the circumstances developing in wasigeographical regions. These may include chaingeeather patterns (includir
drought and rainfall levels), water availabilitgypsn patterns and intensities, ocean levels angeeature levels. These poten
physical effects may adversely affect our revenwests, production and delivery schedules, andecduzsm to our results
operations and financial condition.

While we believe our internal control over finandigeporting is adequate, a failure to maintain efféve internal control ove
financial reporting as our business expands coulesult in a loss of investor confidence in our finaral reports and have a
adverse effect on our stock price.

Section 404 of the Sarban@sdey Act of 2002 requires that we assess the #éffeness of our internal control over financial ogjng
as of the end of our fiscal year, and issue a tapat states whether or not such internal congrefffective. Compliance with the
requirements requires significant cost and the ciitmemt of time and staff resources. Expansion af lousiness, particularly i
international geographies, will necessitate ongahgnges to our internal control systems, proceasdsinformation systems. V
cannot be certain that as this expansion occurscauent design for internal control over finarai@porting will be sufficient tc
enable management or our independent registereit mdzounting firm to determine that our intermaintrol is effective for an
period, or on an ongoing basis. If we or our indgej@nt registered public accounting firm are unablassert that our internal cont
over financial reporting is effective, we could éosivestor confidence in the accuracy and compésteiof our financial statemen
which could have an adverse effect on our stoateg
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The price of our common stock has been volatile andy continue to fluctuate significantly.

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Globale8eMarket under the symbol ADTN. Since our initiblic offering ir
August 1994, there has been, and may continue,tsidpaficant volatility in the market for our conum stock, based on a variety
factors, including factors listed in this sectisome of which are beyond our control.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our headquarters and principal administrative, meging and manufacturing facilities are located aon 80acre campus
Cummings Research Park in Huntsville, Alabama. Difice buildings contain 440,000 and 600,000 sqdaet, respectively, al
serve both our Carrier Networks and Enterprise Mt Divisions. These facilities can accommodateai,000 employees. v
lease a 17,800 square foot engineering facilitPliwenix, Arizona and a 13,400 square foot engingdgcility in Mountain View
California that are used to develop products sgldur Carrier Networks Division.

In addition to our facilities listed above, we leaslditional office space in the United States amtbad, providing sales and sen
support for both of our divisions. The leased @&é§dn the United States are located in Kansas ®i€,and Littleton, CO. We al:
lease at least one office in each of the followgations: Melbourne and Sydney, Australia; Monltr€tawa, and Toronto, Cana
Mexico, D.F., Mexico; Hong Kong and Beijing, Chin&jngapore; and Theale, United Kingdom. These dahke and non-
cancelable leases expire at various times throwdlé.2For more information, see Note 10 of the Nate€onsolidated Financ
Statements included in this report.

We also have numerous sales and support staff topgpfeom homebased offices serving both our Carrier Networks Bnterpris:
Networks Divisions, which are located within theitdd States and abroe

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We have been involved from time to time in litigatiin the normal course of our business. We areamare of any pending
threatened litigation matters that could have eenwdtadverse effect on us.

ITEM 4A. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Set forth below, in accordance with General IngtouncG (3) of Form 10-K and Instruction 3 of Iter@4b) of Regulation %, is
certain information regarding the executive offceaf ADTRAN. Unless otherwise indicated, the infation set forth is as
December 31, 2010.

Thomas R. Stantor Age 46
2007 to preser  Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Bo

2005- 2007 Chief Executive Officer and Direct

2001- 2005 Senior Vice President and General Manager, Caxatworks

1999- 2001 Vice President and General Manager, Carrier Nets

1995- 1999 Vice President, Carrier Networks Marketi

1995 Vice President, Marketing & Engineeri— Transcrypt International, In
1994- 1995 Senior Director, Marketin— E.F. Johnson Compat

1993- 1994 Director, Marketinc— E.F. Johnson Compat
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James E. Matthews Age 54
2007 to preser Senior Vice Presidei— Finance, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer, Seaeaind Directo

2001- 2007 Senior Vice Presidel— Finance, Chief Financial Officer and Treast
1999- 2001 Chief Financial Office— Home Wireless Networks, In

1998- 1999 Chief Executive Office— Miltope Group, Inc

1995- 1998 Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Off— Miltope Group, Inc
1992- 1995 Controller— Hughes Training, Inc

Michael K. Foliano
2006 to preser

Age 50
Senior Vice Presider— Global Operation:

2005- 2006 Senior Vice President, Sales, Services and Suppini— Somera Communications Ir
2004- 2005 Senior Vice President, Global Operati— Somera Communications, Ir

2002- 2004 Senior Director, Global Logistics and Customer @fiens— Lucent Technologie

2001- 2002 Executive General Manager, Mobility Supply Ch— Lucent Technologie

2000- 2001 Stanford University Sloan Fello— Lucent Technologie

1997- 2000 Vice President, Global Provisioning Cen— Lucent Technologie

1995- 1997 Manufacturing Operations Plant Mana— Lucent Technologies/AT&T Network Syster

Raymond R. Schansma Age 54
2006 to preser

Senior Vice President and General Manager, Entarpetworks

2001- 2006 Vice President, Carrier Networks Engineer

1998- 2001 Engineering Director, Carrier Networks Syste

1996- 1998 Engineering Manager, Enterprise Networks Syst

1989- 1996 Program Manage— SCI Systems, Inc

1986- 1989 Vice President, System and Product Enginee— General Digital Industrie
1983- 1986 Senior Design Engine— General Digital Industrie

James D. Wilson, Jr.
2006 to preser

Age 40
Senior Vice President and General Manager, Caxatworks

2005- 2006 Vice President, Product Marketing, Carrier Netwc

2002- 2005 Director, Product Management, Carrier Netwc

1998- 2002 Director, Product Management, Loop Technologiesri@aNetworks
1996- 1998 Manager, Engineering Operatic— Wyle Laboratories, Inc

1992- 1996 Manager, Program Developme— Wyle Laboratories, Inc

Robert A. Fredrickson
1996 to preser

1996
1991- 1996

. Steven Locke
2005 to preser

Age 60

Vice Presiden— Carrier Networks Sale

Vice President, Broadband Business Developr— DSC Communications Corporatit
Senior Director, Access Produ— DSC Communications Corporatit

Age 62
Vice Presiden— Service Provider Sale

2000- 2005 Vice President, Marketing, Carrier Netwol

1999- 2000 Vice Presiden— Sprint Local Division Sales for Lucent Technolog

1997- 1999 Senior Director of Sale— ADTRAN, Inc.

1993- 1997 Vice President and General Manager, Business Nkt@ooup, Sprint North Suppl

Kevin W. Schneider
2003 to preser

Age 47
Vice Presiden— Chief Technology Office

1999- 2003 Vice Presiden— Technology
1996- 1999 Chief Scientis
1992- 1996 Staff Scientis

There are no family relationships among our dinector executive officers. All officers are electadnually by, and serve at -
discretion of, the Board of Directors of ADTRAN.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

ADTRAN’s common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global SelMarket under the symbol ADTN. As of February ©12
ADTRAN had 254 stockholders of record and approx@iya8,900 beneficial owners of shares held ineftreame. The followir
table shows the high and low closing prices peresf@ our common stock as reported by NASDAQ Far periods indicated.

Common Stock Prices

High Low

2010

First Quartel $ 26.9¢ $ 20.9¢

Second Quarte $ 29.6( $ 25.3¢

Third Quartel $ 35.3( $ 27.0¢

Fourth Quarte $ 36.3¢ $ 30.9¢
2009

First Quarte! $ 16.71 $ 13.8¢

Second Quarte $ 21.4¢ $ 16.7C

Third Quartel $ 25.0¢ $ 20.7¢

Fourth Quarte $ 25.71 $ 20.4¢

The following table shows the dividends paid integoarter of 2010 and 2009. The Board of Direcesently anticipates tha
will declare a regular quarterly dividend so lorgythe present tax treatment of dividends existsaatetjuate levels of liquidity &
maintained.

Dividends per Common Share

2010 2009

First Quarte! $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢
Second Quarte $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢
Third Quartel $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢
Fourth Quarte $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢
Stock Repurchases
The following table sets forth repurchases of @mmmon stock for the months indicated.

Total Total Number of Shares  Maximum Number of

Number of Average Purchased as Part o Shares that May Yet B«
Shares Price Paid Publicly Announced Purchased Under the

Period Purchasec per Share Plans or Programs (1)  Plans or Programs
October 1, 201+~ October 31, 201 — — — 2,220,72!
November 1, 201- November 30, 201 251,30( $  31.7¢ 251,30( 1,969,42!
December 1, 201- December 31, 201 — — — 1,969,42!
Total 251,30( 251,30(

(1) On April 14, 2008, ADTRANS Board of Directors approved the repurchase abup000,000 shares of its common stock.
plan is being implemented through open market @geh from time to time as conditions warr:
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Income Statement Data (1
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 3 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Sales
Carrier Networks Divisiol $ 476,03( $ 37134¢ $ 392,21¢ $ 358,020 $ 356,60t
Enterprise Networks Divisio 129,64« 112,83t 108,45 118,75! 116,10:
Total sales 605,67: 484,18! 500,67t 476,77 472,70t
Cost of sale: 246,81 197,22: 201,77: 193,79. 193,74
Gross profit 358,86: 286,96: 298,90! 282,98t 278,96:
Selling, general, and administrative exper 114,69¢ 99,44¢ 103,28 103,32¢ 102,64t
Research and development exper 90,30( 83,28¢ 81,81¢ 75,36 70,70(
Operating income 153,86¢ 104,23: 113,80( 104,29( 105,61
Interest and dividend incon 6,557 6,93: 8,70¢ 11,52: 13,49:
Interest expens (2,43€) (2,430 (2,519 (2,507) (2,537)
Net realized investment gain (los 11,00¢ (1,299 (2,409 49¢ 1,37¢
Other income (expense), r (809 131 68¢ 764 57C
Life insurance proceec — — — 1,00( —
Income before provision for income taxe: 168,18 107,56¢ 118,27: 115,57: 118,52!
Provision for income taxe (54,200 (33,347) (39,697 (39,236 (40,197
Net income $ 11398¢ $ 74,22, $ 78,58. $ 76,33F $ 78,33:
Year Ended December 3 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Weighted average shares outstan— basic 62,49( 62,45¢ 63,54¢ 67,84¢ 73,45
Weighted average shares outstanding — assuming
dilution (2) 63,87¢ 63,35¢ 64,40¢ 69,21 75,19°
Earnings per common shé— basic $ 1.8z $ 1.1¢ $ 1.2¢ $ 1.1 $ 1.07
Earnings per common share — assuming dilution
(2) $ 1.7¢ $ 117 $ 122 $ 1.1¢ $ 1.04
Dividends declared and paid per common s $ 03¢ $ 03¢ $ 03¢ $ 03¢ $ 0.3¢

Balance Sheet Data (In thousand

At December 3, 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Working capital (3] $ 30495 $ 278,04 $ 212,74 $ 251,26: $ 219,63t
Total asset $ 69197 $ 564,46 $ 47361 $ 479,22( $ 539,65¢
Total debt $ 48,000 $ 48,25( $ 48,75( $ 49,000 $ 49,50(
Stockholder' equity $ 57232, $ 45251' $ 37581 $ 378,43. $  435,95¢

(1) Net income for 2010, 2009, 2008, 2007 and 200auded stoc-based compensation expense under the Stock Contipe
Topic of the Financial Accounting Standards Boardcdunting Standards Codification of $7.1 million6.4million
$6.7 million, $7.1 million and $7.2 million, respiely, net of tax, related to stock option awar8se Note 2 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statemen

(2) Assumes exercise of dilutive stock options caledlainder the treasury method. See Notes 1 and Nbtek to Consolidat
Financial Statement:

(3) ADTRANSs working capital consists of current assets legsent liabilities.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

Overview

ADTRAN, Inc. designs, manufactures, markets andises network access solutions for communicatiete/arks. Our solutions &
widely deployed by providers of communications smy (serviced by our Carrier Networks Divisionpdasmall and midsizec
enterprises (SMEs) (serviced by our Enterprise Meta/ Division), and enable voice, data, video artdrhet communications acr
wireline and wireless networks. Many of these sohg are currently in use by every major Unitect&taand many global serv
providers, as well as by many public, private andegnmental organizations worldwide.

Our success depends upon our ability to increasevatume and market share through the introductidmew products ar
succeeding generations of products having lowdinggbrices and increased functionality as compaoelloth the prior generation
a product and to the products of competitors. Apdrtant part of our strategy is to reduce the ofstach succeeding prod
generation and then lower the prodadktlling price based on the cost savings achievedder to gain market share and/or impi
gross margins. As a part of this strategy, we seehkost instances to be a high-quality, loast provider of products in our mark
Our success to date is attributable in large meaguour ability to design our products initiallyitva view to their subseque¢
redesign, allowing both increased functionality aaduced manufacturing costs in each succeedirduptaeneration. This strate
enables us to sell succeeding generations of ptedocexisting customers, while increasing our reairkhare by selling the
enhanced products to new customers.

Our three major product categories are Carrieredyst Business Networking and Loop Access.

Carrier Systems products are used by communications service prowitte provide last mile access in support of datdace an
video services to consumers and enterprises. Th@&e€8ystems category includes our broadband aqueslucts comprised of Ta
Access® 5000 multi-service access and aggregation platioroaucts, Total Access 1100/1200 Series Fiber-TeNbde (FTTN
products, and Digital Subscriber Line Access Midtier (DSLAM) products. Our broadband access prtedace used by servi
providers to deliver higlspeed Internet access, Voice over Internet ProtamlP), IP Television (IPTV), and/or Ethernet segs
from the central office or remote terminal locasoio customer premises. The Carrier Systems cateso includes our optic
access products. These products consist of opticed¢ss multiplexers including our family of OPTlogucts and our Optic
Networking Edge (ONE) products. Optical access petsl are used to deliver higher bandwidth servioesto aggregate lar
numbers of low bandwidth services for transportatigross fiber optic infrastructure. Total Acce58Q products, 303 concentre
products, M13 multiplexer products, and a humbemabile backhaul products are also included in Glagrier Systems prodt
category.

Business Networkingproducts provide access to telecommunication sesyitacilitating the delivery of converged servicex
Unified Communications to the SME market. The Bass1Networking category includes Internetworkingdoicts and Integrat
Access Devices (IADs). Internetworking products sishof our Total Access IP Business Gateways, daptiletwork Termina
(ONTSs), and NetVanta product lines. NetVanta prasliriclude multiservice routers, managed Ethernet switches, IRateriBranc
Exchange (PBX) products, IP phone products, Uni@esnmunications solutions, Unified Threat Managen{&fTM) solutions an
Carrier Ethernet Network Terminating Equipment (NTHtegrated Access Device (IAD) products conefsbur Total Access 6(
Series and the Total Access 850.

Loop Accessproducts are used by carrier and enterprise cusfofoe access to coppeased telecommunications networks.
Loop Access category includes products such adtaDiata Service (DDS) and Integrated ServicestBligNetwork (Total Reacl
products, High bit-rate Digital Subscriber Line (BD) products including Total Access 3000 HDSL amhd Division Multiplexed-
Symmetrical HDSL (TDMSHDSL) products, T1/E1/T3, Channel Service Unit$éD3ervice Units, and TRACER fixed wirel
products.

In addition, we identify sulsategories of product revenues, which we divide growth products, representing our primary grc
areas, and traditional products. Our growth praslgcinsist of Broadband Access and Optical Accesduygts (included in Carri
Systems) and Internetworking products (includedirsiness Networking) and our traditional produetsiide HDSL produc
(included in Loop Access) and other products natuided in the aforementioned growth products. Mafiyour customers a
migrating their networks to deliver higher bandwidervices by utilizing newer technologies. We dadi that products and servi
offered in our primary growth areas position uslvi@l this migration. Despite shotérm increases, we anticipate that revenu
many of our traditional products, including HDSLillvdecline over time; however, revenues from thpseducts may continue 1
years because of the time required for our custsteetransition to newer technologi
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Sales were $605.7 million in 2010 compared to $&4illion in 2009 and $500.7 million in 2008. Salesreased in each of ¢
primary growth areas, Broadband Access, OpticaleAscand Internetworking. Total sales of productthese three growth are
increased 40.2% in 2010 compared to 2009 and 1#52009 compared to 2008. Our gross profit margmained consistent
2010 and 2009 at 59.3%, which decreased from 5172608. Our operating income margin increasedbtd% in 2010 compared
21.5% in 2009 and 22.7% in 2008. Net income wagt®Lillion in 2010 compared to $74.2 million in@and $78.6 million i
2008. Earnings per share, assuming dilution, wé&rghin 2010 compared to $1.17 in 2009 and $1.22008. Earnings per share
2010, 2009 and 2008 reflect the repurchase of @libm 0.8 million and 3.1 million shares of ouosk, respectively.

Our operating results have fluctuated on a quarteakis in the past, and may vary significantlfuture periods due to a numbel
factors, including customer order activity and BagkBacklog levels vary because of seasonal trehdgiming of customer proje:
and other factors that affect customer order leadd. Many of our customers require prompt deliv@products. This requires us
maintain sufficient inventory levels to satisfy iagated customer demand. If ngarm demand for our products declines, «
potential sales in any quarter do not occur ascigatied, our financial results could be adverséigcted. Operating expenses
relatively fixed in the short term; therefore, agfall in quarterly revenues could significanttppact our financial results in a gi
quarter.

Our operating results may also fluctuate as a refwd number of other factors, including a declimgeneral economic and mar
conditions, increased competition, customer oragtepns, changes in product mix, timing differenbesveen price decreases
product cost reductions, product warranty retumxqediting costs and announcements of new prodyctss or our competitol
Additionally, maintaining sufficient inventory lelgeto assure prompt delivery of our products insesathe amount of inventory t
may become obsolete and increases the risk thaibibalescence of this inventory may have an adwifset on our business ¢
operating results. Also, not maintaining sufficiamientory levels to assure prompt delivery of pauoducts may cause us to in
expediting costs to meet customer delivery requires), which may negatively impact our operatingiitesn a given quarter.

Accordingly, our historical financial performance not necessarily a meaningful indicator of futwesults, and, in gener
management expects that our financial results ney from period to period. See Note 12 of NotesCunsolidated Financi
Statementd-or a discussion of risks associated with our opiegaresults, see Item 1A of this report.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

An accounting policy is deemed to be critical iféfjuires an accounting estimate to be made basedsumptions about matters
are highly uncertain at the time the estimate islenaf different estimates reasonably could havenbesed, or if changes in

accounting estimate that are reasonably likely douo could materially impact the results of finalaperations. We believe 1
following critical accounting policies affect ourame significant judgments and estimates used irpthparation of our consolidai
financial statements. These policies have beenistensly applied across our two reportable segméhjsCarrier Networks Divisic
and (2) Enterprise Networks Division.

«  We review customer contracts to determine if allttd requirements for revenue recognition have baenh prior tc
recording revenues from sales transactions. Wergkyeecord sales revenue upon shipment of oudyets, net of ar
rebates or discounts, since: (i) we generally dohawe significant postelivery obligations, (ii) the product price is dic
or determinable, (iii) collection of the resultingceivable is probable, and (iv) product returres r@asonably estimak
We generally ship products upon receipt of a puseharder from a customer. We evaluate shippinggeana we recol
revenue on products shipped in accordance withteahas of each respective contract where applicairleynder ot
standard shipping terms for purchase orders aatepidout a contract, generally FOB shipping point.the case «
consigned inventory, revenue is recognized wherctistomer assumes ownership of the product. Whetrasis contai
multiple elements, contract interpretation is somes required to determine the appropriate accognincluding whethe
the deliverables specified in a multiple elementtcact should be treated as separate units of atiogufor revenu
recognition purposes, and, if so, how the priceughbe allocated among the elements and when tignéze revenue fi
each element. We record revenue associated withllatfon services when all contractual obligaticar® complet:
Contracts that include both installation serviced product sales are evaluated for revenue regogrnit accordance wi
contract terms. As a result, depending on contexats, installation services may be considered separate deliverat
item or may be considered an element of the deld/groduct. Either the purchaser, ADTRAN, or adhparty ca
perform installation of our products. Revenuestegldo maintenance services are recognized ora@lstiine basis ov:
the contract terrr

. Sales returns are accrued based on historical sgtl@s experience, which we believe provides aapable estimate
future returns. A significant portion of Enterprisietworks products are sold in the United Statesutiph a norexclusive
distribution network of major technology distribtdoThese organizations then distribute to an extemetwork of value-
added resellers and system integrators. Valied resellers and system integrators may béasdtil with us as a chani
partner, or they may purchase from the distributoran unaffiliated basis. Additionally, with certaimitations, ou
distributors may return unused and unopened prdductockbalancing purposes when these returns are accoetphy
offsetting orders for products of equal or greatdue.
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We participate in cooperative advertising and niamdtevelopment programs with certain customers. \Be thes
programs to reimburse customers for certain forinadwertising, and in general, to allow our custesneredits up to
specified percentage of their net purchases. Osts@ssociated with these programs are estimatkdamued at the tin
of sale and are included in selling, general amdiaidtrative expenses in our consolidated statesnehincome. We als
participate in rebate programs to provide salesritices for certain products. Our costs associaitdthese programs ¢
estimated and accrued at the time of sale andeateded as a reduction of sales in our consolidstetdments of income.

Prior to issuing payment terms to a new customerperform a detailed credit review of the custon@edit limits an
payment terms arestablished for each new customer based on théisesithis credit review. Collection experienci
reviewed periodically in order to determine if tbestomers payment terms and credit limits need to be revisge
maintain allowances for doubtful accounts for Iessesulting from the inability of our customers ntake require
payments. If the financial condition of our customeleteriorates, resulting in an impairment of rtredility to mak
payments, we may be required to make additionahalhces. If circumstances change with regard tivichaal receivabl
balances that have previously been determined tmbellectible (and for which a specific reserve baen established)
reduction in our allowance for doubtful accountsyrba required. Our allowance for doubtful accowmés $0.2 million ¢
December 31, 2010 and $0.1 million at Decembe28@9.

. We carry our inventory at the lower of cost orrked, with cost being determined using the firstfirst-out method. W
use standard costs for material, labor, and maturiag overhead to value our inventory. Our staddaosts are updat
on at least a quarterly basis and any variancesxaensed in the current period; therefore, ougibery costs approxime
actual costs at the end of each reporting periogl. white down our inventory for estimated obsoleseeor unmarketah
inventory by an amount equal to the difference leetwthe cost of inventory and the estimated falinevdased upc
assumptions about future demand and market conditid actual future demand or market conditions lass favorab
than those projected by management, we may bereghid make additional inventory writk»wns. Our reserve for exc
and obsolete inventory was $8.9 million and $7.Bioni at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectivielyentory write-
downs charged to the reserve were $0.8 million7 $illion and $1.0 million for the years ended Dmbter 31, 201(
2009 and 2008, respective

. The objective of our shoterm investment policy is to preserve principal amaintain adequate liquidity with appropri
diversification, while achieving market returns.eTbbjective of our longerm investment policy is principal preserva
and total return; that is, the aggregate returrmfreapital appreciation, dividend income, and irgeri@come. Thes
objectives are achieved through investments withr@griate diversification in fixed and variable@dahcome securitie
public equity, and private equity portfolios. Wevhkaexperienced significant volatility in the markeices of our publicl
traded equity investments. These investments awrded on the consolidated balance sheets atdhiewvith unrealize
gains and losses reported as a component of acatedubther comprehensive income, net of tax. Thimatle realize
value on these equity investments is subject tketarice volatility.

In accordance with the Fair Value MeasurementsiZindlosures Topic of the FASB ASC, we have catematiour cas
equivalents held in money market funds and ourstments held at fair value into a thilegel fair value hierarchy bas
on the priority of the inputs to the valuation tecjue for the cash equivalents and investmentokenfs: Level 1—
Values based on unadjusted quoted prices for ickdrdissets or liabilities in an active market; LUe¥e— Values based ¢
guoted prices in markets that are not active orehgbuts that are observable either directly dliriectly for substantiall
the full term of the asset or liability; Level 3 Malues based on prices or valuation techniquesréuatire inputs that a
both unobservable and significant to the overall ¥alue measurement. These inputs include infolonasupplied b
investees. At December 31, 2010, we categorized$®58lion and $315.3 million of our available-feale investments
Level 1 and Level 2, respectively, and $14.5 milliof our cash equivalents as Level 1. At DecemhierZ)09, w
categorized $38.1 million and $246.1 million of @wailable-forsale investments as Level 1 and Level 2, respdygtiaac
$18.4 million of our cash equivalents as Level 1.
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We review our investment portfolio for potentialther-than-temporaryteclines in value on an individual investn
basis. We assess, on a quarterly basis, signifaeciines in value which may be considered othentbmporary and,
necessary, recognize and record the appropriatgeha writedown the carrying value of such investments. In img
this assessment, we take into consideration gtiaétaand quantitative information, including buttnlgmited to the
following: the magnitude and duration of historidaiclines in market prices, credit rating activiagsessments of liquidi
public filings, and statements made by the issW&.generally begin our identification of potentiher-thantemporar
impairments by reviewing any security with a fa@lwe that has declined from its original or adjdstest basis by 25%
more for six or more consecutive months. We thealuate the individual security based on the preslipudentifiec
factors to determine the amount of the write-doirany. As a result of our review, we did not ret@ny other-than-
temporary impairment charge during the fourth cgraof 2010. For the years ended December 31, Z0@) and 200
we recorded charges of $43 thousand, $2.9 milliod 2.4 million, respectively, related to the ottteantemporar
impairment of certain publicly traded equity setigs, a fixed income bond fund, and deferred corsggon plan asse
Actual losses, if any, could ultimately differ frothese estimates. Future adverse changes in maokeitions or poc
operating results of underlying investments co@suit in additional losses that may not be refigétean investment’
current carrying value, thereby possibly requiriag impairment charge in the future. See Note 3 ofebl to th
Consolidated Financial Statements in this reparbfore information about our investments.

We also invest in privately held entities and pwvaquity funds and record these investments dt ¥ds review thes
investments periodically in order to determineii€emstances (both financial and nfimancial) exist that indicate that
will not recover our initial investment. Impairmecttarges are recorded on investments having abesst that is great
than the value that we would reasonably expecketeive in an arng’ length sale of the investment. We have not
required to record any impairment losses relatinthése investments in 2010, 2009 or 2008.

. For purposes of determining the estimated fair &adfi our stock option awards on the date of gramteu the Stoc
Compensation Topic of the FASB ASC, we use the Blcholes Model. This model requires the input oftaie
assumptions that require subjective judgment. Thesseimptions include, but are not limited to, expecstock pric
volatility over the term of the awards and actuad grojected employee stock option exercise behavigecause our sto
option awards have characteristics significantffedént from those of traded options, and becatmmges in the inp
assumptions can materially affect the fair valuimeste, the existing model may not provide a rdéadingle measure
the fair value of our stock option awards. For msgs of determining the estimated fair value of penformancebase:
restricted stock unit awards on the date of gnaetuse a Monte Carlo Simulation valuation methduk Testricted stor
units are subject to a market condition based erré¢tative total shareholder return of ADTRAN agdia peer group
companies (2008 and 2009 grants) or against alpeaies in the NASDAQ Telecommunications Index (2@i&nt) an
vest at the end of a thrgeear performance period. The fair value of restdcstock issued to our Directors in 2010 is €
to the closing price of our stock on the date ofngr Management will continue to assess the assomsptan
methodologies used to calculate the estimatedviine of stockbased compensation. Circumstances may chanc
additional data may become available over timegchvisibuld result in changes to these assumptionsretidodologies at
thereby materially impact our fair value determioat If factors change and we use different assiomgptin the
application of the Stock Compensation Topic of B#SB ASC in future periods, the compensation expéehat we recol
may differ significantly from what we have recordadhe current perioc

«  We estimate our income tax provision or benefieath of the jurisdictions in which we operate, udghg estimatin
exposures related to examinations by taxing autberiWe also make judgments regarding the reaizaif deferred ta
assets, and establish reserves where we believenivre likely than not that future taxable incomeertain jurisdiction
will be insufficient to realize these deferred tssets in accordance with the Income Taxes ToptilkeoFASB ASC. Ot
estimates regarding future taxable income and imcdax provision or benefit may vary due to changesnarke
conditions, changes in tax laws, or other factfreur assumptions, and consequently our estimatemge in the futur
the valuation allowances we have established maindreased or decreased, impacting future incomesxpense. /
December 31, 2010 and 2009 respectively, the valuallowance was $5.6 million and $5.3 million. 8sDecember 3.
2010, we have state research tax credit clamyards of $2.2 million, which will expire betwe&®15 and 2025. The
carryforwards were caused by tax credits in excess phaonual tax liabilities to an individual state wéeave no longe
generate sufficient state income. In addition, faBecember 31, 2010, we have a deferred tax as$&.8 million relating
to net operating loss carry-forwards which will egpbetween 2014 and 2029. These céoryvards are the result o
foreign acquisition in 2009. The acquired net opegalosses are in excess of the amount of estimatenings. |
accordance with the Income Taxes Topic of the FASE, we believe it is more likely than not that wil not realize
the full benefits of our deferred tax asset arigiogn these credits and net operating losses, apardingly, have provide
a valuation allowance against them. This valuatdlowance is included in nocurrent deferred tax liabilities in t
accompanying balance she

. Our products generally include warranties of onéeto years for product defects. We accrue for wdyraeturns at tr
time revenue is recognized based on our estimatbeotost to repair or replace the defective prtglid/e engage
extensive product quality programs and processeduding actively monitoring and evaluating the lifyaof our
component suppliers. Our products continue to becorore complex in both size and functionality asiynaf our produc
offerings migrate from line card applications test®yns products. The increasing complexity of owdpcts will caus
warranty incidences, when they arise, to be mostiycoOur estimates regarding future warranty daligns may chang



due to product failure rates, material usage, ahdrarework costs incurred in correcting a prodiadure. In additior
from time to time, specific warranty accruals mayrecorded if unforeseen problems arise. Shouldaotwal experient
relative to these factors be worse than our estimjatve will be required to record additional watyaexpense
Alternatively, if we provide for more reserves thae require, we will reverse a portion of such pg@mns in futur
periods. The liability for warranty returns totalek8.3 million and $2.8 million at December 31, 20&46d 200¢
respectively. These liabilities are included inraed expenses in the accompanying consolidatetddmaksheets
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Results of Operations

The following table presents selected financiabinfation derived from our consolidated statemeriténcome expressed as
percentage of sales for the years indicated.

Year Ended December &, 2010 2009 2008
Sales
Carrier Networks Divisiot 78.€% 76.7% 78.2%
Enterprise Networks Divisio 21.4 23.8 217
Total sales 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%
Cost of sale: 40.7 40.7 40.5
Gross profit 59.2 59.2 59.7
Selling, general and administrative exper 19.C 20.t 20.¢€
Research and development exper 14.¢ 17.2 16.4
Operating income 25.4 21.€ 221
Interest and dividend incon 11 14 1.7
Interest expens (0.9 (0.5 (0.5
Net realized investment gain (los 1.8 0.3 (0.5
Other income (expense), r (0.7) — 0.2
Income before provision for income taxe: 27.¢ 22.2 23.€
Provision for income taxe (9.0 (6.9 (7.9
Net income 18.8% 15.52% 15.7%

2010 Compared to 2009

Sales

ADTRAN'’s sales increased 25.1% from $484.2 million in 2009%605.7 million in 2010. This increase in salssprimarily
attributable to a $64.6 million increase in saldsoar Broadband Access products, a $31.1 milliooréase in sales of ¢
Internetworking products, a $27.0 million increasesales of our HDSL products, and a $5.6 millinorease in our Optical Acce
products, partially offset by a $4.2 million decean traditional IAD products and a $2.6 millioecdease in enterprise T1 products.

Carrier Networks sales increased 28.2% from $3iili&n in 2009 to $476.0 million in 2010. The imase is primarily attributak
to increases in Broadband Access, Optical Acced$),THDSL and Internetworking NTE product sales,tjgdly offset by a decrea
in other traditional products.

Enterprise Networks sales increased 14.9% from $lh#llion in 2009 to $129.6 million in 2010. Thacrease is primari
attributable to an increase in Internetworking prcidsales, partially offset by decreases in IAD anderprise T1 product sal
Internetworking product sales were 77.3% of EnisgpNetwork sales in 2010 compared with 67.4% i@R0 raditional produc
primarily comprise the remainder of Enterprise Naivwg sales. Enterprise Networks sales as a pegemiatotal sales decrea:
from 23.3% in 2009 to 21.4% in 2010.

International sales, which are included in the @ametworks and Enterprise Networks amounts dsedsbove, increased 14.
from $27.8 million in 2009 to $31.8 million in 201Mternational sales, as a percentage of totaksdecreased from 5.7% in 200
5.3% in 2010. The increase in international sate®010 was primarily attributable to an increassafes in Australia, Mexico a
Europe, partially offset by a decrease in salé3dnada.

Carrier Systems product sales increased $73.6omifin 2010 compared to 2009 primarily due to a 6®dillion increase i
Broadband Access product sales and a $5.6 milenease in Optical Access product sales. The iseréa Broadband Acce
product sales was primarily attributable to congidgrowth in deployments of our TA 5000 platfornd &fiber to the Node produ
resulting from market share gains across all majarket segments.
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Business Networking product sales increased $26@li®min 2010 compared to 2009 primarily due toiaarease in Internetworkii
product sales. Growth in Internetworking produdesaccurred across all areas, including routetiserBet switches, IP gatewa
access termination products and our IP PBX segaentresult of market share gains in SME and dig&d enterprise applicatio
This increase was partially offset by a decreadeaititional IAD product sales as customers shiftetpbhasis to newer technolog
Many of these newer technologies are integral tdmternetworking product area.

Loop Access product sales increased $21.1 millim2010 compared to 2009 primarily due to a $27.0ianiincrease in HDS
product sales, partially offset by decreases irerotiaditional product sales. The increase in HO8bduct sales is primari
attributable to carriers increasing investmentdst @ffectively and quickly add capacity to moilitetworks.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales remained consistent in 2010 and 200®.7% of sales. Gross margins benefited fromramgd product mix, co
absorption and manufacturing efficiencies achieaedhe higher production volumes, offset by higherranty expense and
increase in lower margin installation services rexe However, installation services revenue wasetige to operating incon
margins in 2010.

Carrier Networks cost of sales decreased from 4@B8&ales in 2009 to 40.5% of sales in 2010. Theatse was primarily relatec
improved cost absorption and manufacturing efficies achieved at the higher production volumeschvias partially offset by i
increase in lower margin installation services rexe

Enterprise Networks cost of sales increased from%®f sales in 2009 to 41.7% of sales in 2010. ihbeease was primarily relal
to a higher cost product mix and the impact of edistations between divisions.

An important part of our strategy is to reduce pheduct cost of each succeeding product generatidnthen to lower the produst’
price based on the cost savings achieved. Thisgaaye variations in our gross profit percentagetduaming differences betwe
the recognition of cost reductions and the lowenhgroduct selling prices.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general, and administrative expenses asgée 15.3% from $99.4 million in 2009 to $114.7lionl in 2010. Selling, gener.
and administrative expenses include personnel dostadministration, finance, information systerhsiman resources, sales
marketing, and general management, as well as taitities, legal and accounting expenses, bad deigense, advertisir
promotional material, trade show expenses, andectkaavel costs. The increase in selling, genarad, administrative expenses
primarily related to an increase in staffing costsd fringe benefits due to increased headcount, inokases in incenti
compensation, contract services and travel expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses a@eptage of sales decreased from 20.5% for theeywied December 31, 200¢
18.9% for the year ended December 31, 2010. Seltyegeral and administrative expenses as a peofesdles will generall
fluctuate whenever there is significant fluctuatiomevenues for the periods being compared.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses increased &a¥6&3.3 million in 2009 to $90.3 million in 201Dhe increase in research i
development expenses was a result of increasdihgtabsts and fringe benefits, engineering antirtgexpense primarily related
customer specific product development activitiesvali as costs related to product approvals, prijn&or one or more of the tc
three U.S. carriers.

Research and development expenses as a percehtsaesodecreased from 17.2% for the year endeérbieer 31, 2009 to 14.€
for the year ended December 31, 2010. Researchdaralopment expenses as a percentage of salefusiillate whenever there i
incremental product development activities or aigicant fluctuation in revenues for the periodsnigecompared.

We expect to continue to incur research and dewedmp expenses in connection with our new and exgjsfiroducts and o
expansion into international markets. We continuallaluate new product opportunities and engagatémsive research and prod
development efforts which provides for new prodietelopment, enhancement of existing products aodiygt cost reductions. v
may incur significant research and development es@e prior to the receipt of revenues from a magov product group.
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Interest and Dividend Income

Interest and dividend income decreased 5.4% from S@lion in 2009 to $6.6 million in 2010. This clease was primari
attributable to a 22.2% reduction in the average oéreturn on our investments as a result of fonerest rates, partially offset b
23.7% increase in our average investment balances.

Interest Expense

Interest expense remained consistent at $2.4 miiic2010 and 2009, as we had no substantial changer fixed rate borrowin
See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” below for itiddal information.

Net Realized Investment Gain (Loss)

Net realized investment gain (loss) changed frdp.&8 million loss in 2009 to an $11.0 million g&n2010. This change is primar
a result of the other-thalemporary impairments of $2.0 million related ta awarketable equity securities, $0.4 million rethte ou
investment in a fixed income bond fund, and $0.Bioni related to our deferred compensation plaretsss 2009 and the realiz
gains of $8.1 million on the sale of one securitd 1.6 million from the sale of previously imparmarketable equity securities
2010. See “Investing Activities” in “Liquidity an@apital Resources” below for additional information

Other Income (Expense), net

Other income (expense), net, comprised primarilyno$cellaneous income, gains and losses on foreigrency transactior
investment account management fees, and gainssedoon the disposal of property, plant and equipmecurring in the norm
course of business, changed from $0.1 million obme in 2009 to $0.8 million of expense in 2010.

Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate increased from 31.0% in 20098B2.2% in 2010. This increase is primarily doethie reduced impact
available statutory tax benefits applied to thedéased level of pretax income in 2010. The stagubenefits include the research
development tax credit, deduction for domestic nfiacturing under Internal Revenue Code Section I#Bstock option related t
benefits.

Net Income

As a result of the above factors, net income irggddrom $74.2 million in 2009 to $114.0 million2010. As a percentage of sa
net income increased from 15.3% in 2009 to 18.8%0it0.

2009 Compared to 2008
Sales

ADTRAN'’s sales decreased 3.3% from $500.7 million in 2@0&484.2 million in 2009. This decrease in salespiimarily
attributable to a $46.6 million decrease in salesl@SL and other traditional products, partiallyfsgt by a $9.1 million increase
sales of our Broadband Access products, a $6.8&milhcrease in sales of our Optical Access prajuantd a $14.2 million incree
in sales of our Internetworking products.

Carrier Networks sales decreased 5.3% from $392l@min 2008 to $371.3 million in 2009. The deaee is primarily attributak
to decreases in HDSL, DDS, and other traditionaMTproducts sales, partially offset by an increaseBroadband Access a
Optical Access product sales.

Enterprise Networks sales increased 4.0% from $l@@lion in 2008 to $112.8 million in 2009. Theciease is primari
attributable to an increase in sales of Internetimgr products, partially offset by declines in sat#f traditional IAD products, al
Enterprise T1 products. Internetworking producesatere 67.4% of Enterprise Network sales in 2@@8pared with 58.3% in 20(
Traditional products primarily comprise the remaindf Enterprise Networks sales. Enterprise Net&gides as a percentage of 1
sales increased from 21.7% in 2008 to 23.3% in 2009
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International sales, which are included in the @ametworks and Enterprise Networks amounts dsedsabove, decreased 7
from $30.1 million in 2008 to $27.8 million in 200Bternational sales, as a percentage of totaksdecreased from 6.0% in 200
5.7% in 2009. International sales in 2009 decregsiedarily due to a decline in macroeconomic candi.

Carrier Systems product sales increased $9.5 milic2009 compared to 2008 primarily due to a $8illion increase in Broadbal
Access product sales and a $6.8 million increas®gtical Access product sales. These increases prarerily attributable t
increased shipments of our Total Acc&$000 products, our OPTI family of products and garihg deployments of FTT
products, resulting from market share gains acatissiajor market segments. Partially offsettingséhéncreases were decrease
TDM and other traditional product sales as custenséifted emphasis to newer technologies. Manyhese¢ newer technologies
integral to our Broadband Access and Optical Acpesduct areas.

Business Networking product sales increased $10l@m in 2009 compared to 2008 due to a $14.2 ioiill increase i
Internetworking product sales, primarily as a resfilmarket share gains in SMB and distributed gmige applications. Partia
offsetting this increase in Internetworking prodseies was a decline in sales of traditional IADducts as customers shif
emphasis to newer technologies. Many of these negénologies are integral to our Internetworkimgduct area.

Loop Access product sales decreased $36.9 milli2009 compared to 2008 primarily due to declimesiDSL, Enterprise T1, ai
DDS product sales.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales increased from 40.3% of sales in 20@%).7% of sales in 2009. The increase in costtds as a percentage of sal
primarily related to costs incurred to expediteivdgly of materials and costs related to a new prodelease, which were partie
offset by cost reductions generated through imptawanufacturing efficiencies.

Carrier Networks cost of sales increased from 39%8%ales in 2008 to 40.8% of sales in 2009. Tleeei@mse was primarily related
costs incurred to expedite delivery of materiald eosts related to a new product release.

Enterprise Networks cost of sales decreased frorB%4af sales in 2008 to 40.4% of sales in 2009. dberease was primar
related to lower freight costs and other cost rédaos generated through improved manufacturingiefficies.

An important part of our strategy is to reduce pheduct cost of each succeeding product generatidnthen to lower the produst’
price based on the cost savings achieved. Thisgaaye variations in our gross profit percentagetduaming differences betwe
the recognition of cost reductions and the lowenhgroduct selling prices.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general, and administrative expenses dsexk 3.7% from $103.3 million, or 20.6% of sale2@08, to $99.4 million, «
20.5% of sales in 2009. Selling, general, and athtnative expenses include personnel costs for midimation, finance, informatic
systems, human resources, sales and marketingyesmelal management, as well as rent, utilitiesallagd accounting expenses,
debt expense, advertising, promotional materiab@rshow expenses, and related travel costs. Tdreade in selling, general, ¢
administrative expenses was primarily related teduction in discretionary expenditures includignporary labor, travel, a
various promotional expenses.

Selling, general and administrative expenses ar@ept of sales will generally fluctuate wheneveare is significant fluctuation
revenues for the periods being compared.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses increased 108%6$81.8 million, or 16.3% of sales, in 2008 to $3&illion, or 17.2% c
sales, in 2009. The increase in research and davelat expenses was a result of increased staffimgjneering and testing expe
primarily related to customer specific product depenent activities as well as costs related to pevb@pprovals, primarily for one
more of the top three U.S. carriers. Research aveldpment expenses as a percentage of saledueiiidte whenever there .
incremental product development activities or aigicant fluctuation in revenues for the periodsnigecompared.

ADTRAN expects to continue to incur research andetijpment expenses in connection with its new afqistiag products and i
expansion into international markets. ADTRAN couotfly evaluates new product opportunities and eegag intensive reseat
and product development efforts which providesrfew product development, enhancement of existiglysts and product cc
reductions. ADTRAN may incur significant researaid alevelopment expenses prior to the receipt oémags from a major ne
product group or market expansion.
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Interest and Dividend Income

Interest and dividend income decreased 20.4% fr8ri &iillion in 2008 to $6.9 million in 2009. Thiedrease was the result ¢
39.6% reduction in the average rate of return anirrestments due to lower interest rates.

Interest Expense

Interest expense decreased from $2.5 million in82@0$2.4 million in 2009. The decrease was dua tower principal balance
2009 as compared to 2008. See “Liquidity and ChRiésources” below for additional information.

Net Realized Investment Gain (Loss)

Net realized investment gain (loss) changed frag2.4 million loss in 2008 to a $1.3 million loss2009. The change is a resul
lower other-thartemporary impairments of certain securities in eguity portfolio during 2009 as compared to 2008 tre sales «
certain securities for a gain. See “Investing Aitgg” in “Liquidity and Capital Resources” belowrfadditional information.

Other Income (Expense), net

Other income, net, comprised primarily of misceflans income, gains and losses on foreign curreransdctions, investme
account management fees, and gains or losses atisihesal of property, plant and equipment occgriim the normal course
business, decreased from $0.7 million in 2008 td $dillion in 2009.

Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate decreased from 33.6% in 2008L.0% in 2009, primarily due to increased biseélating to the deduction 1
manufacturels domestic production activities under Internal &ae Code Section 199 and an increase in our fedss@arch ar
development credits, partially offset by an inceeasstate income tax expense.

Net Income

As a result of the above factors, net income daee@drom $78.6 million in 2008 to $74.2 million 2009. As a percentage of sa
net income decreased from 15.7% in 2008 to 15.32009.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Liquidity

We intend to finance our operations with cash ffosn operations. We have used, and expect to aomtio use, the cash gener:
from operations for working capital, purchasesre&sury stock, dividend payments, and other gemerglorate purposes, includ
(i) product development activities to enhance oxistang products and develop new products andefpansion of sales a
marketing activities. We believe our cash and aaghivalents, investments and cash generated fraaratipns to be adequate
meet our operating and capital needs.

At December 31, 2010, cash on hand was $31.7 midlicd short-term investments were $157.5 milliohicl placed our shoterm
liquidity at $189.2 million. At December 31, 2008yr cash on hand of $24.1 million and sherm investments of $172.5 milli
placed our shorterm liquidity at $196.6 million. The decrease iguidity from 2009 to 2010 primarily reflects a pal realignmer
of our investment portfolio from short-term to loteym, which increased long-term investments by.&®8illion in 2010.

Operating Activities

Our working capital, which consists of current &ssess current liabilities, increased 9.7% fron7&B million as of December
2009 to $305.0 million as of December 31, 2010mprily due to an increase in inventory of $28.6lionl Inventory increase
during 2010 to support increasing customer demanudeases in inventories related to an increasesiallation services contrac
and to mitigate component supply constraints bgoatfecting the industry. The quick ratio, definesl cash, cash equivalents, short-
term investments, and net accounts receivableg@ivby current liabilities, decreased from 5.54faBecember 31, 2009 to 5.21

of December 31, 2010. The quick ratio decreasadaily due to a decrease in shtatm investments of $15.0 million, which we
result of the partial realignment of our investmpattfolio from short-term to longerm. The current ratio, defined as current a
divided by current liabilities, increased from 6.82 of December 31, 2009 to 7.10 as of DecembeR@10. The current rai
increased primarily due to the increase in inventdr$28.6 million for the reasons stated above.
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Net accounts receivable increased 4.2% from $6dl@mat December 31, 2009 to $70.9 million at Bewer 31, 2010. O
allowance for doubtful accounts increased from $fillion at December 31, 2009 to $0.2 million atd@mber 31, 2010. Quarte
accounts receivable days sales outstanding (DS@gaeed from 50 days as of December 31, 2009 Wag® as of December .
2010. Generally, the change in net accounts rebkevend DSO is due to the timing of sales and ctitles during the quarter. Otl
receivables decreased from $4.1 million at DecerBe2009 to $4.0 million at December 31, 2010.6Dtieceivables may fluctu:
due to the timing of collections for materials sligghto our contract manufacturers.

Quarterly inventory turnover decreased from 4.%suas of December 31, 2009 to 3.8 turns as of Deeefii, 2010. Invento
increased 62.6% from December 31, 2009 to DeceBthe2010. Our investment in inventory increasedmiu£010 to suppc
increasing customer demand, increases in investaedated to an increase in installation servicestracts, and to mitige
component supply constraints broadly affecting ithdustry. We expect inventory levels to fluctuate we attempt to mainte
sufficient inventory in response to seasonal cyde®ur business; ensuring competitive lead timdslevmanaging the risk
inventory obsolescence that may occur due to rgpigihnging technology and customer demand.

Accounts payable decreased 11.6% from $25.8 milliobDecember 31, 2009 to $22.8 million at Decen®ier2010. Generally, tl
change in accounts payable is due to variatiorthentiming of the receipt of supplies, inventorydaservices and our subseqt
payments for these purchases.

Investing Activitie:

Capital expenditures totaled approximately $9.9iom) $8.7 million and $9.5 million for the yearaded December 31, 2010, 2(
and 2008, respectively. These expenditures wenregpily used to purchase computer hardware, soft@ademanufacturing and t
equipment.

Our combined short-term and lotgrm investments increased $84.0 million from $834illion at December 31, 2009
$418.6 million at December 31, 2010. This increaskects the impact of additional funds availalbe ihvestment provided by c
operating activities, reduced by our cash needsdaipment acquisitions, stock repurchases andealins, as well as net realized
unrealized losses and amortization of net premiomsur combined investments.

We invest all available cash not required for immtsiuse in operations primarily in securities tiatbelieve bear minimal risk
loss. At December 31, 2010, these investmentsdieclumunicipal variable rate demand notes of $1d#llion, municipal fixedrate
bonds of $71.5 million and corporate bonds of $127illion. At December 31, 2009, these investmémttuded municipal variab
rate demand notes of $84.4 million, municipal fixate bonds of $141.3 million and corporate borfds20.4 million.

Our municipal variable rate demand notes are dladsas available-for-sale shdgrm investments. At December 31, 2010, 29'
our municipal variable rate demand notes had atar@tihg of AAA, 63% had a credit rating of AA, 8%@d a credit rating of A, a
all contained put options of seven days. Despi¢elthgterm nature of their stated contractual maturitves,routinely buy and st
these securities and we believe that we have tiigyab quickly liquidate them. Our investments tinese securities are recorde
fair value, and the interest rates reset everyrseags. We believe we have the ability to sell waniable rate demand notes to
remarketing agent, tender agent, or issuer at glrewplus accrued interest in the event we dead@tidate our investment in
particular variable rate demand note. At Decemiie2810, approximately 28% of our variable rate dechnotes were supported
letters of credit from banks that we believe toilbgood financial condition. The remaining 72% ofr wariable rate demand na
were supported by standby purchase agreements.résult of all of these factors, we had no cumuéatiross unrealized holdi
gains (losses) or gross realized gains (losses) fhese investments. All income generated fromethegestments was recordec
interest income. We have not been required to deany losses relating to municipal variable ratealed notes.

At December 31, 2010, approximately 15% of our mipail fixedrate bond portfolio had a credit rating of AAA, 74%d a cred
rating of AA, and 11% had a credit rating of A. Ehebonds are classified as availabledale investments and had an ave
duration of 1.2 years at December 31, 2010. Becaus®&ond portfolio has a high quality rating amhttactual maturities of a sh
duration, we are able to obtain prices for thesedbaderived from observable market inputs, or forilar securities traded in .
active market, on a daily basis.

At December 31, 2010, we held $127.1 million ofpzyate bonds. These bonds are classified as alaflatsale and had an aver:
duration of 2.0 years at December 31, 2010. At Bdsss 31, 2010, approximately 3% of our corporatadoportfolio had a crec
rating of AAA, 11% had a credit rating of AA, 51%udha credit rating of A, and 35% had a credit cpthBBB.
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Our longterm investments increased 61.0% from $162.2 milkd December 31, 2009 to $261.2 million at Decemie 201C
Municipal fixed-rate bonds classified as lotgm investments decreased $11.1 million from $53IRon at December 31, 2009
$42.1 million at December 31, 2010. The primansagafor the decrease in our loterm municipal fixed rate bonds was a chang
investment strategy that placed additional longatémvestments in corporate bonds. Ldegn investments at December 31, Z
and 2009 include an investment in a certificatedeposit of $48.3 million which serves as collatdi@l our revenue bonds,
discussed below. We have various equity investmiactaded in longterm investments at a cost of $11.5 million andB$8illion,
and with a fair value of $48.0 million and $33.9lian, at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectivislgluding a single equi
security, of which we held 1.5 million shares and million shares, carried at $34.2 million and ZRillion of fair value, ¢
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Thislesisgcurity traded approximately 1.0 million shapes day in 2010 in an acti
market on a European stock exchange. Of the groesalized gains included in the fair value of ouarketable securities
December 31, 2010 and 2009, this single securitypeized $33.7 million and $21.7 million, respectyvef the unrealized gain. T
remaining $3.0 million of gross unrealized gaingl &0.1 million in gross unrealized losses at Decam3i, 2010 were spre
amongst more than 415 marketable equity securitiegigterm investments at December 31, 2010 and 2009 ialsadec
$4.2 million and $3.4 million, respectively, reldteo our deferred compensation plan; $2.1 milliod 2.2 million, respectively,
other investments carried at cost, consisting ¢ér@sts in two private equity funds and an investma a privately hel
telecommunications equipment manufacturer; and $0llibn and $1.2 million, respectively, of a fixédcome bond fund. This bo
fund had unrealized gains of $0.2 million and $@iBion at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively

We review our investment portfolio for potentialttier-than-temporarydeclines in value on an individual investment hagé
assess, on a quarterly basis, significant decimeslue which may be considered other-thamporary and, if necessary, recog
and record the appropriate charge to wditevn the carrying value of such investments. In img@khis assessment, we take

consideration qualitative and quantitative inforimat including but not limited to the following: ¢hmagnitude and duration
historical declines in market prices, credit ratadivity, assessments of liquidity, public filingend statements made by the iss
We generally begin our identification of potentigher-thartemporary impairments by reviewing any securitytwatfair value th:
has declined from its original or adjusted costibéy 25% or more for six or more consecutive menie then evaluate 1
individual security based on the previously ideetiffactors to determine the amount of the wditsvn, if any. As a result of o
review, we did not record any other-the@mporary impairment charge during the fourth cgradf 2010. For the years en
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 we recorded chafg®43 thousand, $2.9 million and $2.4 millioespectively, related to t
other-thantemporary impairment of certain publicly traded igggecurities, a fixed income bond fund, and defgrcompensatic
plan assets.

Financing Activities

Fifty million dollars of the expansion of Phase df our corporate headquarters was approved faicgation in an incentiv
program offered by the Alabama State Industrial éa&wment Authority (the Authority). Pursuant to theogram, on January :
1995, the Authority issued $20.0 million of its &ke revenue bonds and loaned the proceeds frosateéef the bonds to ADTRA
The bonds were originally purchased by AmSouth BahlAlabama, Birmingham, Alabama (the Bank). WadhoBank, N.A.
Nashville, Tennessee (formerly First Union NatioBahk of Tennessee, Nashville, Tennessee) (the lRider), which was acquir
by Wells Fargo & Company on December 31, 2008, lmased the original bonds from the Bank and madé&duradvances to t
Authority, bringing the total amount outstanding®0.0 million. The incentive program enables p#rtiting companies to gener
Alabama corporate income tax credits that can kd tsreduce the amount of Alabama corporate indames that would otherwi
be payable, in exchange for investing capital arehting jobs in Alabama. We cannot be certain thatstate of Alabama w
continue to make these corporate income tax credislable; therefore, we may not realize the héhefit of these incentive
Through December 31, 2010, the Authority had issb&@l0 million of its taxable revenue bonds pursuarthe incentive progra
and loaned the proceeds from the sale of the bunA®TRAN. We are required to make payments toAléhority in the amoun
necessary to pay the principal of, and interest tba, Authoritys Taxable Revenue Bond, Series 1995, as amendegntly
outstanding in the aggregate principal amount & &4nillion. The bond matures on January 1, 2084, lzears interest at the rate
5% per annum. Included in lorigrm investments at December 31, 2010 is $48.3amilbf restricted funds, which is a collate
deposit against the principal amount of this bding. have the right to setf the balance of the Bond with the collateral a&ipin
order to reduce the balance of the indebtednessomjunction with this program, we are eligible receive certain econon
incentives from the state of Alabama that redueeatimount of payroll withholdings that we are regdito remit to the state for the
employment positions that qualify under the program

Due to continued positive cash flow from operatagtivities, we made a business decision in 200®egin an early parti
redemption of the Bond. It is our intent to makenwal principal payments in addition to the interasiounts that are due.
connection with this decision, $0.5 million of thend debt has been reclassified to a current iigbil the Consolidated Balan
Sheets at December 31, 2010 and 2009.
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The following table shows dividends paid in eaclarter of 2010, 2009 and 2008. During 2010, 2009 20@8, ADTRAN pai
dividends totaling $22.5 million, $22.5 million a$@2.9 million, respectively. The Board of Direct@resently anticipates that it v
declare a regular quarterly dividend so long aspiesent tax treatment of dividends exists and aateqlevels of liquidity al
maintained.

Dividends per Common Share

2010 2009 2008
First Quartel $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢
Second Quarte $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢
Third Quartel $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢
Fourth Quarte $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢

Stock Repurchase Program

Since 1997, our Board of Directors has approvedipielshare repurchase programs that have autldodpen market repurchz
transactions of up to 30 million shares of our cannstock. We currently have the authority to pusehan additional 2.0 millic
shares of our common stock under the plan apprbyeatle Board of Directors on April 14, 2008. Foe trears 2010, 2009 and 2C
we repurchased 0.7 million shares, 0.8 million ekaand 3.1 million shares, respectively, for a ©ds$18.3 million, $15.9 millio
and $63.6 million, respectively, at a weighted agerprice of $25.12, $21.05 and $20.65 per shespectively.

To accommodate employee stock option exercisesssued 1.5 million shares of treasury stock for.$24illion during the ye:
ended December 31, 2010, 0.9 million shares ofstngastock for $13.5 million during the year endedcember 31, 2009, a
0.3 million shares of treasury stock for $3.7 roilliduring the year ended December 31, 2008.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractualdgakibns

We have various contractual obligations and comiaeommitments. The following table sets forth, nmllions, the annui
payments we are required to make under contracasdl obligations and other commercial commitmenBeaember 31, 2010.

Contractual Obligations

(In millions) Total 2011 2012 2013 2014 After 2014
Long-term deb $ 48 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 48.(
Interest on lon-termdebt 21.¢ 2.4 2.4 2.4 2.4 12.C
Purchase obligatior 69.5 66.7 1.8 0.8 0.2 —
Operating lease obligatiol 4.8 1kt 1.1 0.7 0.7 0.8
Investment commitmen 0.5 — 0.4 0.1 — —
Totals $  144. $ 70.€ $ 5.7 $ 4.C $ 3.3 $ 60.€

We are required to make payments necessary tohgainterest on the Taxable Revenue Bond, Serie§, E9amended, currer
outstanding in the aggregate principal amount & &4nillion. The bond matures on January 1, 2084, lzears interest at the rate
5% per annum. Included in lorigem investments are $48.3 million of restrictedds, which is a collateral deposit against
principal amount of this bond.

We have committed to invest up to an aggregate/f illion in two private equity funds, and we lasontributed $8.0 million |
of December 31, 2010, of which $7.4 million hasrbapplied to these commitments. See Note 3 of Niot€onsolidated Financ
Statements for additional information.

We also have obligations related to uncertain inedmx positions that have not been included in tdide above due to t
uncertainty of when the related expense will begeized. See Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated FiahStatements for additior
information.

We do not have ofbalance sheet financing arrangements and havengaged in any related party transactions or arraegés witl
unconsolidated entities or other persons that emsanably likely to materially affect liquidity tine availability of or requiremer
for capital resources. See Notes 6 and 10 of NwtgSonsolidated Financial Statements for additianfdrmation on our reveni
bond and operating lease obligations, respectively.
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Effect of Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2009, the Financial Accounting StandaBimrd (FASB)issued Update No. 2003; which amends the Revel
Recognition topic of the FASB Accounting Standafdsdification (ASC). This update provides amendmebotghe criteria i
Subtopic 605-25 of the ASC for separating consiitamain multipledeliverable arrangements. As a result of those dments
multiple-deliverable arrangements will be separated in nwreumstances than under existing U.S. GAAP. Thesraiment
establish a selling price hierarchy for determinting selling price of a deliverable and will remabe term fair value in the revel
allocation guidance with selling price to clarifigat the allocation of revenue is based on emityeific assumptions rather tt
assumptions of a marketplace participant. The aments will also eliminate the residual method dbedtion and require th
arrangement consideration be allocated at the timoepf the arrangement to all deliverables usimg ttelative selling price meth
and will require that a vendor determine its basingate of selling price in a manner that is caesiswith that used to determine
price to sell the deliverable on a standalone basisse amendments will be effective prospectifetyevenue arrangements ente
into or materially modified in fiscal years begingion or after June 15, 2010, with early adoptiemptted. We do not expect !
adoption of this amendment will have a materialaatpon our consolidated results of operationsrarfcial condition.

In October 2009, the FASB issued Update No. 2089which amends the Software topic of the ASC. dimendments in this upd
change the accounting model for revenue arrangentieat include both tangible products and softvedeenents. Tangible produ
containing software components and non-softwarepomnts that function together to deliver the thlgiproducts essentii
functionality is no longer within the scope of theftware revenue guidance in Subtopic 85 of the ASC. In addition, t
amendments in this update require that hardwarepooents of a tangible product containing softwaoengonents always
excluded from the software revenue guidance. Ihrégard, the amendments provide additional guidamchow to determine whi
software, if any, relating to the tangible prodatso would be excluded from the scope of the softwavenue guidance. T
amendments also provide guidance on how a vendaidlallocate arrangement consideration to delblesain an arrangement t
includes both tangible products and software. Theralments also provide further guidance on howlitucate arrangeme
consideration when an arrangement includes deliesaboth included and excluded from the scopehef goftware reveni
guidance. These amendments will be effective paspdy for revenue arrangements entered into otendly modified in fisce
years beginning on or after June 15, 2010, withyestoption permitted. We do not expect the adaptibthis amendment will ha
a material impact on our consolidated results @rapons or financial condition.

During 2010, we adopted the following accountiranstards, which had no material effect on our codatdd results of operations
financial condition:

In January 2010, the FASB issued Update No. 208,0which amends the Fair Value Measurements asdld3iures topic of tl
ASC. The amendments in this update require newladises about transfers in and out of Level 1 amdel 2 fair valu
measurements and the activity in Level 3 fair vaheasurements and, in addition, clarify existingcltisures required for levels
disaggregation and inputs and valuation technigié®se amendments are effective for interim anduanneporting perioc
beginning after December 15, 2009, except for thelasures about activity in Level 3 fair value rm@@ments, which is effective
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2010,fanthterim periods within those fiscal years. \At#opted this amendment dur
the period ended March 31, 2010, and we have peovide disclosures required for the three and ®velenths ended December
2010.

In February 2010, the FASB issued Update No. 209,0a4hich amends the Subsequent Events topic oA8®. The amendments
this update require entities that are SEC filersuwaluate subsequent events through the datehhdinancial statements are isst
Additionally, SEC filers are no longer requireddigclose the date through which subsequent evesrts evaluated. The amendm:e
in this update were effective upon issuance. Wedbthis amendment during the period ended Maicl2@10.

Subsequent Events

On January 18, 2011, the Board declared a quartadi dividend of $0.09 per common share to be fpastiockholders of record
the close of business on February 3, 2011. Theehadividend payment was $5.8 million and wasdpai February 17, 2011.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Details regarding the fair value of our availabde-$ale investments as of December 31, 2010 are disdus Note 3 of Notes
Consolidated Financial Statements included inréirt.

We are exposed to financial market risks, includaignges in interest rates and prices of marketatpaty and fixedncome
securities. The primary objective of the large migjoof our investment activities is to preservénpipal while at the same tir
achieving appropriate yields without significanihgreasing risk. To achieve this objective, a majaf our marketable securities
investment grade, corporate and municipal fire- bonds, municipal variable rate demand not&s rannicipal money mark
instruments denominated in United States dollatsDécember 31, 2010, 29% of our municipal variataie demand notes ha
credit rating of AAA, 63% had a credit rating of AB% had a credit rating of A, and all contained @ptions of seven days.
December 31, 2010, approximately 15% of our muaicfpxed+ate bond portfolio had a credit rating of AAA, 748ad a cred
rating of AA, and 11% had a credit rating of A. Bécember 31, 2010, approximately 3% of our corgobaind portfolio had a cre
rating of AAA, 11% had a credit rating of AA, 51%udha credit rating of A, and 35% had a credit cpthBBB.

We maintain depository investments with certainaficial institutions. Although these depository isimeents may exce
government insured depository limits, we have eatgld the credit worthiness of these financial ing8tins, and determined the r
of material financial loss due to exposure of sadit risk to be minimal. As of December 31, 20%22.0 million of our cash a
cash equivalents, primarily certain domestic moneyrket funds and foreign depository accounts, vierexcess of governme
provided insured depository limits.

As of December 31, 2010, approximately $333.3 omillof our cash and investments may be directlyctgte by changes in inter
rates. We have performed a hypothetical sensitmitglysis assuming market interest rates increaske@ease by 50 basis po
(bps), for an entire year, while all other varigbtemain constant. At December 31, 2010, we he#f2 $1million of money mark
instruments and municipal variable rate demand snethere a change in interest rates would impactioi@rest income.
hypothetical 50 bps decline in interest rates aBadember 31, 2010 would reduce annualized intémestme on our money marl
instruments and municipal variable rate demandsioyeapproximately $0.5 million. In addition, weldh191.3 million of municipz
fixed-rate bonds and corporate bonds whose fair valuebmagirectly affected by a change in interest ratelypothetical 50 by
increases in interest rates as of December 31, @L0J reduce the fair value of our municipal fixede bonds and corporate bo
by approximately $1.7 million.

As of December 31, 2009, interest income on apprately $264.1 million of our cash and investmenés wubject to being direc
affected by changes in interest rates. We performdrypothetical sensitivity analysis assuming maikierest rates increase
decrease by 50 bps for an entire year, while akkovariables remain constant. A hypothetical 58 thgcline in interest rates as
December 31, 2009 would have reduced annualizedeistt income on our money market instruments andigipal variable rat
demand notes by approximately $0.6 million. In #&ddj hypothetical 50 bps increase in interestsrate of December 31, 2(
would have reduced the fair value of our municipad-rate bonds and corporate bonds by approxim&®8 million.

We are directly exposed to changes in foreign ausreexchange rates to the extent that such chaaffges our revenue derived fr
international customers, expenses related to aaidio sales offices, and our foreign assets ariilitias. We attempt to mana
these risks by primarily denominating contractuad ather foreign arrangements in U.S. dollars. @rimary exposure in regard
our foreign assets and liabilities is with our Aatian subsidiary whose functional currency is Mustralian dollar. We are indirec
exposed to changes in foreign currency exchangss tatthe extent of our use of foreign contract ufacturers and foreign re
material suppliers whom we pay in U.S. dollars.ad®sult, changes in the local currency rateseddtvendors in relation to the L
dollar could cause an increase in the price of petithat we purchase.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The following consolidated financial statements@gtained in this report.
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MANAGEMENT’'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANC IAL REPORTING

Management of ADTRAN, Inc. is responsible for eBsiing and maintaining adequate internal contr@rdfinancial reporting :
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under $Sieeurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. ADTRANMNernal control owt
financial reporting is designed to provide reastmassurance regarding the reliability of financigorting and the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with generally accepted accounting principdd3TRAN’s internal contre
over financial reporting includes those policiesl anocedures that:

. pertain to the maintenance of records that, inoeasle detail, accurately and fairly reflect thangactions and dispositic
of the assets of ADTRAN

. provide reasonable assurance that transactioneeepeded as necessary to permit preparation ohdiah statements
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipies; and that receipts and expenditures of ADTR#8I being mac
only in accordance with authorizations of managemaed directors of ADTRAN; an

. provide reasonable assurance regarding preventidgimely detection of unauthorized acquisition, wsedisposition ¢
ADTRAN'’s assets that could have a material effect onitlaadial statement:

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @ttaisstatements. Also, projectic
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future pesiade subject to the risk that controls may becoradequate because of change
conditions, or that the degree of compliance whithpolicies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of ADTRAMNErnal control over financial reporting as céd@mber 31, 2010. In maki
this assessment, management used the criteriarietofy the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiohthe Treadway Commissii
(COSO) ininternal Control-Integrated Framework.

Based on our assessment and those criteria, mapagémras concluded that ADTRAN maintained effeciiviernal control ove
financial reporting as of December 31, 2010.

The effectiveness of our internal control over figial reporting has been audited by Pricewaterh@aspers LLP, an independ
registered public accounting firm, as stated inrtieport which appears herein.

41




Table of Contents

Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm
To Board of Directors and Stockholders of ADTRANG

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the accompanying index present faiiyall material respects, tl
financial position of ADTRAN, Inc. and its subsidies at December 31, 2010 and December 31, 20a9 tten results of the
operations and their cash flows for each of thedhyears in the period ended December 31, 201@rifonity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United StafeSmerica. In addition, in our opinion, the finaalcstatement schedule listed in-
accompanying indegresents fairly, in all material respects, theiinfation set forth therein when read in conjunctioth the relatec
consolidated financial statements. Also in our @pinthe Company maintained, in all material respeeffective internal contr
over financial reporting as of December 31, 20E3¢dl on criteria establishedlimernal Control — Integrated Framewoigsued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of theafltvay Commission (COSO). The Compangyianagement is responsible
these financial statements and financial statersegm¢dule, for maintaining effective internal cohtvaer financial reporting and f
its assessment of the effectiveness of internakrabover financial reporting, included in the angmanyingManagemens Report Ot
Internal Control Over Financial Reportin@Our responsibility is to express opinions on thfasancial statements, on the financ
statement schedule, and on the Compaimternal control over financial reporting basedoar integrated audits. We conducted
audits in accordance with the standards of thei@@@mpany Accounting Oversight Board (United Stat@hose standards requ
that we plan and perform the audits to obtain nealkle assurance about whether the financial stasnare free of materi
misstatement and whether effective internal corav@r financial reporting was maintained in all exél respects. Our audits of t
financial statements included examining, on abeasis, evidence supporting the amounts and diseélssn the financial statemen
assessing the accounting principles used and gigntfestimates made by management, and evaluagngverall financial stateme
presentation. Our audit of internal control ovaraficial reporting included obtaining an understagddf internal control ove
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a nelteveakness exists, and testing and evaluatieglésign and operating effectiven
of internal control based on the assessed risk.aDdits also included performing such other proceslas we considered neces:
in the circumstances. We believe that our auditside a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is @@ess designed to provide reasonable assuranadiragthe reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsiatements for external purposes in accordantte generally accepted account
principles. A company internal control over financial reporting incledéhose policies and procedures that (i) pertainht
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detedurately and fairly reflect the transactions dispositions of the assets of 1
company; (i) provide reasonable assurance thasaetions are recorded as necessary to permitrptepaof financial statements
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipies; and that receipts and expenditures of tlepamy are being made only
accordance with authorizations of management anectdirs of the company; and (iii) provide reasomsabssurance regardi
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized asigjion, use, or disposition of the compasigssets that could have a material e
on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @ttaisstatements. Also, projectic
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future pesiade subject to the risk that controls may becoraéequate because of change
conditions, or that the degree of compliance whithpolicies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Birmingham, Alabami
February 25, 201

42




Table of Contents

Financial Statements

ADTRAN, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets (In thousands, exceptghare amounts)
December 31, 2010 and 201

2010 2009
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalel $ 31,67: $ 24,13¢
Shor-term investment 157,47¢ 172,46¢
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtfgoamts of $162 and $138 at December
2010 and 2009, respective 70,89 68,04«
Other receivable 3,96% 4,097
Income tax receivable, n 2,741 —
Inventory 74,27¢ 45,67¢
Prepaid expenst 3,27( 2,79¢
Deferred tax assets, r 10,61" 8,60:
Total current assets 354,91: 325,81
Property, plant and equipment, | 73,98t 74,30¢
Other asset 1,91¢ 2,16¢
Long-term investment 261,16( 162,16¢
Total assets $ 691,97 $ 564,46:
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payabl $ 22,78¢ $ 25,78:
Unearned revent 10,13¢ 7,13¢
Accrued expense 4,91z 4,20z
Accrued wages and benef 12,12¢ 7,63¢
Income tax payable, n — 3,017
Total current liabilities 49,96: 47,77:
Deferred tax liabilities, ne 10,35( 5,03t
Other nor-current liabilities 11,84: 11,39(
Bonds payabl 47,50( 47,75(
Total liabilities 119,65. 111,94t
Commitments and contingencies (see Note
Stockholders' equity
Common stock, par value $0.01 per share; 200,08(eslauthorized; 79,652 issued in 2010
and 200¢ 797 797
Additional paic-in capital 193,86t 181,24(
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 26,94¢ 17,85:
Retained earning 731,96:. 649,25¢
Less treasury stock at cost: 16,642 and 17,392stmDecember 31, 2010 and 2009,
respectively (381,25) (396,63)
Total stockholders’ equity 572,32. 452 51!
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 691,97 $ 564,46

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofél@msolidated financial statements.

43




Table of Contents

ADTRAN, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Income (In thousands;ept per share amounts)
Years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

2010 2009 2008

Sales $ 605,67 $ 484,18 $ 500,67t
Cost of sale: 246,81 197,22: 201,77:

Gross profit 358,86 286,96: 298,90!
Selling, general, and administrative exper 114,69¢ 99,44¢ 103,28t
Research and development exper 90,30( 83,28¢ 81,81¢

Operating income 153,86« 104,23: 113,80(
Interest and dividend incon 6,551 6,93: 8,70¢
Interest expens (2,430 (2,430 (2,519
Net realized investment gain (los 11,00¢ (1,297%) (2,409
Other income (expense), r (8049) 131 68€

Income before provision for income taxe: 168,18¢ 107,56¢ 118,27:
Provision for income taxe (54,200 (33,347) (39,697)

Net income $ 113,98¢ $ 74,22: $ 78,58:
Weighted average shares outstan— basic 62,49( 62,45¢ 63,54¢
Weighted average shares outstan— diluted (1) 63,87¢ 63,35¢ 64,40¢
Earnings per common she— basic $ 1.82 $ 1.1¢ $ 1.24
Earnings per common she— diluted (1) $ 1.7¢ $ 1.17 $ 1.22

(1) Assumes exercise of dilutive stock options caledatinder the treasury method. See Notes 1 and IltheofNotes t
Consolidated Financial Statemer

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofélmmsolidated financial statements.

44




Table of Contents

ADTRAN, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockhold&guity and Comprehensive Income (In thousands)
Years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

Accumulated

Additional Other Total
Common Common Paid-In Retained Treasury Comprehensive  Stockholders’
Shares Stock Capital Earnings Stock Income (Loss) Equity
Balance, December 31, 20C 79,65: $ 797 $ 164,388 $ 551,76:¢ $ (344,21) $ 570 $ 378,43:
Net income 78,58! 78,58!
Net change in unrealized gains/losses
related to:
Marketable securities (net of deferred
tax of $3,638 (6,127) (6,127
Impaired marketable securities (net
deferred tax of $74C 1,23¢ 1,23¢
Foreign currency translation adjustm (1,829 (1,829
Comprehensive inconr 71,86¢
Dividend payment (22,919 (22,919
Dividends accrued for unvested restricted
stock units 2 2
Stock options exercised: Various prices per
share (3,829 7,51t 3,691
Purchase of treasury stock: 3,078 shi (63,56¢) (63,569
Income tax benefit from exercise of stock
options 981 981
Stoclk-based compensation expel 7,33¢ 7,33¢
Balance, December 31, 20C 79,65: $ 797 $ 172,770 $ 603,60 $ (400,27) $ (1,009 $ 375,81¢
Net income 74,22 74,22
Net change in unrealized gains/losses
related to:
Marketable securities (net of deferr
tax of $9,218 15,38¢ 15,38¢
Impaired marketable securities (net
deferred tax of $617 1,01C 1,01(
Foreign currency translation adjustm: 2,46¢ 2,46¢
Comprehensive inconr 93,08t
Dividend payment (22,48¢) (22,48¢)
Dividends accrued for unvested restricted
stock units (12 (12
Stock options exercised: Various prices p
share (6,067) 19,53¢ 13,471
Purchase of treasury stock: 755 shi (15,89¢) (15,89¢)
Income tax benefit from exercise of stock
options 1,54¢ 1,54¢
Stocl-based compensation expel 6,981 6,981
Balance, December 31, 2009 79,65: $ 797 $ 181,24( $ 649,25¢ $ (396,63) $ 17,85¢ $ 452,51!
Net income 113,98¢ 113,98¢
Net change in unrealized gains/losses
related to:
Marketable securities (net of deferred
tax of $5,223' 8,70( 8,70(
Impaired marketable securities (nef
deferred tax of $59¢ (999) (999)
Foreign currency translation adjustm 1,39/ 1,394
Comprehensive incorr 123,08
Dividend payment (22,507) (22,507
Dividends accrued for unvested restricted
stock units (27) (27)
Stock options exercised: Various prices per
share (8,759 33,69¢ 24,94;
Purchase of treasury stock: 729 sh: (18,31¢) (18,31¢)
Income tax benefit from exercise of stock
options 4,90¢ 4,90¢
Stoclk-based compensation expel 7,710 7,717
Balance, December 31, 2010 79,65: $ 797 $ 19386t $ 731,96: $ (381,25) $ 26,94¢ $ 572,32.

ADTRAN issued 1,483 shares, 856 shares and 32&sludrtreasury stock to accommodate employee stptikn exercises duril
2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. During 201020@B, ADTRAN received 4 shares and 9 shares, résphg previously held b
employees for at least six months as payment oétieecise price for employee stock options. Nontheftransactions with respec
these shares were made in the open market. Thagev@rice paid per share with respect to theseardions was based on
closing price of the common stock on the NASDAQ legloSelect Market on the date of the transactidmerd were no su

transactions during 2009.

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofél@msolidated financial stateme..
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ADTRAN, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (In thousands
Years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

2010 2009 2008
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $ 113,98¢ $ 74,22: $ 78,58:
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortizatic 10,54¢ 10,08« 9,891
Amortization of net premium on availa-for-sale investment 4,38( 3,68¢ 2,101
Net realized loss (gain) on lo-term investment (11,009 1,29 2,40¢
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and popgnt 2 (32) 83
Stocl-based compensation expel 7,715 6,987 7,33¢
Deferred income taxe (1,329 (1,029 (903)
Tax benefit from stock option exercis 4,90¢ 1,54¢ 981
Excess tax benefits from stc-based compensation arrangeme (4,409 (99¢) (619)
Change in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivable, n (2,849 (15,149 17,91¢
Other receivable 13t (1,195 18¢
Income tax receivable, n (2,74)) — —
Inventory (28,600 1,73 1,14(
Prepaid expenses and other as (574) (48¢9) (549)
Accounts payabl (2,999 5,44 (1,887
Accrued expenses and other liabilit 8,62¢ 1,01(C 93
Income taxes payable, r (3,019 3,02 (957)
Net cash provided by operating activities 92,78¢ 90,15¢ 115,81!
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipn (9,872) (8,740 (9,497)
Proceeds from sales and maturities of avai-for-sale investmeni 275,44. 186,19: 248,68
Purchases of availal-for-sale investment (340,489 (262,06) (242,79)
Acquisition of business, net of cash acqui — (1,370 —
Net cash used in investing activities (74,919 (85,989 (3,59%)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from stock option exerci: 24,94 13,47: 3,691
Purchases of treasury stc (18,31¢) (15,89¢) (63,569
Dividend payment (22,507) (22,48¢) (22,919
Payments on lor-term debt (250 (500 (250)
Excess tax benefits from stc-based compensation arrangeme 4,40 99¢ 61¢
Net cash used in financing activitie: (11,729 (24,419 (82,429
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 6,14¢ (20,247 29,79:
Effect of exchange rate chang 1,39¢ 2,46¢ (1,824
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of ye: 24,13t 41,90¢ 13,94:
Cash and cash equivalents, end of ye: $ 31,67" $ 24,13t $ 41,90¢
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informal
Cash paid during the year for inter $ 2,411 $ 2,43t $ 2,44
Cash paid during the year for income ta $ 57,66: $ 30,86¢ $ 42,267

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofélemsolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemel
Note 1 — Nature of Business and Summary of Signiimt Accounting Policies

ADTRAN, Inc. designs, manufactures, markets andises network access solutions for communicatiete/arks. Our solutions &
widely deployed by providers of communications g=s (serviced by our Carrier Networks Divisionpdasmall and midsizec
enterprises (SMEs) (serviced by our Enterprise Mete/Division), and enable voice, data, video amdrhet communications acri
wireline and wireless networks. Many of these gohg are currently in use by every major Unitedetaervice provider and me
global ones, as well as by many public, private gmeernmental organizations worldwide.

Principles of Consolidation

Our consolidated financial statements include ADTNRand its wholly owned subsidiaries. All signifi¢anter-company accoun
and transactions have been eliminated in consadiulat

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents represent demand depositey market funds, and sheéetm investments classified as available for
with original maturities of three months or lesse Wiaintain depository investments with certainriizial institutions. Although the
depository investments may exceed government idsiggository limits, we have evaluated the creditthiness of these applica
financial institutions, and determined the riskroéterial financial loss due to exposure of suchdicrésk to be minimal. As «
December 31, 2010, $22.0 million of our cash anshcaquivalents, primarily certain domestic moneykegfunds and foreic
depository accounts, were in excess of governm@wiged insured depository limits.

Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts reported in the consolidatgldrize sheets for cash and cash equivalents, ascmaeivable, and accou
payable approximate fair value due to the immedateshortterm maturity of these financial instruments. Tterging amour
reported for bonds payable was $48.0 million coregdo an estimated fair value of $42.5 million, dth®n a debt security witt
comparable interest rate and maturity and a Stanf@l&oor’s credit rating of A+.

Investments with maturities beyond one year, sgcbus municipal variable rate demand notes, magldmsified as shoterm base
on their highly liquid nature and because such etatie securities represent the investment of dashis available for curre
operations. At December 31, 2010, 29% of our mpaicvariable rate demand notes had a credit ratfn§AA, 63% had a crec
rating of AA, 8% had a credit rating of A, and atintained put options of seven days. Despite thgderm nature of their stat
contractual maturities, we routinely buy and dedise securities and we believe that we have thigyabiquickly liquidate them. O1
investments in these securities are recorded mvd#iie, and the interest rates reset every seags. Ve believe we have the abi
to sell our variable rate demand notes to the rketiaug agent, tender agent, or issuer at par vallug accrued interest in the ev
we decide to liquidate our investment in a paréicuariable rate demand note. At December 31, 28pfroximately 28% of o
variable rate demand notes were supported by detibcredit from banks that we believe to be ind@ydéimancial condition. Tt
remaining 72% of our variable rate demand notegwapported by standby purchase agreements. Asikh oé these factors, we
no cumulative gross unrealized holding gains (Issse gross realized gains (losses) from thesestments at December 31, 2C
All income generated from these investments wasrdex as interest income. We have not been reqtorestord any losses relat
to municipal variable rate demand notes.

Long-term investments represent a restricted ¢eatd of deposit, municipal fixedkte bonds, corporate bonds, a fixed income
fund, marketable equity securities, and other gguitestments. Marketable equity securities aremeypl at fair value as determir
by the most recently traded price of the securdiethe balance sheet date, although the securitzgsnot be readily marketable «
to the size of the available market. Unrealizechgaind losses, net of tax, are reported as a $epavmponent of stockholders’
equity. Realized gains and losses on sales of iiesuare computed under the specific identifioatroethod and are included
current income. We periodically review our investigortfolio for investments considered to havetaned an other-than-
temporary decline in value. Impairment chargesdthrer-thantemporary declines in value are recorded as rehliasses in tr
accompanying consolidated statements of incomeofAdiur investments at December 31, 2010 and 288%lassified as available-
for-sale (see Note 3).
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Accounts Receivable

We record accounts receivable at net realizableevarior to issuing payment terms to a new custpwe perform a detailed cre
review of the customer. Credit limits are estaldisfior each new customer based on the resultdétadit review. Payment ter
are established for each new customer, and calle@kperience is reviewed periodically in orderd&termine if the customer’
payment terms and credit limits need to be revised.

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accountslémises resulting from the inability of our customé&r make required paymer
We regularly review the allowance for doubtful agets and consider factors such as the age of atcoeceivable balances,

current economic conditions that may affect a austits ability to pay, significant onime events and our historical experienc
the financial condition of a customer deterioratesulting in an impairment of their ability to neagayments, we may be require
make additional allowances. If circumstances chawif regard to individual receivable balances thawe previously be:
determined to be uncollectible (and for which ac#je reserve has been established), a reductiooumallowance for doubtf
accounts may be required. Our allowance for doulztéeounts was $162 thousand at December 31, 20d0$438 thousand

December 31, 2009.

Other Receivables

Other receivables are comprised primarily of amsuhie from subcontract manufacturers for produptpmment transfers, accrt
interest on a restricted certificate of deposit antbunts due from employee stock option exercises.

Inventory

Inventory is carried at the lower of cost or markeith cost being determined using the first-imstiout method. Standard costs
material, labor and manufacturing overhead are usedhlue inventory. Standard costs are updateléast quarterly; therefol
inventory costs approximate actual costs at theafrehch reporting period. We establish reservegd$timated excess, obsolett
unmarketable inventory equal to the difference leetwthe cost of the inventory and the estimatadvidue of the inventory bas
upon assumptions about future demand and markelit@ms. When we dispose of excess and obsoleeniovies, the related write-
downs are charged against the inventory reserve.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment, which are statexbst, are depreciated using straighé depreciation over the estimated useful |
of the assets. We depreciate building and land argments from five to 39 years, office machinerg agquipment from three
seven years, engineering machinery and equipment three to seven years and computer software fivee to five year
Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are cbai@expense as incurred. Betterments that mdiepablong the lives of tr
assets are capitalized. The cost of assets ratiretherwise disposed of and the related accundildépreciation are removed fr
the accounts, and the gain or loss on such dispos# included in other income, net in the acconyidg consolidated statements
income.

Liability for Warranty

Our products generally include warranties of ongetoyears for product defects. We accrue for vyreeturns at the time rever
is recognized based on our estimate of the coetpair or replace the defective products. We engagstensive product qual
programs and processes, including actively momi¢peind evaluating the quality of our component fisgp Our products contin
to become more complex in both size and functibynas many of our product offerings migrate fromelicard applications
systems products. The increasing complexity ofppoducts will cause warranty incidences, when thgse, to be more costly. C
estimates regarding future warranty obligations mhgnge due to product failure rates, material eisagd other rework co
incurred in correcting a product failure. In adalitj from time to time, specific warranty accrualaynbe recorded if unforese
problems arise. Should our actual experience velat these factors be worse than our estimatesyiléde required to recol
additional warranty expense. Alternatively, if weoyide for more reserves than we require, we valferse a portion of su
provisions in future periods. The liability for wanty obligations totaled $3.3 million and $2.8lmait at December 31, 2010 ¢
2009, respectively. These liabilities are incluitedccrued expenses in the accompanying consalidetiance sheets.
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A summary of warranty expense and write-off acyivdr the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2089 fisllows:

Year Ended December 31

(In thousands) 2010 2009
Balance at beginning of peri $ 2,83 $ 2,81z
Plus: amounts acquired or charged to cost and egg 5,30¢ 2,66t
Less: deduction (4,83¢) (2,644)

Balance at end of period $ 3,30¢ $ 2,83t

Stock-Based Compensation

We have two Board and stockholder approved stotibmoplans from which stock options and other awaarke available for grant
employees and directors. All employee and direstock options granted under our stock option plenge an exercise price eque
the fair market value of the award, as definechi plan, of the underlying common stock on the gdate. There are currently
vesting provisions tied to performance or marketditions for any option awards; vesting for all stahding option grants is ba
only on continued service as an employee or diradftdA DTRAN. All of our outstanding stock option awds are classified as eqt
awards.

Under the provisions of our approved plans, we ng@ats of performanckased restricted stock units to five of our exe@
officers in 2010, 2009 and 2008. The restrictealstanits are subject to a market condition basedherrelative total shareholc
return of ADTRAN against a peer group of compani2808 and 2009 grant) or against all the compairiethe NASDAC
Telecommunications Index (2010 grant) and vesthat énd of a thregear performance period. The restricted stock uait
converted into shares of common stock upon vesbregending on the relative total shareholder retwer the performance perit
the executive officers may earn from 0% to 150%hefnumber of restricted stock units granted. Eievialue of the award is bas
on the market price of our common stock on the déigrant, adjusted for the expected outcome ofitiigact of market conditiol
using a Monte Carlo Simulation valuation methode Thcipients of the restricted stock units alsoaetividend credits during tl
performance period, which will be paid in cash uflmmissuance of common stock for the restrictedkstinits.

Stockbased compensation expense recognized under thk Stampensation Topic of the Financial Accountirtgridlards Boal
Accounting Standards Codification (FASB ASC) in 20122009 and 2008 was approximately $7.7 million,0%illion anc
$7.3 million, respectively. As of December 31, 20th@al compensation cost related to n@sted stock options, restricted stock t
and restricted stock not yet recognized was apprately $20.3 million, which is expected to be retdagd over an avera
remaining recognition period of 3.1 years. See Noté Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementsdiditional information.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We review longlived assets for impairment under the guidancecpitesd by the Property, Plant and Equipment Topithe FASE
ASC. We evaluate lonfived assets used in operations for impairment wkienevents or changes in circumstances indicatetk
carrying amount of an asset may not be recovemfdethe undiscounted cash flows estimated to bergtsd by the asset are |
than the asset’carrying value. An impairment loss would be retipgd in the amount by which the recorded valughef asse
exceeds the fair value of the asset, measured dyjibted market price of an asset or an estimatedban the best informati
available in the circumstances. There were no suphirment losses recognized during 2010, 2009682

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs include compendati@mgineers and support personnel, outside acietd services, depreciat
and material costs associated with new productldpseent, the enhancement of current products, aodugt cost reductions. v
continually evaluate new product opportunities @mdjage in intensive research and product developeférts. Research a
development costs totaled $90.3 million, $83.3iomlland $81.8 million for the years ended Decen®igr2010, 2009 and 20(
respectively.

Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income consists of all changes intye@oet assets) during a period from nomner sources. Items included
comprehensive income include net income, changesiinalized gains and losses on marketable sexsjriind foreign curren

translation adjustments. Comprehensive incomedseuted in the Consolidated Statements of ChanggttkholdersEquity anc
Comprehensive Income.

49




Table of Contents

The components of accumulated comprehensive in¢sg) are as follows:

Change in
Unrealized Gains Foreign Accumulated
and (Losses) on Currency Other
Marketable Translation Comprehensive
(In thousands) Securities, Net of Ta:  Adjustment Income (Loss)
Balance at December 31, 20C $ 4,64¢ $ 1,05¢ $ 5,704
Activity in 2008 (4,889 (1,829 (6,719
Balance at December 31, 20C (243) (76€) (2,009
Activity in 2009 16,39 2,46¢ 18,86:
Balance at December 31, 2009 16,15 1,70z 17,85:
Activity in 2010 7,701 1,39/ 9,09t
Balance at December 31, 201 $ 23,85. $ 3,09¢ $ 26,94¢

Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes has been determirsgnly the asset and liability approach of accognfior income taxes. Under tl
approach, deferred taxes represent the futuredasetjuences expected to occur when the reportedrasnof assets and liabiliti
are recovered or paid. The provision for incomessapepresents income taxes paid or payable facufrent year plus the change
deferred taxes during the year. Deferred taxedtréem the difference between financial and tasdmof our assets and liabilit
and are adjusted for changes in tax rates andatag When such changes are enacted. Valuation altmsaare recorded to red
deferred tax assets when it is more likely thanthat a tax benefit will not be realized.

Foreign Currency

We record transactions denominated in foreign ogies on a monthly basis using exchange rates fhooughout the year. Ass
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies @ianslated at the balance sheet dates usingdbieg rates of exchange betw
those foreign currencies and the U.S. dollar witly ransaction gains or losses reported in incoltgustments from translati
financial statements of international subsidiaaesrecorded as a component of accumulated compsieleencome (loss).

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is generally recognized upon shipmenteptbduct to our customer in accordance with tie tiiansfer terms of the sa
agreement, generally FOB shipping point. In theeaafsconsigned inventory, revenue is recognizednthe end customer assur
ownership of the product. When contracts contaitftiple elements, contract interpretation is somesnmequired to determine -
appropriate accounting, including whether the dehbles specified in a multiple element contracusth be treated as separate L
of accounting for revenue recognition purposes,, éhdo, how the price should be allocated amorg elements and when
recognize the revenue for each element. We re@vehue associated with installation services whlecoatractual obligations a
complete. Contracts that include both installagernvices and product sales are evaluated for revewognition in accordance w
contract terms. As a result, depending on contsants, installation services may be considered separate deliverable item or n
be considered an element of the delivered prodiittier the purchaser, ADTRAN, or a third party ganform the installation of o
products. Shipping fees are recorded as revenu¢hanelated cost is included in cost of sales.gRee is recorded net of discou
Also, revenue is recorded when the product pricéxexd or determinable, collection of the resultirgceivable is probable, a
product returns are reasonably estimable. Salesnsetare accrued based on historical sales retyparience, which we belie
provides a reasonable estimate of future returns.

A portion of Enterprise Networks products are swlch nonexclusive distribution network of major technolodigtributors in th
United States. These large organizations theniluligér to an extensive network of valadded resellers and system integra
Value-added resellers and system integrators may bétdfil with us as a channel partner, or they maghage from the distribut

in an unaffiliated fashion. Additionally, with caih limitations our distributors may return unused unopened product for stock-
balancing purposes when such returns are accontpbyieffsetting orders for products of equal oragee value.

We participate in cooperative advertising and miad&velopment programs with certain customers. \&fe these programs
reimburse customers for certain forms of advemjisend in general, to allow our customers creditdaia specified percentage
their net purchases. Our costs associated witle thesgrams are estimated and included in marketipegenses in our consolida
statements of income. We also participate in repavgrams to provide sales incentives for certadpcts. Our costs associg
with these programs are estimated and accruedeatirtte of sale, and are recorded as a reductiogalefs in our consolidat
statements of income.
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Unearned Revenue

Unearned revenue primarily represents customeingdlon our maintenance service programs and éefaevenues relating
multiple element contracts where we still have cactual obligations to our customers. We curreoffer maintenance contra
ranging from one to five years, primarily on Entésp Networks Division products sold through dlsition channels. Reven
attributable to maintenance contracts is recognaed straightine basis over the related contract term. In aoidjitwe provid:
software maintenance and a variety of hardware tera@mce services to Carrier Network Division custsrunder contracts w
terms up to ten years. Non-current unearned revenueluded in other nonurrent liabilities in the accompanying consolidi
balance sheets. At December 31, 2010 and 2009¢rneteevenue was as follows:

(In thousands) 2010 2009

Current unearned reven $ 10,13¢ $ 7,13¢
Non-current unearned reven 3,801 3,91°F
Total $ 13,93¢ $ 11,05:

Other Income, net

Other income, net, is comprised primarily of mismetous income and expense, gains and losses @grfazurrency transactiol
investment account management fees, and gainssedoon the disposal of property, plant and equipmecurring in the norm
course of business.

Earnings per Share

Earnings per common share, and earnings per conghare assuming dilution, are based on the weightedage number
common shares and, when dilutive, common equivaleates outstanding during the year (see Note 11).

Dividends

The Board of Directors presently anticipates thatill declare a regular quarterly dividend as loagythe current tax treatmeni
dividends exists and adequate levels of liquidigy maintained. During the years ended Decembe2@10, 2009 and 2008, we p
$22.5 million, $22.5 million and $22.9 million, pectively, in dividend payments. On January 18,12Ghe Board of Directo
declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.09 permomshare to be paid to holders of record at theecbf business on Februar
2011. The exdividend date was February 1, 2011 and the payaeetwas February 17, 2011. The quarterly dividesgnent wa
$5.8 million.

Business Combinations

On September 15, 2009, we acquired all of the antihg stock of Objectworld Communications Corporat(Objectworld),
provider of unified communication solutions. Thergmse of this acquisition was to acquire unifiednoaunications technologie
These technologies have been integrated into otWawa® product line. The purchase price was approximakélp million in cas
subject to certain post closing adjustments, ansl allacated to the individual assets and liabgi#gequired. There was no good
determined in the final purchase price allocati@bjectworlds financial statements have been included in oursalidate!
statements of income and cash flows since the afafge acquisition and our consolidated balancetshdated December 31, 2!
and 2009.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith accounting principles generally acceptedha United States of Ameri
requires management to make estimates and assaspiat affect the reported amounts of assetsiahdities, the disclosure
contingent assets and liabilities at the date effthancial statements, and the reported amountsvahue and expense during
reporting period. Our more significant estimatedude the allowance for doubtful accounts, obscéeté excess inventory resen
warranty reserves, customer rebates, allowancesdt@s returns, determination of the deferred reweramponents of multig
element sales agreements, estimated income taingenties, the fair value of stotlased compensation, and the evaluatic
other-than-temporary declines in the value of itmesits. Actual amounts could differ significanttprh these estimates.
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Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In October 2009, the Financial Accounting StandaBimrd (FASB)issued Update No. 2003; which amends the Revel
Recognition topic of the FASB Accounting Standafdsdification (ASC). This update provides amendmebotghe criteria i
Subtopic 605-25 of the ASC for separating consiitamain multipledeliverable arrangements. As a result of those dments
multiple-deliverable arrangements will be separated in nwreumstances than under existing U.S. GAAP. Thesraiment
establish a selling price hierarchy for determinting selling price of a deliverable and will remabe term fair value in the revel
allocation guidance with selling price to clarifigat the allocation of revenue is based on emityeific assumptions rather tt
assumptions of a marketplace participant. The aments will also eliminate the residual method dbedtion and require th
arrangement consideration be allocated at the timoepf the arrangement to all deliverables usimg ttelative selling price meth
and will require that a vendor determine its basingate of selling price in a manner that is caesiswith that used to determine
price to sell the deliverable on a standalone basisse amendments will be effective prospectifetyevenue arrangements ente
into or materially modified in fiscal years begingion or after June 15, 2010, with early adoptiemptted. We do not expect !
adoption of this amendment will have a materialaatpon our consolidated results of operationsrarfcial condition.

In October 2009, the FASB issued Update No. 2089which amends the Software topic of the ASC. dimendments in this upd
change the accounting model for revenue arrangentieat include both tangible products and softvedeenents. Tangible produ
containing software components and non-softwarepomnts that function together to deliver the thlgiproducts essentii
functionality is no longer within the scope of theftware revenue guidance in Subtopic 85 of the ASC. In addition, t
amendments in this update require that hardwarepooents of a tangible product containing softwaoengonents always
excluded from the software revenue guidance. Ihrégard, the amendments provide additional guidamchow to determine whi
software, if any, relating to the tangible prodatso would be excluded from the scope of the softwavenue guidance. T
amendments also provide guidance on how a vendaidlallocate arrangement consideration to delblesain an arrangement t
includes both tangible products and software. Theralments also provide further guidance on howlitucate arrangeme
consideration when an arrangement includes deliesaboth included and excluded from the scopehef goftware reveni
guidance. These amendments will be effective paspdy for revenue arrangements entered into otendly modified in fisce
years beginning on or after June 15, 2010, withyestoption permitted. We do not expect the adaptibthis amendment will ha
a material impact on our consolidated results @rapons or financial condition.

During 2010, we adopted the following accountiranstards, which had no material effect on our codatdd results of operations
financial condition:

In January 2010, the FASB issued Update No. 208,0which amends the Fair Value Measurements asdld3iures topic of tl
ASC. The amendments in this update require newladises about transfers in and out of Level 1 amdel 2 fair valu
measurements and the activity in Level 3 fair vaheasurements and, in addition, clarify existingcltisures required for levels
disaggregation and inputs and valuation technigié®se amendments are effective for interim anduanneporting perioc
beginning after December 15, 2009, except for thelasures about activity in Level 3 fair value rm@@ments, which is effective
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2010,fanthterim periods within those fiscal years. \At#opted this amendment dur
the period ended March 31, 2010, and we have peovide disclosures required for the three and ®velenths ended December
2010.

In February 2010, the FASB issued Update No. 209,0a4hich amends the Subsequent Events topic oA8®. The amendments
this update require entities that are SEC filersuwaluate subsequent events through the datehhdinancial statements are isst
Additionally, SEC filers are no longer requireddigclose the date through which subsequent evesrts evaluated. The amendm:e
in this update were effective upon issuance. Wedbthis amendment during the period ended Maicl2@10.

Note 2 — Stock Incentive Plans
Stock Incentive Program Descriptions

Our Board of Directors adopted the 1996 Employeeemtive Stock Option Plan (1996 Plan) effective riaby 14, 1996, ¢
amended, under which 17.0 million shares of comsstook were authorized for issuance to certain eygas and officers throu
incentive stock options and najualified stock options. Options granted under1B86 Plan typically become exercisable begin
after one year of continued employment, normallgspant to a four or fivgear vesting schedule beginning on the first anmsis
of the grant date, and have a tgrar contractual term. The 1996 Plan expired Febrii, 2006, and expiration dates of opti
outstanding at December 31, 2010 under the 1996rBtaye from 2011 to 2016.
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On January 23, 2006, the Board of Directors adopbed 2006 Employee Stock Incentive Plan (2006 PRlarjich authorize
13.0 million shares of common stock for issuanceeidain employees and officers through incentteelsoptions and nogualifiec
stock options, stock appreciation rights, restdatock and restricted stock units. The 2006 Plas adopted by stockholder appr¢
at our annual meeting of stockholders held on Mag@®@6. Options granted under the 2006 Plan tylpidadcome exercisak
beginning after one year of continued employmemtmally pursuant to a fowear vesting schedule beginning on the
anniversary of the grant date, and have ayear- contractual term. Expiration dates of optionsstanding at December 31, 2!
under the 2006 Plan range from 2016 to 2020.

Our stockholders approved the 2010 Directors SRlek (2010 Directors Plan) on May 5, 2010, undeictv®.5 million shares
common stock have been reserved. This plan repthee2005 Directors Stock Option Plan. The 201@&wrs Plan provides tt
the Company may issue stock options, restrictecksamd restricted stock units to our nemployee directors. Stock awards iss
under the 2010 Directors Plan normally become deistéull on the first anniversary of the grantelaDptions issued under the 2
Directors Plan have a tgrear contractual term. We currently also have owtioutstanding under the 1995 Directors Plal
amended, and the 2005 Directors Plan. Expiratidesdaf options outstanding under both plans at Bées 31, 2010 range frc
2011 to 2019.

The following table is a summary of our stock optmutstanding as of December 31, 2009 and 201@h&nchanges that occur
during 2010:

Weighted Avg.
Weighted Remaining
Number of Average Contractual Life Aggregate

(In thousands, except per share amoun Options Exercise Price in Years Intrinsic Value
Options outstanding, December 31, 20C 6,91€¢ $ 20.4: 6.0 $ 25,71¢

Options grante 88¢ % 33.5¢

Options cancelled/forfeite 87 $ 23.5:

Options exercise (1,487 $ 16.8¢
Options outstanding, December 31, 201 6,23¢ $ 23.0¢ 6.21 $ 81,56
Options exercisable, December 31, 20: 3,96/ $ 21.5¢ 47C  $ 57,89¢

The following table further describes our stockiop outstanding as of December 31, 2010:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Options Weighted Avg. Weighted Options Weighted
QOutstanding at Remaining Average Exercisable al Average
Range of 12/31/10 Contractual Life Exercise 12/31/10 Exercise
Exercise Prices (In thousands) in Years Price (In thousands) Price
$8.70- $15.28 892 158 % 11.5¢ 89z ¢ 11.5¢
$15.29- $22.53 1,727 6.2¢ % 18.91 1,26¢ % 20.1¢
$22.54- $30.03 1,802 78 $ 23.4¢ 86z $ 23.51]
$30.04- $37.18 1,81 6.77 % 32.3¢ 941  $ 31.11
6,23¢ 3,96¢

All of the options above were issued at exerciseegrthat approximate fair market value at the dagrant. At December 31, 20:
9.0 million options were available for grant unttez shareholder approved plans.

The aggregate intrinsic values in the table abepeasent the total pre-tax intrinsic value (théetdénce between ADTRAN'closing
stock price on the last trading day of 2010 andetkercise price, multiplied by the number of in-theney options) that would ha
been received by the option holders had all optiolders exercised their options on December 31020he amount of aggreg
intrinsic value will change based on the fair maskadue of ADTRAN's stock.

The total pretax intrinsic value of options exercised during @02009 and 2008 was $20.3 million, $5.3 milliord 8.7 million
respectively. The fair value of options fully vesfiduring 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $6.9 million1$fillion and $7.4 millior
respectively.
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Restricted Stock Program Descripti

On November 6, 2008, the Compensation CommittethedBoard of Directors approved the PerformanceedhaAgreement und
the 2006 Plan which sets forth the terms and cmmditof awards of performandesed restricted stock units (RSUs). Of
13.0 million shares of common stock authorizedi§suance under the 2006 Plan, we may grant uftmBlion shares of comm
stock for issuance to certain employees and offitmrawards other than stock options, which wanddude RSUs. Under a propo
that was approved by the Board of Directors andedtwdders at the 2010 annual meeting, the numbshafes available for awa
other than stock options under all stock plans medsced to 3.3 million. The number of shares of wam stock earned by a recipi
pursuant to the RSUs is subject to a market camdliased on ADTRAN relative total shareholder return against a gemup (200:
and 2009 grants) or against all companies in theSsDNAQ Telecommunications Index (2010 grant) at thd ef a threereal
performance period. Depending on the relative teit@reholder return over the performance periaelréipient may earn from (
to 150% of the shares underlying the RSUs, withstieres earned distributed upon the vesting oRB8s at the end of the three-
year performance period. The fair value of the aWsibased on the market price of our common stocthe date of grant, adjus
for the expected outcome of the impact of marketd@omns using a Monte Carlo Simulation valuatioethod. A portion of th
granted RSUs also vest and the underlying shamesiee deliverable upon the death or disability ef tbcipient or upon a change
control of ADTRAN, as defined by the 2006 Plan. Theipients of the RSUs receive dividend creditseldaon the shares of comn
stock underlying the RSUs. The dividend creditsvergted and earned in the same manner as the R8Usilabe paid in cash upr
the issuance of common stock for the RSUs.

The following table is a summary of our RSUs anstrieted stock outstanding as of December 31, 20@92010 and the chan
that occurred during 2010:

Weighted

Number of Average Grant

(In thousands, except per share amoun RSUs Date Fair Value
RSUs and restricted stock outstanding, December 32009 52 $ 21.8¢
RSUs and restricted stock gran 35 3 38.4(
RSUs and restricted stock ves —  $ =
RSUs and restricted stock cancelled/forfe - $ —
Unvested RSUs and restricted stock, December 31,120 87 $ 28.4¢

As of December 31, 2010, there was approximatel® #fillion of total unamortized compensation casated to the nomeste:
portion of RSUs and restricted stock granted, whidhbe recognized on a straight-line basis over temainder of the threeal
performance period for RSUs and over the remainfiire one-year vesting period for restricted stock

Valuation and Expense Information

We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model (Bl&choles Model) for the purpose of determining theneated fair value
stock option awards on the date of grant. The Blacioles Model requires the input of certain assiongtthat involve judgmer
Because our stock options have characteristicsfisigntly different from those of traded optionsydabecause changes in the ir
assumptions can materially affect the fair valu@reste, existing models may not provide reliableaswees of fair value of our stc
options. We use a Monte Carlo Simulation valuatizethod to value our performanbased RSUs. The fair value of restricted s
issued to our Directors in 2010 is equal to thesiclp price of our stock on the date of grant. Wd wontinue to assess 1
assumptions and methodologies used to calculatediraated fair value of stodkased compensation. If circumstances change
additional data becomes available over time, we of@nge our assumptions and methodologies, whishmaerially impact ot
fair value determination.

The following table summarizes stobksed compensation expense related to stock otith&®SUs under the Stock Compens:
Topic of the FASB ASC for the years ended Decerd3tie2010, 2009 and 2008, which was recognized|bsvs:

(In thousands) 2010 2009 2008
Stock-based compensation expense included in cost of s $ 317 $ 26€ $ 253
Selling, general and administrative expe 3,57¢ 3,03¢ 3,26:
Research and development expe 3,82¢ 3,68( 3,822
Stock-based compensation expense included in operatingpenses 7,40( 6,71¢ 7,08t
Total stock-based compensation expens 7,715 6,981 7,33¢
Tax benefit for expense associated with-qualified options (650 (634) (669)
Total stock-based compensation expense, net of tax $ 7,067 $ 6,35:¢ $ 6,66¢

At December 31, 2010, total compensation costedltd nonvested stock options, RSUs and restricted stoclyeiotecognized wi
approximately $20.3 million, which is expected ®racognized over an average remaining recogntoiod of 3.1 year:
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The stock option pricing model requires the useeseral significant assumptions that impact thevaiue estimate. These variat
include, but are not limited to, the volatility ofir stock price and employee exercise behaviors.aBsumptions and variables
for the current period grants were developed baseduidance in the Stock Compensation Topic ofRA&B ASC. There were |
material changes made during 2010 to the methoglalegd to determine our assumptions.

The weightedaverage estimated fair value of stock options @dirib employees and directors during the twelve thoende
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $11.69 pee,sh&.11 per share and $4.96 per share, resplgctivith the following
weighted-average assumptions:

2010 2009 2008
Expected volatility 39.57% 41.86% 41.7(%
Risk-free interest rat 1.35% 2.2% 2.4%
Expected dividend yiel 1.0% 1.55% 2.3 %
Expected life (in years 5.7¢ 5.1C 4.97

We based our estimate of expected volatility fa #2 months ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and @0€8 sequential historic
daily trading data of our common stock for a pergaplial to the expected life of the options granidue selection of the historic
volatility method was based on available data iatiig our historical volatility is as equally repemtative of our future stock pr
trends as is our implied volatility. We have nos@ato believe the future volatility of our stockae is likely to differ from its pa
volatility.

The risk-free interest rate assumption is basech upplied yields of U.S. Treasury zecoupon bonds on the date of grant havi
remaining term equal to the expected life of théams granted. The dividend yield is based on asiohical and expected divide
payouts.

The expected life of our stock options is basednulpistorical exercise and cancellation activityoof previous stockased gran
with a ten-year contractual term.

The RSU pricing model also requires the use of redwsignificant assumptions that impact the faiueaestimate. The estimated
value of the RSUs granted to employees 2010, 20@928908 was $39.21, $26.65 and $17.05, respectivath the followin¢

assumptions:

2010 2009 2008
Expected volatility 40.82% 41.4%% 38.61%
Risk-free interest rat 0.51% 1.4% 1.62%
Expected dividend yiel 1.07% 1.55% 2.35%
Fair value of future dividend paymeir $ 1.07 $ 1.0¢ $ 1.0¢€

Stockbased compensation expense recognized in our Gdateal Statements of Income for the 12 months eridisckmber 3:
2010, 2009 and 2008 is based on RSUs and optidimsately expected to vest, and has been reduceédiimated forfeiture
Estimates for forfeiture rates are based upon figstioexperience and are evaluated quarterly. Weeetxour forfeiture rate for sto
option awards to be approximately 2% annually. Weneated a 0% forfeiture rate for our RSUs andrieted stock due to tl
limited number of recipients and historical expece for these awards.
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Note 3 — Investments

We classify our investments as availablegate. At December 31, 2010, we held the followiagusities and investments, recor
at either fair value or cost.

Fair Value /
Amortized Gross Unrealized Carrying
(In thousands) Cost Gains Losses Value
Deferred compensation plan ass $ 3,48t $ 77C $ @ % 4,24¢
Corporate bond 126,67: 63C (229) 127,07.
Municipal fixec-rate bond: 71,21: 26¢ (13 71,467
Municipal variable rate demand no 116,74! — — 116,74!
Fixed income bond fun 52€ 22C — 74€
Marketable equity securitie 11,48¢ 36,65 (139) 48,01(
Available-for-sale securities held at fair value $ 330,12: $ 38,54¢ $ (3899 $ 368,28t
Restricted investment held at cost 48,25(
Other investments held at cos 2,10:¢
Total carrying value of available-for-sale investments $ 418,63
At December 31, 2009, we held the following se@sitind investments, recorded at either fair valuzost.
Fair Value /
Amortized Gross Unrealized Carrying
(In thousands) Cost Gains Losses Value
Deferred compensation plan ass $ 2,904 $ 52¢ $ @B $ 3,42¢
Corporate bond 20,127 287 — 20,41«
Municipal fixec-rate bond: 140,27¢ 1,00¢ 2 141,28!
Municipal variable rate demand no 84,35¢ — — 84,35¢
Fixed income bond fun 867 29¢ — 1,162
Marketable equity securitie 9,80¢ 23,927 (197) 33,53¢
Available-for-sale securities held at fair value $ 258,34 $ 26,04 $ (207) $ 284,18(
Restricted investment held at cos 48,25(
Other investments held at cos 2,20¢
Total carrying value of available-for-sale investments $ 334,63

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, we held $4.2 milliod $3.4 million, respectively, of deferred comgaion plan assets, carrie
fair value.

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, we held $127.1anilland $20.4 million, respectively, of corporatendd®. These bonds
classified as available-faale and had an average duration of 2.0 yearsarblger 31, 2010. At December 31, 2010, approxity
3% of our corporate bond portfolio had a crediingiof AAA, 11% had a credit rating of AA, 51% hadcredit rating of A, and 35
had a credit rating of BBB.

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, we held $71.5 miliod $141.3 million, respectively, of municipaldirate bonds. These bor
are classified as available-feale investments and had an average duration ofet2 at December 31, 2010. At Decembe
2010, approximately 15% of our municipal fixeate bond portfolio had a credit rating of AAA, 74%d a credit rating of AA, al
11% had a credit rating of A. Because our bondfplasthas a high quality rating and contractual anéies of a short duration, \
are able to obtain prices for these bonds derivatt bbservable market inputs, or for similar se@sitraded in an active market,
a daily basis.
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As of December 31, 2010, corporate and municipaidfirate bonds had the following contractual méasgi

Corporate Municipal
(In thousands) bonds fixed-rate bonds
Less than one ye: $ 1133 % 29,39¢
One year to four yeal 115,73 42,06¢
Total $ 127,07: $ 71,467

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, we held $116.7aniléind $84.4 million, respectively, of municipatiesle rate demand notes,
of which were classified as available-for-sale sherm investments. At December 31, 2010, 29% of raunicipal variable ra
demand notes had a credit rating of AAA, 63% hadedlit rating of AA, 8% had a credit rating of Adaall contained put options
seven days. Despite the loteym nature of their stated contractual maturitigs, routinely buy and sell these securities ant
believe that we have the ability to quickly liquidathem. Our investments in these securities agerded at fair value, and 1
interest rates reset every seven days. We believhawve the ability to sell our variable rate demaatks to the remarketing age
tender agent or issuer at par value plus accruedest in the event we decide to liquidate our stwent in a particular variable r
demand note. At December 31, 2010, approximatedy @8 our variable rate demand notes were suppdiyeeétters of credit froi
banks that we believe to be in good financial cbodi The remaining 72% of our variable rate demantks were supported
standby purchase agreements. As a result of tlaeder$, we had no cumulative gross unrealized hgldiains (losses) or gr¢
realized gains (losses) from these investmentsingtbme generated from these investments was redaad interest income. \
have not been required to record any losses rgl&imunicipal variable rate demand notes.

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, we held $0.7 mildod $1.2 million, respectively, of a fixed incomnend fund. This bond fur
had unrealized gains of $0.2 million and $0.3 miilat December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

At December 31, 2010, we held $48.0 million of neable equity securities, including a single segurof which we hel
1.5 million shares, carried at a fair value of ®3dillion. We sold 0.5 million shares of this satuduring the 12 months end
December 31, 2010. The sales resulted in procee88.2 million and a realized gain of $8.1 milliofhis single security trad
approximately 1.0 million shares per day in 2010an active market on a European stock exchange.siiigle security compris
$33.7 million of the gross unrealized gains incliide the fair value of our marketable equity setesiat December 31, 2010. -
remaining $3.0 million of gross unrealized gaingl &0.1 million of gross unrealized losses at Decam®i, 2010 were spre
amongst more than 415 equity securities. At Decer@be2009, we held $33.5 million of marketable iggeecurities, including tt
single security mentioned above, of which we heltdrillion shares, carried at a fair value of $2@#lion. This single securi
comprised $21.7 million of the gross unrealizechgancluded in the fair value of our marketableiggsecurities at December .
2009. The remaining $2.2 million of unrealized gaamd $0.2 million of gross unrealized losses atebwer 31, 2009 were spri
amongst more than 375 equity securities.

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, we held a $48.3amillestricted certificate of deposit, which isré@d at cost. This investme
serves as a collateral deposit against the prihaeipaunt outstanding under loans made to ADTRANspant to an Alabama St
Industrial Development Authority revenue bond (tBend). At December 31, 2010, the estimated faiueabf the Bond wz
approximately $42.5 million, based on a debt ségwrith a comparable interest rate and maturity anStandard & Poas’ credi
rating of A+. We have the right to setf the balance of the Bond with the collateral a&pin order to reduce the balance of
indebtedness. For more information on the BondNs#te 6 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statesien

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, we held $2.1 milibother investments carried at cost, consistingterests in two private equ
funds and an investment in a privately held telemomications equipment manufacturer. The fair valti¢hese investments w
estimated to be approximately $10.0 million at Deber 31, 2010, based on unobservable inputs imguisiformation supplied t
the company and the fund managers. We have conantittevest up to an aggregate of $7.9 millionhia two private equity func
and we have contributed $8.0 million as of Decen#ier2010, of which $7.4 million has been applieddrd these commitments.
of December 31, 2010 we have received distributretested to these two private equity funds of $¥illion, of which $0.9 millior
was recorded as investment income. These invessnagatcarried at cost, net of distributions, witktributions in excess of o
investment recorded as investment income. The idaraf each of these commitments is ten years $0ti million expiring in 201
and $0.4 million expiring in 2012. We have not beequired to record any impairment losses relatetiése investments during
years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 or 2
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We review our investment portfolio for potentialttier-than-temporaryteclines in value on an individual investment hag¥
assess, on a quarterly basis, significant decimeslue which may be considered other-thamporary and, if necessary, recog
and record the appropriate charge to wditevn the carrying value of such investments. In img@khis assessment, we take

consideration qualitative and quantitative inforimat including but not limited to the following: ¢hmagnitude and duration
historical declines in market prices, credit ratadivity, assessments of liquidity, public filingend statements made by the iss
We generally begin our identification of potentigher-thartemporary impairments by reviewing any securitytwatfair value th:
has declined from its original or adjusted costibéy 25% or more for six or more consecutive menie then evaluate 1
individual security based on the previously ideetiffactors to determine the amount of the wditsvn, if any. As a result of o
review, we did not record any other-thmporary impairment charge during the fourth cgraof 2010. For each of the years er
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 we recorded geldi$43 thousand, $2.9 million and $2.4 millioespectively, related to t
other-thantemporary impairment of certain marketable equégusities, a fixed income bond fund and deferreshmensation ple
assets.

Realized gains and losses on sales of securiteesanputed under the specific identification methbae following table preser
gross realized gains and losses related to ousiments.

Year Ended December 31

(In thousands) 2010 2009 2008
Gross realized gair $ 12,19: $ 1,97¢ $ 1,88¢
Gross realized loss: $ (1,187 % (3,27) % (4,299

The following table presents the breakdown of itwests with unrealized losses at December 31, 2010.

Continuous Unrealized Continuous Unrealized
Loss Position for Less Loss Position for 12
than 12 Months Months or Greater Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized

(In thousands) Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses
Deferred compensation plan ass $ 33 $ @ % — 3 — 3 33 $ @)
Corporate bond 32,32¢ (229 — — 32,32¢ (229
Municipal fixec-rate bond: 5,86¢ (13 — — 5,86¢ (13
Marketable equity securitie 2,021 (107) 17¢€ (26) 2,197 (139)
Total $ 40,55 $ (356) $ 17€ $ (26) $ 40,73( $ (382)

The increase in unrealized losses during 2010efected in the table above, primarily occurred tlu@n increase in intermedi
term interest rates during the last two monthsQffprimarily impacting our corporate bonds. At Beder 31, 2010, a total of 1
of our marketable equity securities were in an alized loss position.

The following table presents the breakdown of itwvests with unrealized losses at December 31, 2009.

Continuous Unrealized Continuous Unrealized
Loss Position for Less Loss Position for 12
than 12 Months Months or Greater Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized

(In thousands) Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses
Deferred compensation plan ass $ — $ —  $ 16C $ B8 9 16C $ (8)
Municipal fixec-rate bond: 1,481 2 — — 1,481 2
Marketable equity securitie 2,42¢ (92) 1,83¢ (10€) 4,26 (197)
Total $  3,90¢ $ 939) $ 1,99« $ (1149 $ 5,90¢ $ (207)

The decrease in unrealized losses during 2009%flexted in the table above, primarily occurred duéhe improvements in t
credit markets and improved equity market cond#tiokt December 31, 2009, a total of 145 of our retakle equity securities we
in an unrealized loss position.
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In accordance with the Fair Value Measurementsindlosures Topic of the FASB ASC, we have catematiour cash equivale!
held in money market funds and our investments hefair value into a threlevel fair value hierarchy based on the prioritytiod
inputs to the valuation technique for the cashwjants and investments as follows: Level 1\\alues based on unadjusted qur
prices for identical assets or liabilities in aniae market; Level 2 —Values based on quoted prices in markets that@raative o
model inputs that are observable either directlyndirectly; Level 3 —Values based on prices or valuation techniquesréuatire
inputs that are both unobservable and significarihé overall fair value measurement. These inpuiside information supplied |
investees.

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2010 Usil

Quoted Prices Significant
in Active Other Significant
Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Asset: Inputs Inputs
(In thousands) Fair Value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalents
Money market fund $ 1453 $ 1453 $ — 8 —
Available for sale securities
Deferred compensation plan ass 4,24¢ 4,24¢ — —
Available-for-sale debt securitie:
Corporate bond 127,07. — 127,07. —
Municipal fixec-rate bond: 71,46 — 71,467 —
Municipal variable rate demand no 116,74! — 116,74! —
Fixed income bond fun 74€ 74€ — —
Available-for-sale marketable equity securities
Marketable equity securitie— technology industn 35,59¢ 35,59¢ — —
Marketable equity securitie— other 12,41« 12,41« — —
Available-for-sale securities 368,28t 53,00: 315,28 —
Total $ 3828l $ 67,53¢ $ 315,28 $ —

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2009 Usil

Quoted Prices Significant
in Active Other Significant
Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Asset: Inputs Inputs
(In thousands) Fair Value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalents
Money market fund $ 1837C $ 18,37C  $ —  $ —
Available for sale securities
Deferred compensation plan ass 3,42¢ 3,42¢ — —
Available-for-sale debt securities
Corporate bond 20,41« — 20,41« —
Municipal fixec-rate bond: 141,28! — 141,28! —
Municipal variable rate demand no 84,35¢ — 84,35¢ —
Fixed income bond fun 1,168 1,16 — —
Available-for-sale marketable equity securitie:
Marketable equity securitie— technology industn 23,49 23,49 — —
Marketable equity securitie— other 10,04 10,04« — —
Available-for-sale securities 284,18 38,12; 246,05¢ —
Total $ 302550 % 56,49: $ 246,05¢ $ —

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the fair valu¢hefinvestments in available-feele Level 2 corporate bonds and munic
fixed-rate bonds was $198.5 million and $161.7 milliespectively. The fair value of these securitiesalgulated using a weight
average market price for each security. Marketagriare obtained from a variety of industry standkata providers, security mas
files from large financial institutions, and otfthird-party sources. These multiple market pricesused as inputs into a distribution-
curve-based algorithm to determine the daily mavikéiie of each security.
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As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the fair valuthefinvestments in available-feele Level 2 municipal variable rate dem
notes was $116.7 million and $84.4 million, respety. These securities have a structure that iespd standard expected ma
price. The frequent interest rate resets makeagarable to expect the price to stay at par. Theserities are priced at the expe:
market price.

Note 4 — Inventory

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, inventory was casedrof the following:

(In thousands) 2010 2009

Raw materials $ 43,89’ $ 27,32¢
Work in proces: 2,871 2,662
Finished good 27,50¢ 15,68¢
Total $ 74,27 $ 45,67+

We establish reserves for estimated excess, obsaletunmarketable inventory equal to the diffeeeibetween the cost of |
inventory and the estimated fair value of the irtgeyn based upon assumptions about future demandrearllet conditions. #
December 31, 2010 and 2009, raw materials res¢ot@ed $7.3 million and $6.6 million, respectiveind finished goods inventc
reserves totaled $1.6 million and $1.1 million pectively.

Note 5 — Property, Plant and Equipment

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, property, planteudpment were comprised of the following:

(In thousands) 2010 2009

Land $ 4,26: $ 4,26:
Building and land improvemen 15,501 14,63¢
Building 68,47¢ 68,49¢
Furniture and fixture 16,13( 15,74¢
Computer hardware and softwz 61,89¢ 57,21¢
Engineering and other equipme 83,94¢ 80,28¢
Total Property, Plant and Equipment 250,22: 240,64¢
Less accumulated depreciati (176,23) (166,340
Total Property, Plant and Equipment (net) $ 73,98¢ $ 74,30¢

Depreciation expense was $10.2 million, $10.0 milland $9.9 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respelt
Note 6 — Alabama State Industrial Development Authity Financing and Economic Incentives

In conjunction with an expansion of our Huntsvilldabama, facility, we were approved for participatin an incentive progra
offered by the State of Alabama Industrial DeveleptmAuthority (the “Authority”).Pursuant to the program, on January 13, I
the Authority issued $20.0 million of its taxabkvenue bonds and loaned the proceeds from thefktdie bonds to ADTRAN. Tt
bonds were originally purchased by AmSouth BankAtibama, Birmingham, Alabama (the “Bank'\Vachovia Bank, N.A
Nashville, Tennessee (formerly First Union NatioBahk of Tennessee) (tI"‘Bondholder”), which was acquired by Wells Fargc
Company on December 31, 2008, purchased the ofigorals from the Bank and made further advancelddAuthority, bringini
the total amount outstanding to $50.0 million. Aménded and Restated Taxable Revenue Bond (“Ameadédrestated Bonyl”
was issued and the original financing agreementamaended. The Amended and Restated Bond bearssttpayable monthly. T
interest rate is 5%. The Amended and Restated Boatlres on January 1, 2020. The estimated fairevaluthe bond
December 31, 2010 was approximately $42.5 millimeised on a debt security with a comparable intestetand maturity and
Standard & Poos credit rating of A+. We are required to make pagta to the Authority in amounts necessary to payptrincipa
of and interest on the Amended and Restated Bowtided in longeerm investments at December 31, 2010 is $48.3omiWhich is
invested in a restricted certificate of deposite3d funds serve as a collateral deposit againgirtheipal of this bond, and we he
the right to sebff the balance of the Bond with the collateral algipin order to reduce the balance of the indelsss. In conjunctic
with this program, we are eligible to receive ceraconomic incentives from the state of Alabanst teduce the amount of pay
withholdings that we are required to remit to thetes for those employment positions that qualifgemthe program. For the ye
ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, we reatizedomic incentives totaling $1.5 million, $1.9lmmh and $1.4 million
respectively.
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We are required to make payments in the amountsssacy to pay the principal and interest on thewntsocurrently outstandir
Based on positive cash flow from operating actgtiwe have decided to continue early partial rgdiems of the Bond. It is o
intent to make annual principal payments in additmthe interest amounts that are due. In conmegtith this decision, $0.5 millic
of the Bond debt has been classified as a curiaitity in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Note 7 — Income Taxes

A summary of the components of the provision faoime taxes as of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 230@3follows:

(In thousands) 2010 2009 2008
Current

Federal $ 49,14« $ 30,75¢ $ 37,24¢
State 6,38( 3,61F 3,35(
Total current 55,52¢ 34,37 40,59¢
Deferred tax benef (1,329 (1,029 (903)
Total provision for income taxes $ 54,20( $ 33,34% $ 39,69:

The effective income tax rate differs from the fedstatutory rate due to the following:

2010 2009 2008
Tax provision computed at the federal statutorg 35.00(% 35.0(% 35.0(%
State income tax provision, net of federal ber 3.3t 3.6¢ 2.9t
Federal research cred (2.90 (3.37) (1.86€)
Tax-exempt incomt (0.4¢€) (1.0%) (1.59)
State tax incentive (0.8¢) (1.36) (1.15)
Stocl-based compensatic 0.34 1.64 1.5¢
Domestic production activity deductis (2.37) (3.39) (1.62)
Other, ne 0.1t (0.27) 0.24
Effective tax rate 32.23% 31.0(% 33.56%

Deferred income taxes on the balance sheet resuft temporary differences between the amount aftasmd liabilities recogniz
for financial reporting and tax purposes. The ggaktcomponents of our current and non-currentefetaxes are as follows:

(In thousands) 2010 2009
Current deferred tax asst
Accounts receivabl $ 61 $ 46
Inventory 6,032 4,682
Accrued expense 4,524 3,87¢
Total current deferred tax assets 10,61° 8,60:
Non-current deferred tax asst
Accrued expense 10z 10z
Deferred compensatic 1,53¢ 1,36¢
Stocl-based compensatic 3,54z 2,891
State tax and interest expel 861 1,00z
Foreign loss and state credit ci-forwards 5,98¢ 5,55¢
Valuation allowanct (5,627 (5,340
Total non-current deferred tax assets 6,40¢ 5,57¢
Total deferred tax assets $ 17,02: $ 14,18:
2010 2009

Non-current deferred tax liabilitie

Accumulated depreciatic $ (4,78 % (3,809
Investment: (11,977 (6,80%)
Total non-current deferred tax liabilities $ (16,75H $ (10,619
Net deferred tax asset: $ 267 $ 3,56¢

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, non-current defetagdliabilities and norcurrent deferred tax assets, respectively, relat
investments reflect deferred taxes on unrealizedsgand losses on available-for-sale investmertte flet change in noturren
deferred taxes associated with these investmerdgfeared tax provision of $4.6 million in 2010 aaddeferred tax provision
$9.8 million in 2009, is recorded as an adjustmenbther comprehensive income, presented in thes@olated Statements
Changes in Stockhold¢ Equity and Comprehensive Incon
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We have deferred tax assets for foreign loss aatd stedit carnferwards of $6.0 million which will expire betwe@®14 and 202!
These carnferwards were caused by tax credits in excess ofanmual tax liabilities to an individual state wéeve no longe
generate sufficient state income and net operdtisg carryforwards acquired through the acquisition of a ifgmeentity. Ir
accordance with the Income Taxes Topic of the FASRC, we believe it is more likely than not that wél not realize the fu
benefits of the deferred tax asset arising frons¢hesses and credits, and accordingly, have pedvédvaluation allowance agai
these assets. We do not provide for U.S. incomemamndistributed earnings of our foreign operatjomhose earnings are inten
to be permanently reinvested. For years ended Diaee®1, 2010, 2009 and 2008, foreign profits befammme taxes were r
material.

During 2010, 2009 and 2008, we recorded an incarebenefit of $4.9 million, $1.5 million and $1.0lionN, respectively, as ¢
adjustment to equity in accordance with the Stodkn@ensation Topic of the FASB ASC. This deductisncalculated on tt
difference between the exercise price of stockoopéixercises and the market price of the underlgorgmon stock upon exercise.

The change in the unrecognized income tax berfefitd010, 2009 and 2008 is reconciled below:

(In thousands) 2010 2009 2008
Balance at beginning of perioc $ 2,91¢ $ 2,77¢ $ 2,64t
Increases for tax position related
Prior years 197 39C 15¢
Current yea 81¢ 61C 71¢
Decreases for tax positions related
Prior years (16) 1) (119
Settlements with taxing authoriti (630) (413) (49
Expiration of applicable statute of limitatio (69E) (442) (579
Balance at end of perioc $ 2,59:¢ $ 2,91¢ $ 2,77¢

As of December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, our tiadhility for unrecognized tax benefits was $2.6llion, $2.9 million, an
$2.8 million, respectively, of which $2.0 millio&2.3 million, and $2.2 million, respectively, wouleduce our effective tax rate if
were successful in upholding all of the uncertansifions and recognized the amounts recorded. \A&si€y interest and penalt
recognized on the liability for unrecognized taxé#its as income tax expense. The balances of eddnterest and penalties w
$1.0 million as of December 31, 2010 and $1.2 oiillas of December 31, 2009 and 2008.

We do not anticipate a single tax position genega# significant increase or decrease in our ligbibr unrecognized tax benel
within 12 months of this reporting date. We filedme tax returns in the U.S. federal and varioasesjurisdictions and seve
foreign jurisdictions. We have been audited by liliernal Revenue Service and the state of Alabdmaugh the 2007 tax ye
Generally, we are not subject to changes in inctaxes by any taxing jurisdiction for the years ptm2007.

Note 8 — Employee Benefit Plans
401(k) Savings Plan

We maintain the ADTRAN, Inc. 401(k) Retirement P{&avings Plan) for the benefit of our eligible doyees. The Savings Plar
intended to qualify under Sections 401(a) and 40dflkhe Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amef(@ede), and is intended to
a “safe harbor401(k) plan under Code Section 401(k)(12). The &gs/Plan allows employees to save for retiremeradogributing
part of their compensation to the plan on a taxedet] basis. The Savings Plan also requires usrtwilsute a “safe harbodmoun
each year. Beginning January 1, 2008, we changedamiribution such that we matched up to 4% of leyge contributions (100
of an employee’s first 3% of contributions and 5@¥their next 2% of contributions), beginning oretemployees one ye:
anniversary date. In calculating our matching dbaotion, we only use compensation up to the stayuteaximum under the Co
($245 thousand for 2010). All contributions undee Savings Plan are 100% vested. Expenses recfodechployer contributior
and plan administration costs for the Savings Rlemounted to approximately $4.6 million, $4.2 mifliand $3.9 million in 201
2009 and 2008, respectively.
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Deferred Compensation Ple

We maintain the ADTRAN, Inc. Deferred Compensatitdan (Deferred Compensation Plan). This plan isrefl as a supplemen
our taxgualified 401(k) plan and is available to our masragnt and highly compensated employees who have desggnated t
our Board of Directors. The deferred compensatiam pllows participants to defer all or a portidncertain specified bonuses ¢
up to 25% of remaining cash compensation, and peros to make matching contributions on a discnetip basis, without tt
limitations that apply to the 401(k) plan. To date, have not made any matching contributions utidsmplan. We have set aside
plan assets in a rabbi trust (Trust) and all cbntions are credited to bookkeeping accounts ferpirticipants. The Trust assets
subject to the claims of our creditors in the ewanbankruptcy or insolvency. The assets of thesTare deemed to be investe
pre-approved mutual funds as directed by eachgjzatit, and the participastbookkeeping account is credited with the earnarg
losses attributable to those investments. NonéefTrust assets are invested in shares of ADTRAMKnNoon stock. Benefits &
usually distributed six months after terminationesfiployment in a single lump sum cash payment. Weunt for the deferre
compensation plan in accordance with the Compeansdibpic of the FASB ASC.

Assets of the Trust are deemed invested in mutuadd that cover an investment spectrum ranging ®quoities to money mark
instruments. These mutual funds are publicly queted reported at fair value. We account for thesestments in accordance v
the Investments in Debt and Equity Securities Tapithe FASB ASC. The fair value of the assets tsidhe Trust and the amou
payable to the plan participants are as follows:

(In thousands) 2010 2009
Fair Value of Plan Assets

Shor-term Investment $ — $ —
Long-term Investment 4,24¢ 3,424
Total Fair Value of Plan Assets $ 4,24¢ $ 3,42¢
Amounts Payable to Plan Participants

Current Liabilities $ — $ —
Non-current Liabilities 4,24¢ 3,42¢
Total Amounts Payable to Plan Participants $ 4,24¢ $ 3,42¢

In accordance with the Compensation Topic of th&BASC, changes in the fair value of the plan adseld by the Trust have be
included as other income in the accompanying 28009 and 2008 Consolidated Statements of Incomeraather comprehensi
income in the accompanying 2010 and 2009 Conselid8alance Sheets. Changes in the fair value ofi¢fierred compensati
liability are included as selling, general and auistrative expense in the accompanying 2010, 2089 2008 Consolidatt
Statements of Income. Based on the changes inatlaé fair value of the Trusd’ assets, we recorded deferred compens
adjustments in 2010, 2009 and 2008 of $0.4 mill&he million and $(0.9) million, respectively.

Retiree Medical Coverac

We provide medical, dental and prescription drugecage to one retired former officer and his spptaehis life, on the same ter
as provided to our active officers, and to the sgoef a former deceased officer for up to 30 year®ecember 31, 2010 and 20
this liability totaled $0.2 million.

Note 9 — Segment Information and Major Customers

ADTRAN operates two reportable segments: (1) theri€aNetworks Division and (2) the Enterprise Netks Division. Th
accounting policies of the segments are the samth@e described in theNature of Business and Summary of Signifi
Accounting Policies” gee Note 1) to the extent that such policies affbet reported segment information. We evaluate
performance of our segments based on gross ptioéitefore, selling, general and administrative espe as well as research
development expenses, interest income/expensegaléted investment gains/loss, other income/expamsl provision for taxes ¢
reported on an entity-wide basis only. There arenter-segment revenues.

The following table presents information about teported sales and gross profit of our reportabtgments for each of the ye
ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008. Assemmatan by reportable segment is not reported, simeelo not produce su
information internally.

Sales and Gross Profit by Market Segme! 2010 2009 2008

(In thousands) Sales Gross Profit Sales Gross Profit Sales Gross Profit
Carrier Networks $476,03( $ 283,3L( $371,34¢ $ 219,68: $392,21¢ $ 236,16¢
Enterprise Network 129,64 75,55: 112,83t 67,28: 108,45’ 62,73

$605,67: $ 358,86! $484,18! $ 286,96: $500,67¢ $  298,90!
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Sales by Product
Our three major product categories are Carriere®yst Business Networking and Loop Access.

Carrier Systems products are used by communications service prowitte provide last mile access in support of datdace an
video services to consumers and enterprises. Th&e€8ystems category includes our broadband aquesiucts comprised of Ta
Access® 5000 multi-service access and aggregation platioroducts, Total Access 1100/1200 Series Fiber-TeNbde (FTTN
products, and Digital Subscriber Line Access Midtier (DSLAM) products. Our broadband access prtedace used by servi
providers to deliver higlspeed Internet access, Voice over Internet ProtamlP), IP Television (IPTV), and/or Ethernet segs
from the central office or remote terminal locasdio customer premises. The Carrier Systems categjso includes our optic
access products. These products consist of opticegéss multiplexers including our family of OPTlogucts and our Optic
Networking Edge (ONE) products. Optical access petsl are used to deliver higher bandwidth servioesto aggregate lar
numbers of low bandwidth services for transportatiaross fiber optic infrastructure. Total Acce58Q products, 303 concentre
products, M13 multiplexer products, and a humbemabile backhaul products are also included in Glagrier Systems prodt
category.

Business Networkingproducts provide access to telecommunication sesyitacilitating the delivery of converged servieex
Unified Communications to the SME market. The Bassl Networking category includes Internetworkingdpicts and Integrat
Access Devices (IADs). Internetworking products sishof our Total Access IP Business Gateways, daptiletwork Termina
(ONTSs), and NetVanta product lines. NetVanta praslinclude multiservice routers, managed Ethernet switches, IRateridranc
Exchange (PBX) products, IP phone products, Unii@inmunications solutions, Unified Threat Managen{eff M) solutions, an
Carrier Ethernet Network Terminating Equipment (NTEtegrated Access Device (IAD) products conefsbur Total Access 6(
Series and the Total Access 850.

Loop Accessproducts are used by carrier and enterprise custofoe access to coppbased telecommunications networks.
Loop Access category includes products such adtaDiata Service (DDS) and Integrated ServicestBligNetwork (Total Reacl
products, High bit-rate Digital Subscriber Line (BD) products including Total Access 3000 HDSL amhd Division Multiplexed-
Symmetrical HDSL (TDMSHDSL) products, T1/E1/T3, Channel Service Unit$éDService Units, and TRACER fixed wirel
products.

The table below presents sales information by prbdategory for the years ended December 31, 208 and 2008:

(In thousands) 2010 2009 2008

Carrier System $ 289,31 $ 215,71! $ 206,22!
Business Networkin 127,23: 100,45: 89,57°
Loop Acces: 189,12° 168,01¢ 204,87-
Total $ 605,67 $ 484,18! $ 500,67t

In addition, we identify sulsategories of product revenues, which we divide growth products, representing our primary gre
areas, and traditional products. Our growth praglecnsist of Broadband Access and Optical Accesduats (included in Carri
Systems) and Internetworking products (includedBirsiness Networking) and our traditional productslide HDSL produc
(included in Loop Access) and other products noluited in the aforementioned growth products.

The table below presents subcategory revenuebdoydars ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008:

(In thousands) 2010 2009 2008
Growth Products
Broadband Access (included in Carrier Syste $ 176,11t $  111,47( $ 102,33!
Optical Access (included in Carrier Systet 66,20¢ 60,59¢ 53,84«
Internetworking (NetVant& & Multi-service Access Gateways) (included in
Business Networking 111,12 79,97¢ 65,79
Total $ 353,44! $ 252,04 $ 221,97
Traditional Products
HDSL (does not include T1) (included in Loop Acge 177,24¢ 150,27¢ 179,81
Other products (excluding HDS 74,98( 81,86¢ 98,89:
Total $ 252,22 $ 232,14 $ 278,70t
Total $ 605,67 $  484,18! $ 500,67t

64




Table of Contents

Sales by Geographic Region

The following is sales information by geographieaffor the years ended December 31, 2010, 2002608. International sal
correlate to shipments with a non-U.S. destination.

(In thousands) 2010 2009 2008

United State: $ 573,84! $ 456,40: $ 470,56
International 31,82¢ 27,78:¢ 30,11:
Total $ 605,67 $ 484,18! $ 500,67¢

Single customers comprising more than 10% of ouwemae in 2010 include Qwest Communications Intéonat, Inc. at 20%
AT&T Inc. at 18%, and Verizon Communications, lat.11%. Single customers comprising more than 10%uprevenue in 20(
include AT&T Inc. at 22%, Qwest Communications mnigional, Inc. at 19%, and Verizon Communicatidms, at 11%. Sing
customers comprising more than 10% of our revenu0D8 include AT&T Inc. at 24%, Qwest Communicasidnternational, In
at 16%, Verizon Communications, Inc. at 12%, ancb&m Corporation (formerly Sprint Corporation) &4. No other custom
accounted for 10% or more of our sales in 2010928(2008.

Sales to Major Service Providers amounted to apprately 72%, 69% and 72% of total sales duringytbars ended December
2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. In additiongaificant portion of our products are sold dirgdib distributors and certain value-
added resellers, which accounted for approxima2ée, 28% and 25% of our revenue for each of thesyeaded December :
2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

As of December 31, 2010, lordiged assets, net totaled $74.0 million, which irtds $73.0 million held in the United States
$1.0 million held outside the United States. AsDafcember 31, 2009, lordied assets, net totaled $74.3 million, which itz
$73.9 million held in the United States and $0.#liom held outside the United States.

Note 10 — Commitments and Contingencies

In the ordinary course of business, we may be stibjevarious legal proceedings and claims, inelgdmployment disputes, pat
claims, disputes over contract agreements and othremercial disputes. In some cases, claimantsdamlages or other relief, st
as royalty payments related to patents, whichrahted, could require significant expenditureshéitgh the outcome of any clair
litigation can never be certain, it is our opinitrat the outcome of all contingencies of which we eurrently aware will ni
materially affect our business, operations, finahcondition or cash flows.

We lease office space and equipment under operbkgases which expire at various dates through 28%6f December 31, 201

future minimum rental payments under ntancelable operating leases with original matwitid greater than 12 months
approximately as follows:

(In thousands)

2011 $ 1,547
2012 1,08¢
2013 714
2014 682
Thereatftel 76¢
Total $ 4,79¢

Rental expense was approximately $1.8 million fer year ended December 31, 2010 and $1.5 milliogdars ended December
2009 and 2008.
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Note 11 — Earnings per Share

A summary of the calculation of basic and dilutednéngs per share (EPS) for the years ended Decee3th@010, 2009 and 200¢

as follows:
Year Ended
(In thousands, except for per share amounts) 2010 2009 2008
Numerator
Net Income $ 113,98 $ 74,22: $ 78,58
Denominator
Weighted average number of she— basic 62,49( 62,45¢ 63,54¢
Effect of dilutive securitie— stock options 1,38¢ 897 85¢
Weighted average number of she— diluted 63,87¢ 63,35¢ 64,40¢
Net income per sha— basic $ 1.82 $ 1.1¢ $ 1.24
Net income per sha— diluted $ 1.7¢ $ 1.17 $ 1.22

For each of the years ended December 31, 2010, 26892008, 2.0 million, 3.5 million and 3.5 millisstock options we
outstanding but were not included in the computatibthat year’s diluted EPS because the optiersicise prices were greater t
the average market price of the common sharesftirermaking them anti-dilutive under the treasstock method.

Note 12 — Summarized Quarterly Financial Data (Unadited)

The following table presents unaudited quarterlgrafing results for each of our last eight fisaaduders. This information has b
prepared on a basis consistent with our auditeahfiral statements and includes all adjustmentssistimg only of normal recurrir
adjustments, considered necessary for a fair ptatsem of the data.

Unaudited Quarterly Operating Results

(In thousands, except for per share amounts)

Three Months Ended March 31, 201( June 30, 201 September 30, 201 December 31, 201
Net sales $ 127,02° $ 150,36: $ 162,95 $ 165,32¢
Gross profit $ 75,32¢ $ 89,32¢ $ 97,29¢ $ 96,90"
Operating incom $ 25,34t $ 38,617 $ 45,04 $ 44,85
Net income $ 18,19 $ 27,751 $ 32,08¢ $ 35,96(
Earnings per common she $ 0.2¢ $ 0.4t $ 051% 0.57
Earnings per common share assuming dilutior $ 0.2¢ $ 044 % 05C $ 0.5¢
Three Months Ended March 31, 200¢ June 30, 200 September 30, 20C December 31, 20C
Net sales $ 110,36¢ $ 121,52t $ 128,06: $ 124,23
Gross profit $ 67,46( $ 71,69( $ 74,457 $ 73,35t
Operating incom: $ 22,90. $ 26,13¢ $ 28,95¢ $ 26,23¢
Net income $ 15,18¢ $ 18,83¢ $ 21,58: $ 18,61!
Earnings per common she $ 024 $ 0.3C $ 034 % 0.3C
Earnings per common share assuming dilutior $ 0.24 $ 0.3C $ 0.34 % 0.2¢

(1) Assumes exercise of dilutive stock options caladatnder the treasury stock meth
Note 13 — Related Party Transactions

We employ the law firm of our director emeritus fegal services. All bills for services rendered this firm are reviewed ai
approved by our Chief Financial Officer. We beligkiat the fees for such services are comparaliteose charged by other firms
services rendered to us. For the years ended 2009,and 2008, we incurred fees of $10 thousandipeth for these legal servic
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Note 14 — Subsequent Events

On January 18, 2011, the Board declared a quartadi dividend of $0.09 per common share to be tpastockholders of record
the close of business on February 3, 2011. Thetephadividend payment was $5.8 million and wasdpan February 17, 2011.
July 2003, our Board of Directors elected to batgolaring quarterly dividends on our common stashsidering the tax treatment
dividends and adequate levels of Company liquidity.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURE!

(a) Internal control over financial reportingSection 404 of the Sarban@sdey Act of 2002 requires management to includéhie
Annual Report on Form 10-K a report on managerseassessment of the effectiveness of our interoafra over financie
reporting, as well as a report from our independegtstered public accounting firm on the effeatiess of internal control ov
financial reporting. Managemeatreport on internal control over financial repagtiand the related report from our indepen
registered public accounting firm are located @mit8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat#iis report.

(b) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedur@sir Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial iOffr are responsible 1
establishing and maintaining “disclosure contrald arocedures” (as defined in the Securities Exghaikct of 1934 Rules 1385(e
and 15d1i5(e)) for the company. Our Chief Executive Offiegrd Chief Financial Officer, after evaluating #iféectiveness of ol
disclosure controls and procedures as of the entthedfperiod covered by this annual report, havecleoied that our disclost
controls and procedures are effective.

(c) Changes in internal control over financial repogiriThere were no changes in our internal control dwvemcial reporting th:
occurred during our most recent fiscal quarter taate materially affected, or are reasonably likelynaterially affect, our interr
control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
PART IlI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNACE

Information relating to nominees for director of ARAN and compliance with Section 16(a) of the S#ims Exchange Act of 19:
is set forth under the captions “Proposal 1—Electié Directors,” “Section 16(a) Beneficial OwnengiReporting Compliancednc
“Corporate Governancefespectively, in the Proxy Statement for the AnnMdaketing of Stockholders to be held on May 4, 2
Such information is incorporated herein by refeeenthe definitive Proxy Statement will be filed ithe Securities and Exchait
Commission no later than 120 days after Decembg@10. Information relating to the executive agfis of ADTRAN, pursuant
Instruction 3 of Item 401(b) of Regulation S-K a@dneral Instruction G(3) of Form XQ0-is set forth at Part I, Item 4A of this ref
under the caption “Executive Officers of the Reagist.” This information is incorporated herein lefarence.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted the ADTRAN, Inc. Code of Businesadiict and Ethics, which applies to all employedficers and directors
ADTRAN. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics tex¢lee requirements of a “code of ethias defined by Item 406
Regulation K, and applies to our Chief Executive Officer, GHignancial Officer (who is both our principal fineial and principz
accounting officer), as well as all other employess indicated above. The Code of Business CoraluttEthics also meets -
requirements of a code of conduct under NASDAQniiststandards. The Code of Business Conduct anig<Eth posted on o
website at www.adtran.com under the links “Invef@lations — Corporate Governance ABTRAN Code of Business Condi
and Ethics."We intend to disclose any amendments to the Co@sihess Conduct and Ethics, as well as any wailegrexecutiv
officers or directors, on our website at www.adicam.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information required by this Item 11 relating toeentive compensation and other matters is set fortter the captionsExecutive
Compensation,” “Director Compensation” and “Corgeraovernance’in the Proxy Statement referred to in Item 10.
information is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information relating to ownership of common stodkADTRAN by certain persons is set forth under tiag@tion ‘Share Ownersh
of Principal Stockholders and Managemeint'the Proxy Statement referred to in Item 10 ab&@wgch information is incorporat
herein by reference. Information regarding seasitauthorized for issuance under equity compemsatimns of ADTRAN is s
forth under the caption “Equity Compensation Plafoimation”in the Proxy Statement referred to in Item 10. Tihfermation it
incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS ANDDIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information relating to existing or proposed redaships or transactions between ADTRAN and anyiatffi of ADTRAN is set fort
under the captions “Certain Relationships and Rdld@ransactions” and “Corporate Governanicethe Proxy Statement referrec
in Item 10. This information is incorporated herbinreference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information relating to ADTRAN's principal accoumtizs fees and services is set forth under the eaprincipal Accountant Fe
and Services” in the Proxy Statement referred tieeim 10. This information is incorporated herejnrbference.

PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
Documents Filed as Part of This Report.
1. Consolidated Financial Stateme

The consolidated financial statements of ADTRAN #émelreport of independent registered public actiogriirm thereol
are set forth under Part Il, Item 8 of this rep

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&81200¢
Consolidated Statements of Income for the yearseimsecember 31, 2010, 2009 and 2

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stddkhsl Equity and Other Comprehensive Income for the yesnde:
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2(

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeradled December 31, 2010, 2009 and z
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem

2. Consolidated Financial Statement Schet
Schedule I— Valuation and Qualifying Accoun

3.  Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed with or incorpoeat by reference in this report. Where such filingnade by incorporation
reference to a previously filed registration stagatmor report, such registration statement or feisoidentified in parentheses.
will furnish any exhibit upon request to: ADTRANRd., Attn: Investor Relations, P.O. Box 140000, $plorer Boulevart
Huntsville, Alabama 35806. There is a charge 05@@er page to cover expenses for copying and mgaili
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Exhibit
Number Description
3.1 Certificate of Incorporation, as amended (Exhibit ® ADTRAN's Registration Statement on Form N, 33-
81062 (the*Form -1 Registration Stateme”)).
3.2 Bylaws, as amended (Exhibit 3.1 to ADTR’s Current Report on Forn-K filed October 16, 2007
10.1 Documents relative to the $50,000,000 Taxable Rex@&ond, Series 1995 (ADTRAN, Inc. Project) isshgdhe

Alabama State Industrial Development Authority, sisting of the following

(@) First Amended and Restated Financing Agreementdspeil 25, 1997, among the State Industrial
Development Authority, a public corporation orgauainder the laws of the State of Alabama (the
“Authority”), ADTRAN and First Union National Ban&f Tennessee, a national banking corporation (the
“Bondholder”) (Exhibit 10.1(a) to ADTRAN'’s QuartgrReport on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 1997 (th“1997 Form 1-Q")).

(b) First Amended and Restated Loan Agreement dateill Z5r1997, between the Authority and ADTRAN
(Exhibit 10.1(b) to the 1997 Form -Q).

(c) First Amended and Restated Specimen Taxable Re\Bone, Series 1995 (ADTRAN, Inc. Project)
(Exhibit 10.1(c) to the 1997 Form -Q).

(d) First Amended and Restated Specimen Note from ADNR#the Bondholder, dated April 25, 1997
(Exhibit 10.1(d) to the 1997 Form -Q).

(e) Amended and Restated Investment Agreement datecdaB, 2002 between ADTRAN and First Union
National Bank (successin-interest to First Union National Bank of Tenses (the “Successor
Bondholder”)) (Exhibit 10.1(e) to ADTRAN’s Annualdport on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2002 (tt*2002 Form 1-K™)).

(H  Resolution of the Authority authorizing the amenditnaf certain documents, dated April 25, 1997, thetp
to the $50,000,000 Taxable Revenue Bond, Series (WO TRAN, Inc. Project) (Exhibit 10.1(f) to the 29
Form 1(-Q).

(g) Resolution of ADTRAN authorizing the First Amendaod Restated Financing Agreement, the First
Amended and Restated Loan Agreement, the First Alegtand Restated Note, and the Investment
Agreement (Exhibit 10.1(g) to the 1997 Forn-Q).

(h) Amendment to First Amended and Restated Financorgément and First Amended and Restated Loan
Agreement dated January 3, 2002 between ADTRANtl@&uccessor Bondholder (Exhibit 10.1(h) to the
2002 Form 1-K).

10.z Tax Indemnification Agreement dated July 1, 1994hbg among ADTRAN and the stockholders of ADTRAN

prior to ADTRAN's initial public offering of Common Stock (Exhildi0.5 to the 1994 Form -K).
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Exhibit
Number Description
10.2 Management Contracts and Compensation P
(a8 Amended and Restated 1996 Employees Incentive ®ptikn Plan, as amended by the First, Second and
Third Amendments thereto (Exhibit 10.3(a) to th@2Gorm 1+K).
(b) Amended and Restated 1995 Directors Stock Optian,Rls amended by the First and Second Amendments
thereto (Exhibit 10.3(b) to the 2002 Forn-K).
(c) Third Amendment to the Amended and Restated 198&cmirs Stock Option Plan (Exhibit 10.3(c) to
ADTRAN'’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2003 “2003 Form 1-K")).
(d) ADTRAN, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan, as ameradetrestated as of January 1, 2008 (Exhibit 1§
to ADTRAN’s Form 1-K filed on February 27, 2009
(e) ADTRAN, Inc. Management Incentive Bonus Plan (Exhili.1 to ADTRAN’s Form 8-K on February 3,
2006).
(H  ADTRAN, Inc. 2006 Employee Stock Incentive Plan libit 4.1 to ADTRAN’s Registration Statement on
Form &8 (File No. 33-133927) filed on May 9, 2006
(g) First Amendment to the ADTRAN, Inc. 2006 Employdeck Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.3(h) to
ADTRAN'’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2007 “2007 Form 1-K")).
(h)  Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under 2006 Employee Stock Incentive Plan (Exhibit :
to ADTRAN's Form &K filed June 8, 2006
() Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under2fi®6 Employee Stock Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.2 to
ADTRAN'’s Form &K filed June 8, 2006
() ADTRAN, Inc. 2005 Directors Stock Option Plan (Bxil0.1 to ADTRAN'’s Form 8-K filed on May 20,
2005).
(k)  First Amendment to the ADTRAN, Inc. 2005 Direct@&®ck Option Plan (Exhibit 10.3(l) to the 2007
Form 1(-K).
0] Summary of Non-Employee Director Compensation (BitHi0.3(k) to ADTRAN’s Form 10-K filed on
February 28, 2007
(m) Form of Performance Shares Agreement under the AN,Rnc. 2006 Employee Stock Incentive Plan
(Exhibit 10.1 to ADTRAN s Form K filed on November 6, 2008
(n)  Form of Performance Shares Agreement under the AN,Rnc. 2006 Employee Stock Incentive Plan
(Exhibit 10.1 to ADTRANs Form K filed on November 9, 2010
21* Subsidiaries of ADTRAN
23* Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers L
24* Powers of Attorney
31* Rule 13i-14(a)/15+-14(a) Certifications
32* Section 1350 Certification
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Exhibit
Number Description

101.INS** XBRL Instance Documer

101.SCH** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docutr
101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Docurr

101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent

*  Filed herewitr
**  Pursuant to Regulation ¥; this interactive data file is deemed not filedpart of a registration statement or prospectu
purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securitiesdkct933, is deemed not filed for purposes of ®&cli8 of the Securitir

Exchange Act of 1934, and otherwise is not sulifetiibility under these sectior
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regjigthas duly caused this reg
to be signed on its behalf by the undersignedeti@o duly authorized on February 25, 2011.

ADTRAN, Inc.
(Registrant)

By: /s/ James E. Matthews
James E. Matthew
Senior Vice Presidel— Finance.
Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer, Secretary arig&iol
(Principal Accounting Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons «
behalf of the Registrant and in the capacitiescadid on February 25, 2011.

Signature Title

/sl Thomas R. Stanton Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
Thomas R. Stanta

/sl James E. Matthews Senior Vice President-Finance,

James E. Matthew Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer, Secretary aric:€or
/s/ Balan Nair* Director

Balan Nair

/s/ William L. Marks* Director

William L. Marks

/s/ Roy J. Nichols* Director
Roy J. Nichols
/s/ H. Fenwick Huss * Director

H. Fenwick Hus:

/s/ Ross K. Ireland * Director
Ross K. Irelanc

*By: /s/ James E. Matthews
James E. Matthews as Attorney in F
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ADTRAN, INC.
SCHEDULE Il
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Column A Column B Column C Column D Column E Column F
Balance at Assumed Charged to Balance at
Beginning on Costs & End of
In thousands of Period Acquisition Expenses Deductions Period
q p

Year ended December 31, 2010

Allowance for Doubtful Account $ 13¢€ — 72 48 $ 162
Inventory Reserv $ 7,75( — 1,99z 81C $ 8,93:
Warranty Liability $ 2,83¢ — 5,30¢ 4,83t $ 3,30¢
Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowan $ 5,34( — 391 104 $ 5,627
Year ended December 31, 20

Allowance for Doubtful Account $ 38 3 102 5 $ 13¢€
Inventory Reserv $ 7,72¢ — 1,681 1,65¢ $ 7,75(
Warranty Liability $ 2,817 — 2,66t 2,642 $ 2,83:
Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowan $ 1,581 3,54¢ 251 4 $ 5,34(
Year ended December 31, 20

Allowance for Doubtful Account $ 10¢ — (18) 53 $ 38
Inventory Reserv $ 6,424 — 2,261 957 $ 7,72¢
Warranty Liability $ 2,944 — 2,261 2,39 % 2,817
Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowan $ 1,23¢ — 34t — 3 1,581
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ADTRAN, INC.
INDEX OF EXHIBITS
Exhibit
Number Description
3.1 Certificate of Incorporation, as amended (Exhibit ® ADTRAN's Registration Statement on Form N, 33-
81062 (the*Form -1 Registration Stateme”)).
3.2 Bylaws, as amended (Exhibit 3.1 to ADTR’s Current Report on Forn-K filed October 16, 2007
10.1 Documents relative to the $50,000,000 Taxable Rex@&ond, Series 1995 (ADTRAN, Inc. Project) isshgdhe

Alabama State Industrial Development Authority, sisting of the following

(@) First Amended and Restated Financing Agreementdspeil 25, 1997, among the State Industrial
Development Authority, a public corporation orgauainder the laws of the State of Alabama (the
“Authority”), ADTRAN and First Union National Ban&f Tennessee, a national banking corporation (the
“Bondholder”) (Exhibit 10.1(a) to ADTRAN'’s QuartgrReport on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 1997 (th“1997 Form 1-Q")).

(b) First Amended and Restated Loan Agreement dateill Z5r1997, between the Authority and ADTRAN
(Exhibit 10.1(b) to the 1997 Form -Q).

(c) First Amended and Restated Specimen Taxable Re\iong, Series 1995 (ADTRAN, Inc. Project)
(Exhibit 10.1(c) to the 1997 Form -Q).

(d) First Amended and Restated Specimen Note from ADNR#the Bondholder, dated April 25, 1997
(Exhibit 10.1(d) to the 1997 Form -Q).

(e) Amended and Restated Investment Agreement datecddaB, 2002 between ADTRAN and First Union
National Bank (success-in-interest to First Union National Bank of Tenses (the “Successor
Bondholder”)) (Exhibit 10.1(e) to ADTRAN’s Annualdport on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2002 (2002 Form 1-K™)).

(H  Resolution of the Authority authorizing the amenditnaf certain documents, dated April 25, 1997, thetp
to the $50,000,000 Taxable Revenue Bond, Series (WO TRAN, Inc. Project) (Exhibit 10.1(f) to the 29
Form 1(-Q).

(g) Resolution of ADTRAN authorizing the First Amendaod Restated Financing Agreement, the First
Amended and Restated Loan Agreement, the First Alegtand Restated Note, and the Investment
Agreement (Exhibit 10.1(g) to the 1997 Forn-Q).

(h) Amendment to First Amended and Restated Financorgément and First Amended and Restated Loan
Agreement dated January 3, 2002 between ADTRANtl@a&uccessor Bondholder (Exhibit 10.1(h) to the
2002 Form 1-K).

10.z Tax Indemnification Agreement dated July 1, 1994hbg among ADTRAN and the stockholders of ADTRAN

prior to ADTRAN's initial public offering of Common Stock (Exhildi0.5 to the 1994 Form -K).
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Exhibit
Number Description
10.2 Management Contracts and Compensation P
(a8 Amended and Restated 1996 Employees Incentive ®ptikn Plan, as amended by the First, Second and
Third Amendments thereto (Exhibit 10.3(a) to th@2Gorm 1+K).
(b) Amended and Restated 1995 Directors Stock Optian,Rls amended by the First and Second Amendments
thereto (Exhibit 10.3(b) to the 2002 Forn-K).
(c) Third Amendment to the Amended and Restated 198&cmirs Stock Option Plan (Exhibit 10.3(c) to
ADTRAN'’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2003 “2003 Form 1-K")).
(d) ADTRAN, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan, as ameradetrestated as of January 1, 2008 (Exhibit 1§
to ADTRAN’s Form 1-K filed on February 27, 2009
(e) ADTRAN, Inc. Management Incentive Bonus Plan (Exhili.1 to ADTRAN’s Form 8-K on February 3,
2006).
(H  ADTRAN, Inc. 2006 Employee Stock Incentive Plan libit 4.1 to ADTRAN’s Registration Statement on
Form &8 (File No. 33-133927) filed on May 9, 2006
(g) First Amendment to the ADTRAN Inc. 2006 Employeecktincentive Plan (Exhibit 10.3(h) to ADTRAS!
Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2007 “2007 Form 1-K")).
(h)  Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under 2006 Employee Stock Incentive Plan (Exhibit :
to ADTRAN's Form &K filed June 8, 2006
() Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under2fi®6 Employee Stock Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.2 to
ADTRAN'’s Form &K filed June 8, 2006
() ADTRAN, Inc. 2005 Directors Stock Option Plan (Bxil0.1 to ADTRAN'’s Form 8-K filed on May 20,
2005).
(k)  First Amendment to the ADTRAN, Inc. 2005 Direct@&®ck Option Plan (Exhibit 10.3(l) to the 2007
Form 1(-K).
0] Summary of Non-Employee Director Compensation (BitHi0.3(k) to ADTRAN’s Form 10-K filed on
February 28, 2007
(m) Form of Performance Shares Agreement under the AN,Rnc. 2006 Employee Stock Incentive Plan
(Exhibit 10.1 to ADTRAN s Form K filed on November 6, 2008
(n)  Form of Performance Shares Agreement under the AN,Rnc. 2006 Employee Stock Incentive Plan
(Exhibit 10.1 to ADTRANs Form K filed on November 9, 2010
21* Subsidiaries of ADTRAN
23* Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers L
24* Powers of Attorney
31* Rule 13i-14(a)/15+-14(a) Certifications
32* Section 1350 Certification
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Exhibit
Number Description

101.INS** XBRL Instance Documer
101.SCH** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docutr
101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Docurr

101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent

*  Filed herewitr
**  Pursuant to Regulation ¥; this interactive data file is deemed not filedpart of a registration statement or prospectu
purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securitiesdkct933, is deemed not filed for purposes of ®&cli8 of the Securitir

Exchange Act of 1934, and otherwise is not sulifetiibility under these sectior
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Exhibit 21
SUBSIDIARIES OF ADTRAN, INC.
December 31, 2010

Name of Subsidiary Country or State of Incorporation
ADTRAN Networks, Pty. Ltd Australia

ADTRAN International, Inc Delaware

ADTRAN Networks Hong Kong Limite: Hong Kong

ADTRAN Europe Limited United Kingdom

ADTRAN Canada, Inc Canadz

ADTRAN Networks Canada, In Canads

ADTRAN Networks S.A. de C.V Mexico

ADTRAN Singapore Pte. Ltc Singapore



Exhibit 23

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémd¢lee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N83-168419, 333-133927, 333-
126734, 333-66000, 333-41458, 333-78417, 333-30333;29899, 333808) of ADTRAN, Inc. of our report dated Febru2s

2011 relating to the financial statements, finansiatement schedule and the effectiveness ofrataontrol over financial reportir
which appears in this Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
PricewaterhouseCoopers LI
Birmingham, Alabami

February 25, 201




Exhibit 24
POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned constitutes and appoints ThomaStanton and James
Matthews, and each of them, his true and lawfalragtys-infact and agents, with full power of substitutioor him and in his nam
place and stead, in any and all capacities, to gignAnnual Report on Form 10-of ADTRAN, Inc. for the fiscal year end
December 31, 2010 and any and all amendments ¢thened other documents in connection therewithtarfile the same, with ¢
exhibits thereto and other documents in connediiemewith, with the Securities and Exchange Comiorisand the NASDA(
Global Select Market, Inc., granting unto said rdys-infact and agents, and each of them, full power antioaity to do an
perform each and every act and thing requisiteegessary to be done, as fully to all intents ampgmes as he might or could d«
person, hereby ratifying and confirming all thatdsattorneys-infact and agents or any of them, or their or hissttulie o
substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be dongitive hereof.

This 25thday of February 2011.

/s/ Balan Nair

Balan Nair
Director

/sl H. Fenwick Huss

H. Fenwick Hus:
Director

/s/ William L. Marks

William L. Marks
Director

/s/ Roy J. Nichols

Roy J. Nichols
Director

/s/ Ross K. Ireland

Ross K. Irelanc
Director




EXHIBIT 31
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Thomas R. Stanton, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 18fiADTRAN, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorgny untrue statement of a material fact or dmgtate a material fe
necessary to make the statements made, in ligtiteoircumstances under which such statements made, not misleading wi
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememd,other financial information included in theport, fairly present in ¢
material respects the financial condition, resafteperations and cash flows of the registrantfasmd for, the periods presente:
this report;

4. The registrang other certifying officer and | are responsible &stablishing and maintaining disclosure contratg
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 18a}Xnd 15dt5(e)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined i
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) forringistrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdunecaused such disclosure controls and procedarée designe
under our supervision, to ensure that materialrin&gion relating to the registrant, including itsnsolidated subsidiaries,
made known to us by others within those entitiastigularly during the period in which this rep@tbeing prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financigbarting, or caused such internal control overrfaia reporting to kt
designed under our supervision, to provide readenabsurance regarding the reliability of financiaporting and tr
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registmamlisclosure controls and procedures and presentékis report oL
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disctosontrols and procedures, as of the end of thiegeovered by this repc
based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegstegnts internal control over financial reporting thatooed during th
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regists fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbmg that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registrant’s internal control over finalceporting; and

5. The registrang other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdx on our most recent evaluation of internal chrdvel
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditoredahe audit committee of the registranBoard of Directors (or persons perforn
the equivalent functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal coraxer financia
reporting which are reasonably likely to adverseffect the registrang’ ability to record, process, summarize and r
financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a s@niifrole in th
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: February 25, 2011

/s/ Thomas R. Stanton

Thomas R. Stanto
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Bo




I, James E. Matthews, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 18flADTRAN, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorgny untrue statement of a material fact or dmgtate a material fe
necessary to make the statements made, in ligtiteoircumstances under which such statements made, not misleading wi
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememd,other financial information included in theport, fairly present in ¢
material respects the financial condition, resafteperations and cash flows of the registrantfasmd for, the periods presente:
this report;

4. The registrang other certifying officer and | are responsible &stablishing and maintaining disclosure contratg
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 18a}Xnd 15dt5(e)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined i
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) forringistrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdunecaused such disclosure controls and procedarée designe
under our supervision, to ensure that materialrin&gion relating to the registrant, including itsnsolidated subsidiaries,
made known to us by others within those entitiastigularly during the period in which this rep@tbeing prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financigbarting, or caused such internal control overrfaia reporting to kt
designed under our supervision, to provide readenabsurance regarding the reliability of financiaporting and tr
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registmamlisclosure controls and procedures and presentéhis report oL
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disctosontrols and procedures, as of the end of thiegeovered by this repc
based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegstegnts internal control over financial reporting thatooed during th
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrists fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbmg that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registrant’s internal control over finaiceporting; and

5. The registran$ other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxh on our most recent evaluation of internal abrdwe!
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditoredahe audit committee of the registranBoard of Directors (or persons perforn
the equivalent functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal coraxer financia
reporting which are reasonably likely to adverseffect the registrang’ ability to record, process, summarize and r
financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a s@miifrole in th
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: February 25, 2011

/s/ James E. Matthews

James E. Matthew

Senior Vice Presidei— Finance
Chief Financial Officer, Treasure
Secretary and Directt




EXHIBIT 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of ADTRAN, Inghe “Company”) on Form 18-for the period ended December
2010 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Cwmsion on the date hereof (the “Report;)Thomas R. Stanton, Chief Execut
Officer and Chairman of the Board of the Comparsrtify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adoptedyant to § 906 of ti
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best okmywledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeatsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exg®Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faipgesents, in all material respects, the finanadition and results
operations of the Company.

/s/ Thomas R. Stanton
Thomas R. Stanta

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Bo
Date: February 25, 201




CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of ADTRAN, Inghe “Company”) on Form 18-for the period ended December
2010 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Cwmsion on the date hereof (the “Report;)James E. Matthews, Senior V
President —Finance and Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer,r8&cy and Director of the Company, certify, purgua 18 U.S.C.
1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarb@nkes Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledg

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExajeAct of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faipgesents, in all material respects, the finanadition and results
operations of the Company.

/sl James E. Matthews

James E. Matthew

Senior Vice Presidei— Finance
Chief Financial Officer, Treasure
Secretary and Directc

Date: February 25, 201




